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Order of Reference

Extract from the Minutes of the Proceedings of the
Senate, Monday, February 5, 1973:

“The Honourable Senator Goldenberg moved,
seconded by the Honourable Senator Thompson:

That the Standing Senate Committee on Legal and
Constitutional Affairs be authorized to examine and
report upon all aspects of the parole system in
Canada, including all manner of releases from correc-
tional institutions prior to termination of sentence;

That the said Committee have power to engage the
services of such counsel, staff and technical advisers
as may be necessary for the purpose of the said
examination;

That the Committee, or any sub-committee so
authorized by the Committee, may adjourn from
place to place inside or outside Canada for the pur-
pose of carrying out the said examination; and

That the papers and evidence received and taken on
the subject in the third and fourth sessions of the 28th
Parliament be referred to the Committee.

After debate, and—
The question being put on the motion, it was—
Resolved in the affirmative.”

Robert Fortier,
Clerk of the Senate.
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Minutes of Proceedings

March 6, 1973.

Pursuant to adjournment and notice the Standing
Senate Committee on Legal and Constitutional Affairs
met this day at 10:05 a.m.

Present: The Honourable Senators Goldenberg (Chair-
man), Hastings, Lapointe, McGrath, MclIlraith, Prowse
and Quart. (7)

Present but mot of the Committee: The Honourable
Senator Denis.

In attendance: Mr. Réal Jubinville, Executive Director
for the Examination of the parole system in Canada; Mr.
Patrick Doherty, Special Research Assistant.

The Committee resumed its examination of the parole
system in Canada.

The following witnesses were heard by the Committee:
Mr. S.F. Sommerfeld,
Director, Criminal Law Section,
Department of Justice;
Mr. D.R. Watson,
Senior Prosecutor,
Department of Justice;

Mr. J.W. Braithwaite,

Deputy Commissioner of Penitentiaries,
Department of the Solicitor General.

At 12:30 p.m. the Committee adjourned until 2:00 p.m.

At 2:00 p.m. the Committee resumed its examination of
the parole system in Canada.

Present: The Honourable Senators Goldenberg (Chair-
man), Hastings, Lapointe, McGrand, McIlraith, Prowse,
Quart and Williams. (8)

Present but not of the Committee: The Honourable
Senators Denis and Thompson.

In attendance: Mr. Réal Jubinville, Executive Director
for the Examination of the parole system in Canada; Mr.
Patrick Doherty, Special Research Assistant.

Mr. Therrien, Vice-Chairman of the National Parole
Board, was heard by the Committee.

On Motion of the Honourable Senator Prowse it was
Resolved to print in this day’s proceedings the Statements
submitted by the Department of Justice, the Canadian

1:4

Penitentiary Service and the National Parole Board. They
are printed as Appendices “A”, “B” and “C”, respectively.

On Motion of the Honourable Senator Hastings it was
Resolved that unless and until otherwise ordered by the
Committee, 1,100 copies in English and 400 copies in
French of its day-to-day proceedings relating to the
Examination of the parole system in Canada be printed.

At 5:00 p.m. the Committee adjourned to the call of the
Chairman.

ATTEST:

Denis Bouffard,
Clerk of the Committee.



The Standing Senate Committee on Legal and

Constitutional Affairs

Evidence

Ottawa, Tuesday, March 6, 1973.

The Standing Senate Committee on Legal and Constitu-
tional Affairs met this day at 10 a.m. to examine the
parole system in Canada.

Senator H. Carl Goldenberg (Chairman) in the Chair.

The Chairman: Honourable senators, the hearings of the
committee were, of course, interrupted by the adjourne-
ment of the last Parliament and its subsequent dissolu-
tion. We are now resuming with a view to considering
some of the remaining briefs.

As you will see from the memorandum prepared by the
Executive Director, the purpose of this morning’s hearing
is to clarify certain matters. There is obviously a good
deal of confusion in the public mind with respect to the
various forms of release before termination of sentence.

In view of this, we have with us representatives of the
Department of Justice and of the Solicitor General to
explain the various forms of release. I believe a memoran-
dum has been prepared by each of the three witnesses.
With the agreement of the committee, in order to save
time I suggest that each memorandum be made part of
the record of today’s proceedings. May we have such a
motion?

Senator Prowse: I so move.

Hon. Senators: Agreed.

For text of memoranda, see Appendices A, B and C.

The Chairman: The first witness this morning will be Mr.
Sommerfeld, of the Department of Justice, who has with
him Mr. Watson. Mr. Sommerfeld’s statement has been
distributed to members, and I will ask him to proceed. In
view of the fact that the statement will be made part of
the record, it may not be necessary for Mr. Sommerfeld to
read it in its entirety. I will ask him to proceed as he
wishes, after which we shall see how we get along in the
light of questions. Mr. Sommerfeld.

Mr. S. F. Sommerfeld, Director, Criminal Law section,
Department of Justice: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Ladies and gentlemen, as I understand it, the interest of
the committee relates to situations in which persons who
have been involved in some way in the criminal process
are released and permitted to be at large, as distinct from
situations to which such processes as parole apply.

The directions, on which I based the paper which has
been distributed to you, set out a number of instances
which have been broadly designated in Mr. Jubinville’s
memorandum as instances of conditional release. This is

not strictly true in all cases, and perhaps I might preface
my remarks by saying that a number of them are also
related one to the other. For example, the first two head-
ings, on bail and remand, are closely related, because a
remand takes place in the course of the pre-trial and
pre-appeal procedure; and the conditions upon which a
person is permitted to go free during the period of a
remand involve really the same considerations that apply
to him if released in the pre-trial or pre-appeal procedure.
Similarly, a suspended sentence, probation, conditional
discharge, and intermittent sentences all involve the use
of a probation order which have certain consequences for
a person bound by one. These four headings are also
closely related because of the fact that a probation order
applies in all of them and there are certain consequences
that follow a breach of a probation order.

Finally I might mention that the question of pardons,
while part of the Criminal Code, is really something that
is administered by the Solicitor General’s Department. I
have not really attempted to deal with this in the paper
that I have prepared, except to identity it as being in the
Criminal Code and as being something that is within that
department’s jurisdiction.

If I could turn now to the memorandum itself, ladies
and gentlemen, the first heading is dealt with in a fairly
general way. There is an appendix to the first heading
which deals with these matters in considerably more
detail. I am not certain to what extent the committee
wishes to get into that. In any event, to begin with the first
heading:

When a person is accused of committing an offence, he
may be compelled to appear in court either by summons,
police process or warrant of arrest. The peace officer may
also arrest without warrant a person whom he has reason-
able and probable grounds to believe has committed an
indictable offence.

When the accused is required to appear in court by
means of a summons, he is not taken into custody and
remains free until the completion of his trial. A person
who is arrested and detained before his trial has the right
to pre-trial release in certain circumstances. The onus of
showing that an accused person should continue in cus-
tody until completion of his trial is on the prosecutor. The
justice or judge may order the detention of the accused on
two grounds only. These are as follows: (a) on the primary
ground that his detention is necessary to ensure his
attendance in court in order to be dealt with according to
law; and (b) on the secondary ground that his detention is
necessary in the public interest or for the protection or
safety of the public, having regard to all the circum-
stances including any substantial likelihood that the
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accused will, if he is released from custody, commit a
criminal offence involving serious harm or an interfer-
ence with the administration of justice. The secondary
ground applies only after it has been determined that his
detention is not justified on the first.

If the prosecutor does not show cause why the detention
of the accused in custody is justified or why conditions
and sureties should be given in addition to a recognizance,
the justice may release the accused on his simple under-
taking to appear for his trial unless it is an offence of
murder or one punishable by death.

Now, as I mentioned, attached to this paper is Appendix
“A”, which sets out in greater detail the provisions in the
Code, with a discretion that can be exercised, who exer-
cises it, and so forth. The statement I have read simply
points out the general circumstances under which a
person may be released before his trial, and how the onus
is on the prosecutor to justify his retention.

If he is going to be retained, if he is not going to be
released, perhaps the committee may be interested in the
conditions of release which appear on page 2 of the
appendix at the back of the statement. These are the
conditions that may be applied where the release may be
granted by the officer in charge of the lock-up on a
person’s simple promise to appear, or on his own recogni-
zance, with up to $500 without sureties or without condi-
tions, and that cash deposit of $500 may be called for if he
is not a resident of the province or does not reside within
100 miles of the place where he is being held.

Senator Prowse: That is a maximum?

Mr. D. R. Watson, Senior Prosecutor, Department of Justice:
That is right.

Senator Mcllraith: Mr. Chairman, may I ask a question or
two here? There seems to be some uncertainty and some
difficulty, not with the grounds for detention, but with
regard to the time at which they must be applied. A great
many of the prisoners to be charged with crimes are
arrested in the night, and the required time, to check up
on their identity and certain other related matters rele-
vant to a responsible determination as to whether or not
they should be detained awaiting trial, needs clarifying.
Could you develop the point regarding the time at which
that decision must be made, the decision as to whether or
not they will be retained, bearing in mind complaints
about their being released before there is an opportunity
to check more fully on their crime, bearing in mind that a
new shift on most forces comes on in the morning at 8
o’'clock? There is a new crew on, and the sources of
information are not open until 8 or 10 o’clock in the
morning.

Senator Prowse: Mr. Chairman, I wonder if Senator McIl-
raith would agree to my putting it this way? Let us sup-
pose that Mr. X is picked up by the police at 1 a.m. The
police grab him at a certain place. They suspect that he
has raided the till of a service station. It has been found
that the doors have been forced open, and the man has
some change in his pocket which they think is not his.

Mr. Sommerfeld: Mr. Chairman, may I defer that ques-
tion to my expert on that subject, Mr. Watson?

The Chairman: Feel free to call on Mr. Watson to answer
any question.

Mr. Watson: It depends on the seriousness of the offence
and the circumstances applying where the police officer
makes the arrest. The law requires a police officer, if it is
a fairly minor offence—an offence that is a summary
conviction offence, or one that the Crown may proceed
with by way of indictment or summary conviction, or one
that falls within the absolute jurisdiction of the magis-
trate, which are by and large relatively . . .

Senator Prowse: Let us not become confused. Put it in a
simple way.

Mr. Watson: If it is a minor offence, the police have an
obligation to release that person as soon as possible, pro-
vided there is no reason to suspect that the accused will
not show up for his trial when required, or that there is
not something in the public interest that requires that he
be detained, and it would be in the public interest to
continue his investigation, to identify the accused ade-
quately, to prevent him from hiding the evidence, from
disposing of the evidence, or from getting to other poten-
tial Crown witnesses. So there is an obligation on the
policeman. The policeman has to decide whether he is
going to release him or not under this police process. If he
decides to release him, or the person is released subject to
this recognizance, or to an undertaking, or if he decides
that he is not going to release him, the law requires . ..

Senator Prowse: Mr. Chairman, we are overdoing this,
with all due respect. Let us take a very simple case. Let us
say that a policeman comes along and goes past a service
station at 1 o’clock in the morning. He finds the door open
and, inside, the cash drawer open and no money in it, and
a fellow holding $20.93 in his hand. What does the police-
man do with this man? What does he do with the fellow
now?

Mr. Watson: We are in the realm of speculation. I sup-
pose the police officer would arrest him and bring him
down to the police station then he would have to have him
identified. If the accused co-operates and helps to identify
himself, then his release is speeded up. The moment they
can identify him, make sure he has roots in the communi-
ty, that he will show up for his trial, that there is no
possibility of his destroying evidence. . .

Senator Prowse: They have the $20.93 by this time.

Mr. Watson: That is right. The moment they have his
identity checked through the RCMP identification system
and find out who this person is—he may be one of the ten
most wanted men in Canada or just a local chap who is
out of work and needs ready cash—then there is an obli-
gation on the peace officer to bring him before the justice
as soon as possible. If the arrest is made at two o’clock in
the morning, then that would be at, say, nine or ten
o’clock in the morning. At the moment he is brought
before the justice the Crown must say whether or not it
wishes to show cause why the accused should not be
released on a simple undertaking. If the Crown does not
indicate that it wishes to show cause as to why he should
not be released on a simple undertaking, then the justice
must release him on a simple undertaking. If the Crown
does wish to show cause, then, of course, it opens up a
whole range to the justice, from a simple undertaking
right down to detention.

Senator Mcllraith: My point is a little different. If the
arrest is made at one or two o’clock in the morning, and it
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is not apparent that there is a serious charge against him,
because that policeman goes off duty at eight o’clock, or
whatever it is, depending on the force, there is no way he
can get the relevant information, nor, indeed, is there any
way in which he can lay a charge at the hour he brings
him in, other than, perhaps, a very minor one. But an
offence may be revealed when daylight comes and it is
discovered that the store next door has been broken into,
and that type of thing. That kind of information only
comes to light as the businesses come to life sometime in
the morning hours. There is no way to check the informa-
tion as to identify until the morning hours, and in some
instances it takes more than a day to do so. The legislation
has shifted the onus on to the operator in the arresting
act—the man who is out alone on the beat or the pair who
are out on the beat—and there is no readily apparent way
that he can produce the relevant information because that
man on a night arrest has to sleep some time in the day.

What I am trying to find out in more precise terms in
relation to that person who is going to be the accussed—
although the charge may not be laid until eight or nine
o’clock in the morning—is how long he can be held with-
out this process becoming applicable. I am not question-
ing the grounds at all.

Mr. Watson: He can be held until he is brought before the
justice who must dispose of the case.

Senator Mcllraith: Yes, but when must he be brought
before the justice?

Mr. Watson: The law requires it bo be as soon as possi-
ble. In a city like Toronto there are justices available at all
times. However, in some of the small towns in northern
Ontario, say, the justices are not as readily available.

Senator Mcllraith: Well, he is available through the phone
fairly easily.

Mr. Watson: The peace officer must bring him before a
justice as soon as there is one available. That varies from
place to place. It would be virtually impossible to have a
Justice of the Peace available on a 24-hour basis.

Senator Mcllraith: Is there a statutory limitation of time?

Mr. Watson: Yes. Section 454 states:

where a justice is available within a period of twenty-
four hours after the person has been arrested . ..

So it is within 24 hours, where he is available.

where a justice is not available within a period of
twenty-four hours after the person has been arrested
by or delivered to the peace officer, the person shall
be taken before a justice as soon as possible.

Senator Mcllraith: As far as the cities are concerned,
then, for all practical purposes, that means he must go
before a justice not later than ten o’clock?

Mr. Watson: That is right.

Senator Mcllraith: So there is no way, then, of having the
relevant information to make a proper determination.
There are cases where the policeman may suspect there is
something very wrong—something more than the charge
on which the person has been arrested—yet he cannot
assemble or cannot check out the information which has
to be checked out in order to make this determination.

Mr. Watson: It depends on the individual police officer.
The law does not require the police officer to arrest every
person. The law is framed that a police officer “may”
arrest. If he arrests a person and then releases him, that is
up to the individual police officer. As long as that
individual policeman feels that he is satisfied that he can
identify him, et cetera, then he can release him. The
person may have furnished identity which turns out to be
false, or there may be a break-in next door which does not
come to light until the next morning, then to re-arrest that
person we have to get . . .

Senator Mcllraith: This is my point. They have to release
that criminal who has a long record and who will not be
able to meet the criteria set out here. They have to release
him, and then try to find him again the next day.

Mr. Watson: They do not have to release him until they
are satisfied who the individual is. There is no obligation
on the police to release that individual until they are
satisfied as to his identity.

Senator Mcllraith: Yes, there is. The arresting policeman
cannot hold a man simply on his own fancy. The onus is
on the Crown to show cause why this person should be
detained.

Mr. Watson: Not on the individual policeman, with all
due respect, senator. The law says that the individual
peace officer may detain a person for reasons of public
interest, which include establishing the identity of the
person. The person arrested may give his name and
address, but the peace officer does not necessarily have to
accept that. He may want to bring him in and have him
finger-printed.

Senator Mcllraith: But he cannot have him finger-printed
under the Identification of Criminals Act unless it is an
indictable offence.

Mr. Watson: That is quite right.

Senator Mcllraith: So he cannot have him finger-printed
and, consequently, there is no way to check the man out at

Mr. Watson: In the case of a summary conviction
offence, you are quite right.

Senator Mcllraith: In so many of these cases, in actual
practice, when they are first picked up by the policy
officer, they are not picked up on a major offence at all.
That may take a clear working day to come to light and
for the police to relate the person picked up to the more
serious charge. They may have arrested him on a minor
charge, but the major charge does not come to light right
away. It seems to me, from what has been said here, that
there is a gap in this legislation and it leaves the police
officer in a position of not being able to do his work, or is
a handicap to him in the conduct of his work.

I am talking now only about the cities. I do not think the
problem arises in the smaller centres, because the kind of
criminals who are hard to identify do not usually get into
those smaller centres.

Mr. Watson: From the point of view of an experienced
police officer in Toronto, there is probably no more dif-
ficulty in the present law than there was under the old
law. Under the present law the peace officer is fully



128

Legal and Constitutional Affairs

March 6, 1973

justified to bring the accused into the police station, and if
that individual police officer is not satisfied that he should
be released, then he hands him over to the desk sergeant
and the desk sergeant then goes into an inquiry.

Senator Mcllraith: If you go into these police courts at
two or three o’clock in the morning, when they bring an
individual in, and stay there until it becomes light and see
the whole process, there is no way the man on the beat
who brings him in can do any investigative process with
respect to that man until at least nine o’clock that
morning.

Mr. Watson: That is quite right.

Senator Mcllraith: And then he has to leave at some time.
If he is on the overnight shift he cannot wait until ten
o’clock; he has to sleep at some time.

Mr. Watson: He brings him in and he hands him over to
the officer in charge.

Senator Mcllraith: The desk sergeant.

Mr. Watson: Yes, and the desk sergeant must dispose of
that individual. He cannot go off duty until he has dis-
posed of that individual.

Senator Mcllraith: That is my point. In Toronto at three
o’clock in the morning there is just no real application of
the judicial determination contemplated by the act,
because the practicalities of the situation do not permit it
to be exercised. That is my point.

Mr. Watson: Well, the law does give a discretion, and

obviously if you give a discretion to someone he may not
exercise it properly.

Senator Mcllraith: It only gives him if I may, a discretion
with the onus on the prosecutor to show the negative—
that he must not be released. The man is in custody for
some reason. He is not brought in for no reason at all.
There is no way that a prosecutor can satisfy that onus
right away, so the man has to be released. These officers
do not act just on a whim.

Mr. Watson: You are quite right, senator, but the prob-
lem of onus and the prosecutor showing cause does not
take place until the accused is brought before the justice
at the bail hearing.

Senator Mcllraith: That is my point, which is at three
o’clock in the morning.

Mr. Watson: There is no onus on the police officer at the
stage of arrest, other than that he have a good reason to
detain the individual.

Senator Mcllraith: Yes, but the section says that he must
be brought before a justice within 24 hours, so that means
ten. o’clock in the morning, although you could argue that
it does not need to be ten . . .

Senator Prowse: But then we get into the remands.

Senator Mcllraith: At that point, the prosecution must
show cause, and there is no way he can show cause at that
hour. He cannot keep his men available to show cause at
that hour. There is no way you can work that man day
after day—the policeman involved and those who come

into it—without sleep. You can do it once a week, but you
cannot do it day after day.

Mr. Watson: But there is no obligation to show cause the
next morning. If the police do not have the evidence
available or the witness available, the prosecutor can ask
for an adjournment. He is entitled, under the law, to ask
for an adjournment so that he can properly show cause to
the justice and present his case in a proper fashion. If he
tries to go ahead and show cause before he is ready to do
so, the law requires the justice to release the accused. So
the prosecutor should not proceed with the “show cause”
hearing until he is ready to do so. I dare say that any
experienced prosecutor will not tell the justice that he is
ready to proceed until he is ready to proceed.

Senator Mcllraith: This is the whole nub of the com-
plaints of the system, as I understand them. Prosecutors
have no basis for asking the Justice of the Peace to hold
the person another day; they cannot say they will have
evidence to show cause, because they do not know.

Mr. Watson: You have to look at it from the two points of
view. From the point of view of the accused, if he is
brought before a justice and the prosecutor stands before
the justice and says, “I have no evidence to show why this
person should be held. I have a strong suspicion that
maybe tomorrow I might have it, but I do not have any-
thing more than that now,” the law gives the benefit to the
accused and he has to be let out, otherwise that person
would be unnecessarily detained.

Senator Mcllraith: Let us take an actual case that arose a
few years ago, with which I am familiar. When the King
and Queen were here on Parliament Hill there were some
professional pickpockets in from Chicago working over
the crowd, as it were, and that day they were picked up
during the course of their operations. There was no possi-
ble way in which by the next morning at 10 o’clock, under
this law, anyone could have produced just cause, and
those thugs would all have had to be released and sent
back to Chicago. It was suspected that they were not
Canadians, and it had to be checked out in another coun-
try. It took until the second day after they were picked up
to get that information, and under the existing law they
would have been out and away.

Mr. Watson: I do not agree, because I think the law does
cover that. Where a peace officer has reasonable and
probable grounds to believe that a person is about to
commit an indictable offence he may arrest the man. The
section of the law allows the police to hold that person
until they are satisfied that his continued detention in
custody is no longer necessary in order to prevent the
commission by him of an indictable offence.

There is more authority now to deal with that sort of
person than there was under the old law, because if there
are reasonable and probable grounds to believe he is
about to commit an indictable offence he may be arrested
and detained. In the case of a visit by some dignitary, if
the police suspect somebody is going to attempt to
assault. ..

Senator Mcllraith: These were not violent persons.

Mr. Watson: He could in that instance be arrested and
detained, and when the visiting VIP left town he could be
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released. He has never committed an offence; it is a pre-
ventive arrest, which is what the law provides now.

Senator Prowse: And still provides it.

Mr. Watson: It still provides it, and gives authority to
continue his arrest. Obviously, here you get on to a touchy
point. Who is to decide when the custody is no longer
necessary in order to prevent the person from committing
a crime?

Senator Mcllraith: I was not talking about prevention; I
was talking about actual crimes—they were pickpocketing
in a professional manner.

Mr. Watson: In that case it would be a matter for the
proper exercise of discretion by the police, the justice, and
the prosecutor. It is a combination of the three. The police
arrest a person and say to the prosecutor, “We don’t want
this guy released, and this is the reason we don’t want him
released . . .” The prosecutor then assesses that reason for
not releasing him, and may be convinced that it is a valid
reason.

Senator Mcllraith: There is no way that could have been
produced by 10 o’clock the following morning.

Mr. Watson: Then the prosecutor is entitled under the
law to ask for a remand of up to three clear days—which
means, not counting the first day, that if a person is
arrested on Monday the prosecutor is entitled to a remand
that allows him to come on again the following Friday. I
would say that if between Monday and Friday they cannot
get information together to show why the person should
be detained before trial, before he has been convicted . . .

Senator Prowse: And while he is presumed innocent.
Mr. Watson: And while he is presumed innocent . . .

Senator Mcllraith: It is the onus that has to be satisfied
here by the prosecutor at too early a point.

Mr. Watson: I should like to draw the honourable sena-
tor’s attention to section 457.1:

A justice may, before or at any time during the
course of any proceedings under section 457, upon
application by the prosecutor or the accused, adjourn
the proceedings and remand the accused to custody in
prison by warrant in Form 14, but no such adjourn-
ment shall be for more than three clear days except
with the consent of the accused.

If the police are not ready to proceed with the bail
hearing, they ask for an adjournment.

Senator Mcllraith: That is quite clear. They do not have
any evidence to produce at that point at all. They have a
suspicion in their own minds. but nothing more; they do
not have “reasonable and probable cause”. They are pros
at their job, just as the criminals are pros. They may
suspect that there is something wrong in the case, but
there is nothing at that point, they still have to show
cause.

Mr. Watson: The justice could release him, and when he
finds out at 3 o’clock the next afternoon he is wrong he
issues a warrant for the person’s arrest and hauls that
man back before him.

Senator Mcllraith: Are any statistics kept under the
present statistical set-up of persons taken into custody by
a policeman and brought into the station and released,
who immediately before that had committed an offence,
or immediately go out and commit another before being
brought up for trial?

Mr. Watson: Statistics Canada are doing a study at the
moment. They have a pilot project under way. They have
picked various cities across Canada and are engaged on
this project.

Senator Mcllraith: They are trying to find a formula.

Mr. Watson: They will be keeping statistics. It is much
too early at this stage to decide how the present law is
working compared with the previous law, because there
has been too short a period of time to get sufficient
figures.

Senator Mcllraith: I understand that.

Mr. Watson: From the reaction we get from provincial
attorneys general, from police forces in general, from
prosecutors and lawyers, it would seem that the law is
working very well.

Senator Mcllraith: I am not so sure of that.
Mr. Watson: It is just the odd police officer who may . . .

Senator Mcllraith: It is not such an odd police officer; it is
the fellows out in the cars.

Mr. Watson: Experienced police officers I have talked to,
with due respect, have found that it is easier now to detain
somebody than it was under the old law. The prosecutors
I have spoken to have also said it is easier now to detain a
person who should be detained.

Senator Mcllraith: The prosecutor never hears about the
cases I am talking about, because they don’t come to him
until after they are into the next working day; the cases
have been disposed of before they get to the prosecutor,
so he is not in the picture under the new system, whereas
he was in the picture under the old system.

Mr. Watson: I feel that a peace officer who is
experienced—not someone who is still trying to learn the
ropes—now finds that the law is easier to operate under
than the old law. Under the old law he was also called
upon to make decisions. Under the law as it existed
before, the peace officer had a discretion to arrest or not
to arrest. If he arrested when he should not have arrested,
there was always the possibility of a suit for false arrest.
The law now protects him vis-a-vis his own superiors. If
he does not have a good reason for detaining the person
once he arrests him, the police officer must release him,
so he is off the hook; whereas if he has a reason for
detaining him, he may do so. The police officer alone can
know whether he has a good reason for detaining the
person. If he does not have a good reason for detaining
me, say, I would rather he did not detain me than detain
me at his discretion, as he could under the old law.

Senator Mcllraith: Under the old law it came into the
hands of the crown attorney, and he dealt with it. At that
point the determination was made as part of the regular
judicial process as we had built it up. It is now made by a
set-up in the police establishment in the wee, small hours
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of the morning before any crown attorney is on the job,
and this is why the policemen are simply not trying to
detain these people, because they are protected if they do
not, as you just pointed out. The men out on the beat are
the ones who are confronted with this situation, and who,
in the first instance, have the responsibility of protecting
society at that first operation.

Mr. Watson: As I recall, under the old law I do not think
it was very easy to get hold of a crown prosecutor at 3
o’clock in the morning to discuss it.

Senator Mcllraith: They never did, because the man was
locked up and came up out of the pen in the morning at 10
o’clock, and then it was dealt with.

Mr. Watson: The only change that has occurred between
then and now is that in a worthy case the police can
release the man, whereas under the old system they kept
him until the next morning.

Senator Prowse: They could not release him under the
old system.

Mr. Watson: That is right, and now they can.
Senator Mcllraith: That is right.
Mr. Watson: If a person were picked up. ..

Senator Mcllraith: I am really dealing with the other
thing, where now they are released at 3 or 4 o’clock in the
morning in Toronto before the police know the first thing
about them, so the men are not bothering to bring them in.
It is the same thing that you have in Washington, where
you meet them coming out with their bail, and the police
system simply does not work.

Mr. Watson: The bulk of offences that are committed are
very minor offences. You get the person who is picked up
at 3 o’clock in the morning for impaired driving. Under
the old system they kept that person, picked up for
impaired driving, until the next morning. Now there is an
obligation on the police to release a suspect at 3 in the
morning, after they have given him the breathalyzer test.
They can then call his wife and she can come and pick
him up, or he is sent home in a taxi. Now there is authori-
ty to release him, whereas under the old system they
probably kept him until the next morning. He might have
been the mayor of the community or a person well known
to the police officer who would say, “I would like to let
you go, but there is no way I can do it.” Now the law
provides that if he can identify him, if all the proceedings
of the investigation are completed, he has an obligation to
release that person.

Senator Prowse: Under the old system, the police, the
magistrate or the justice of the peace who was validly on
duty in this city had a list which was provided by the
attorney general, showing that for X dollars—say, $250 for
impaired driving, $500 for something else, or $800 for
something else—he could be released on bail. If he could
produce that cash he went free, and if he could not pro-
duce it he stayed in the hoosegow.

Mr. Watson: He had to stay in, that was so.
Senator Prowse: That is right.

Senator Mcllraith: I am not dealing with the merit of the
law, the old and the new; that is not the question to which

I addressed myself. I addressed myself to what appears to
be a weak spot in the new law. I am not for a moment
suggesting that the old system was perfect or better, or
anything like that. I am suggesting that there is a point in
the new system where there may be a weakness—and note
I say “may”—and I would like to get evidence on that
particular narrow point, to see whether it might conceiv-
ably be relevant. I may or may not wish to say something
about it in terms of its improvement.

I am not one who accepts the philosophy that any law,
merely because it is new, is necessarily perfect. It may be
a big improvement over the old law, but it may also, itself,
be capable of improvement. That is true of any law, as it
is drafted.

In this law, it seems to me that there is a point of
possible weakness—note I do not say “point of weakness,”
I say “possible weakness”’—and it lies in that, having
shifted the responsibility to show cause to different parts
of the process, of letting them out on their own recogni-
zance. We corrected one evil, if you like, but we may have
created another in the correction process.

It is on that very narrow point that I was seeking assist-
ance. I think the answer may well be that it relates to the
point that perhaps the procedures and practice used by
the various forces concerned in the judicial process are
not a matter for substantive legislation at all.

Mr. Watson: The problem is that many of the attorneys
general throughout Canada said that the bill, in its
format, did not change anything, but merely codified
what already existed in practice in their own provinces.

Senator Mcllraith: I know there are no kicks coming from
the very provinces where they have applied that principle.
There are no kicks at all coming from there, but there are
from the others.

Mr. Watson: That is right. It is difficult to find a proper
solution. You get down eventually to the individual police-
man on the beat having enough discretion. You can leave
that discretion with him, or you can take it away. If you
take the discretion away, you have to give him good
guidelines that are so strict that he simply just brings the
person into the police station; he brings everybody in.

Senator Mcllraith: What I was trying to clarify is this.
Without intending to do so, I think we have in fact taken
the discretion away from him at that point.

Mr. Watson: They may have interpreted it in that way.
Senator Mcllraith: That is the point I was getting at.

Mr. Watson: It was meant to make it easier for them, and
they may have interpreted so that they say, “I am either
off the hook and I am letting him go, or I am just dragging
him in.”

Senator Mcllraith: On the intention of the new legislation,
as far as I am concerned, I am not certain that we have
drafted it to achieve its objectives at all. We may have
caused or brought about a new evil in the process. That is
really the point.

Mr. Watson: I agree with you, senator, that there are
police officers who have interpreted it not in the way the
legislation was intended; I might say, not in the way the
majority of police officers have interpreted it. There has
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been no trouble, for instance, with the RCMP or with most
of the provincial police forces. It is the municipal police
forces—and perhaps it is a matter of education, of getting
that individual police officer to apply it in the right spirit.

Senator Mcllraith: It is a little bigger than that. A number
of police officers were in on the drafting body and they
knew exactly what was intended there. I think they are
applying what was intended there. Some of the other
forces are confronted with the statute and do not have
that thought.

Senator Prowse: It may be that they do not want to make
it work.

Senator Mcllraith: No, I am not so sure that that is the
point at all. I do not think it is a question of lack of good
faith.

The Chairman: I think that Senator Mcllraith has made
his point very clearly and this leads us on to the next item,
remand. Would you be good enough to cover that, Mr.
Sommerfeld?

Mr. Sommerfeld: Yes, Mr. Chairman.

As I mentioned in my opening remarks, the question of
remand is really tied up with the question of pre-trial
release, because it occurs within the context of the pro-
cess that goes on once the person gets involved with the
criminal law.

To remand an accused means to order some type of
temporary postponement of the proceedings against him.
For example, on his first appearance, an accused may be
remanded to a particular date to plead to the offence, he
may be remanded to another date to fix a date for his trial
and then remanded again to the date fixed for his trial. He
may be remanded in or out of custody, depending upon
whether or not in the pre-trial release procedure
described above—which my friend Mr. Watson has been
dealing with—he has been permitted to be at large.

Senator Prowse: Or this may be reviewed at that point.

Mr. Sommerfeld: Or it can be reviewed, yes. So, when a
person is remanded in the course of proceedings that are
going on, the question of his being at large or being in
custody is governed by much the same considerations that
go on prior to the time the trial actually gets under way.

In the case of remand for a mental examination, it is
really a special sort of remand that occurs in the course of
the proceedings. It is a remand in custody, he is not
released when he is remanded for a mental examination,
so there is no question of his release under those circum-
stances. He may be remanded for mental examination for
a period not exceeding 30 days . .. There is supposed to be
supporting evidence from a medical practitioner. If there
is not, but if there are special circumstances he may,
nonetheless, be remanded for a period of 30 days, or he
may be remanded for up to 60 days if there is supporting
evidence from a qualified medical practitioner.

Senator Hastings: You used the phrase “he may be
remanded in custody”. Where does this examination take
place?

Mr. Sommerfeld: It might be in the Provincial Hospital or
wherever there are custodial facilities of this nature,
where a mental examination can take place. It would

usually be a Provincial Hospital. Is that not so, Mr.
Watson?

Mr. Watson: That is pretty well so, I think. Here in
Ottawa it would be the Royal Ottawa Hospital.

Senator Hastings: Does the examination take place in
custody in the institution or jail, or does the mental exami-
nation take place in custody in a mental home or mental
hospital?

Mr. Watson: That would vary, of course, in the case of
the judge concerned and the facilities available to him;
and if he is in a state where he needs to be tranquilized, or
if he is a person who simply appears to be in need of a
mental examination for ancillary purposes rather than to
decide whether the person is fit to plead or not in his trial.
There is such a variety of possibilities that it would
depend on which facility is best capable of dealing with
that mental examination for that particular accused.

Senator Hastings: Who would make that decision?

Mr. Watson: It would be the judge, on the recommenda-
tion of the defence counsel and the prosecutor.

Senator Lapointe: Sometimes is he kept only in jail, or in
a hospital? Can he be kept in jail?

Mr. Watson: He would be held in custody. That, in cer-
tain cases, might be a jail.

Senator Mcllraith: It could be, but it is not likely to be,
unless it is just for the want of a chance to bring the
doctor or the psychiatrist in.

Mr. Watson: In other words, he is not free to go, so he has
to be held, and he has to be held somewhere.

Senator Prowse: I am not sure it lays down what he has
to do, but the normal procedure would be that he is
remanded to X institution for Y number of days for
mental examination. For example, in Edmonton he would
be remanded to the Provincial Mental Hospital in Oliver
for mental examination. He would go there and would be
held in that ward. I presume that is the general picture. 1
cannot imagine that he would be remanded to the jail
itself for a mental examination. I think they always send
them to a mental institution. I am not sure that the place is
marked down here, though.

Mr. Watson: No, there is nothing that requires it; it is a
matter of local practice.

Senator Prowse: Maybe there should be, though.

Mr. Watson: Well, I do not think there are in fact any
problems in relation to that, at least not what we are
aware of. No one has complained that he is being unjustly
detained in circumstances that do not allow for proper
mental examination. So, in practice, it works very well.

Senator Prowse: You do get complaints.
The Chairman: Mr. Sommerfeld.

Mr. Sommerfeld: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Dealing with
the degree of discretion, in the case of remands other than
for a mental examination there is a wide degree of discre-
tion, except that generally speaking a remand may not be
for more than eight days unless the accused is not in
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custody and he and the prosecutor consent to the pro-
posed adjournment.

Senator Prowse: Would I be correct in saying that
ordinarily the term “remand” is used where the person is
kept in custody, and the term “adjournment” is used
where the person is free and you merely set another date
when he shall appear—or am I making a distinction that
does not really exist here?

Mr. Sommerfeld: I have always thought of the terms as
more or less interchangeable, but perhaps you are right.
The word “remand” does have a connotation of custody,
but they do speak of remands out of custody as well.

Senator Prowse: I do know that when a person is in
custody and is unable to raise bail they always talk of a
remand for eight days. If you want it longer, there has to
be an agreement. On the other hand, if the person is not in
custody, then they talk of an adjournment and you may
very get often an adjournment of a month or more. It
depends on what is convenient for everybody. But the
terms “adjournment” and “remand” would apparently be
interchangeable so far as the law is concerned, then?

Mr. Sommerfeld: I have always regarded them as fairly
interchangeable.

Mr. Watson: There are some who feel that a remand is
for the person in custody, and that an adjournment is for
the person who is not in custody, and it probably works
out to be that way in 99 per cent of the cases. But just to
go back to the principle of the bail, once bail is set at the
very beginning, or once the pre-trial release or detention
is set, that status of the accused goes on until the end of
his trial.

Senator Prowse: Unless it is changed.

Mr. Watson: Unless it is changed, yes. If a person has
opted for a trial by judge and jury and has been freed on
some form of process, or else they have proceeded by way
of summons, when the person is committed for trial by
judge and jury there is no question of deciding his pre-tri-
al detention or release, at that stage. That has been set. At
the preliminary hearing the committal for trial is no
longer a factor in deciding custody. He is committed for
trial; but he is not put in custody if he is out.

Sonfxtor Prow'so: But once he is committed for trial, the
qugstlon of bail then must be determined at the same time
again.

Mr. Watson: That has been eliminated now, the question
of setting bail.

Senator Prowse: Once it has been set, it is set?

Mr. Watson: Once it has been set, it is set for good, unless
it is changed by the . .

Senator Prowse: By the prosecutor appealing.

Mr. Watson: By the prosecutor appealing, yes. So he
continues in his state. So, if you are talking about a person
who is not in custody, whether you would refer to that as
a remand or an adjournment would not matter.

Senator Prowse: It would not matter.

Mr. Watson: No, it would be equivalent. Whereas, if you
had a person in custody, whether you called it an adjourn-
ment or a remand would not matter either, because he
would still remain in custody and it would still be no more
than eight days. So it is difficult to say whether or not
there is, in practice, a difference.

Mr. Sommerfeld: The next heading in the paper we pre-
pared, Mr. Chairman, is “Supsended Sentence.” This
means that the court may suspend the passing of sentence
for a specified period of time during which the person
convicted is free subject to an order of probation. If,
during that period of time, he commits an offence or
breaches the order of probation, in addition to any pun-
ishment that may be imposed for that act—that is, for the
offence or the breach of the probation order—he may also
be required to appear before the court again to be sen-
tenced for the original offence for which the sentence was
suspended for a period of one year, or whatever the case
may have been.

Senator Hastings: You used the words “he may”. Is it not
a requisite that he appear?

Senator Prowse: That is a good question.

The Chairman: You mean, to answer to the original
offence?

Senator Hastings: Yes. You say, “he may be required to
appear.” Is it not mandatory?

The Chairman: I thought it was “shall,” but I am not
sure.

Mr. Watson: The question of bringing him back has to be
made on the application of the prosecutor. If the prosecu-
tor does not apply to have him brought back for sentence,
then he is not.

Senator Hastings: On the breach of probation?

Mr. Watson: Yes. I think the section is 664, paragraph 3:

Where a court has made a probation order, the court
may at any time, upon application by the accused or
the prosecutor, require the accused to appear before
§ PEA

And, after hearing the accused and the prosecutor, the
court may make any changes or, in fact, impose the sen-
tence that was not imposed in the first place.

Senator Prowse: In other words, they could impose the
sentence that could have been imposed at that time.

Mr. Watson: That is right.

Senator Prowse: Really, it works out in fact that the
passing of sentence is postponed or adjourned until a
particular time, and if nothing happens to bring the
accused to the attention of the prosecutor in the mean-
time, and that time is passed, then the thing is finished.

Mr. Sommerfeld: It is at an end, yes.

Mr. Watson: Really it comes down to this, that the
accused can be charged with breach of probation. If he
breaches his probation, then there is a separate offence
for the breach of probation and he can be charged for
that. In addition to being charged with breach of proba-
tion and being punished for that, if it is a suspended
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sentence with probation, he can be brought back and
sentenced for the original offence. But, the way the law is
written, that can only be done upon application by the
prosecutor.

Senator Prowse: The person does not automatically come
back. If a person is sentenced on July 1 this year and is
given a suspended sentence for a year to keep the peace,
he does not automatically come back on July 1 next year.

Mr. Watson: No. Some judges, as a part of their order of
probation, make it a requirement that the accused be
brought back one week before the termination of his
probation. Such judges then review the probation with the
accused.

Senator Prowse: And that would be a condition of the
probation?

Mr. Watson: That would be a condition of the probation,
yes.

Senator Lapointe: But don’t you think that the accused,
while he is on probation, can be committing many
offences without being caught?

Senator Hastings: It is done every day.
Senator Prowse: Undoubtedly they do it.

Mr. Watson: That is true, but we can only talk about
persons who are caught committing offences. If it hap-
pens that a person commits an offence while he is on
probation and is caught, three things could happen to
him: he is charged with that offence; he is charged with
breach of probation; and he can be brought back before
the judge, on application of the prosecutor, for sentencing
on the original offence. So that means that he could
accumulate three new sentences.

Senator Lapointe: Yes, I know, but if they are really
cleaver they are not caught.

Mr. Watson: Well, of course, that applies to all criminals,
but I think people on probation tend to be more cautious
than persons not on probation.

Senator Hastings: Well, if I can just give a simple exam-
ple, if I am given two years’ suspended sentence and a
year later I am caught breaking and entering and I am
given a three-year sentence on that, do I serve five years
or do I serve three?

Mr. Watson: You would just serve the three, unless you
were charged with a breach of probation, in which case
the judge would take into consideration whether the sen-
tence should be in addition to the three years for breaking
and entering. If the prosecutor were to apply to have the
accused brought back before the judge for sentencing on
the original charge, then that sentence would be whatever
sentence the judge decided to impose. A two-year sus-
pended sentence is not simply a sentence of two years that
is suspended. It simply means that the judge does not pass
sentence for two years, which means that there is a sword
hanging over the accused for a period of two years during
which he can be brought back and sentenced on that
charge. At that time he could be sentenced to whatever
sentence the judge might decide on—it could be five years,
it could be two years, or it could even be six months.

Senator Prowse: But from a practical point of view what
actually happens is this, the judge says, “I sentence you to
two years less a day, but I will suspend sentence.”

Mr. Watson: Yes, but that is an illegal punishment and in
a case like that the prosecutor should appeal it.

Senator Prowse: That is the type of case you are worried
about, but it is the type of thing that magistrates do.

Mr. Watson: What is happening in that case is that the
magistrate or the judge is substituting himself for the
Parole Board. If the person is sent to jail for two years,
then the National Parole Board can in effect parole him
or suspend the effects of incarceration. But the judge
himself has no power under existing law to impose a
sentence of, say, two years and suspend its effects. What
in fact he does is simply to adjourn the passing of
sentence.

Senator Prowse: In other words, he adjourns the sentenc-
ing for one or two years from the date of the hearing.

Mr. Watson: And if the accused stays out of trouble for
that period, then there is no power to sentence him for the
original offence which lapses, and it then becomes, in
effect, a final sentence.

Senator Hastings: Could a judge sentence a man and
then suspend the sentence on condition that he behaves
himself and that he pays to his victim—and let us suppose
there is a victim—a sum of, say, X dollars?

Mr. Watson: In a case of assault, or something of that
nature, it can be a term or condition of probation, but if it
should happen that this term or condition were excessive,
then the accused could appeal that sentence. Let us sup-
pose that a judge says to an accused, “You will have to
compensate the person you injured to the extent of $50,-
000,” and this was for something of comparatively minor
importance, then the accused could appeal that and have
the court of appeal substitute its decision. It might well
say, “Well, that is not a valid condition of his probation
order.” But if it is a reasonable one, then it would form
part of his probation, and if he did not compensate the
victim, then he would be in breach of his probation and he
could be brought back.

Senator Prowse: But under the Code, in certain cases can
they not give a judgment for X dollars which is then
registerable as a civil judgment?

Mr. Watson: Yes, but that is something that is quite
different. That could be where there is an order made for
restitution or compensation at the time of the passing of
sentence; but that would not apply where he gave a sus-
pended sentence and put him on probation.

Senator Prowse: No. This is where it is given as part of
the sentence.

Mr. Watson: The magistrate or the judge might sentence
the accused to a fine of, say, $100 plus make an order at
the time of the passing of sentence that the accused
should make restitution to compensate the victim.

Senator Prowse: Let us take the case of a bad cheque. I
remember this type of thing happening regularly, where
stores have cashed cheques and consequently an individu-
al was brought up on a bad cheque charge. He would be
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charged with fraud, and the injured party would get a
judgment against him from the magistrate’s court for the
$25, or whatever the sum might be, which would be a
registerable judgment and was collectible, as any other
judgment would be.

Senator Hastings: But I am talking now about sentenc-
ing. There is always this concern for the victim, but is it
ever used?

Mr. Watson: Yes, in appropriate cases where it is a
matter of restitution or compensation for hospitalization
or doctor’s bills.

Senator Lapointe: Don’t you think that the third condi-
tion specified in your probation order is somewhat unreal-
istic—that he shall abstain from the consumption of
alcohol?

Mr. Watson: Well, that depends. A person may be an
alcoholic and his problem may be caused by drinking.
And that is why the judge, in not putting him in jail, is
recognizing that this is the problem, and he gives him the
opportunity to remain free provided he abstains from
alcohol. Because if he does not abstain from alcohol, then
he is likely to be back before him on some other offence,
in addition to that of breach of probation plus whatever
other offences he might happen to commit. Now, I agree
that it may not be a reasonable condition to impose
automatically on everybody, and I would hope that if I
were in that position they would not impose such an order
on me, but if it was the case of somebody who was an
alcoholic or whose offence was related in some way to
drinking, then I think it might very well be appropriate. If
the accused did not think it was appropriate, then he
could simply appeal the sentence, and the court of appeal
might or might not agree with the judge’s original order.

Senator Lapointe: But who would control that?

Mr. Watson: The probation officer. When a probation
order is made, it is normally part of that order that the
accused shall report at certain intervals to a probation
officer who supervises him. By that I do not mean to
imply that he follows him around for 24 hours a day. But
if the probation officer becomes aware by one means or
another—let us say the accused person’s wife telephones
the probation officer to say that he is drinking again—
then, of course, he has to follow it up, and take the
appropriate steps.

Senator Mcllraith: This also preserves in the court the
power to give a substantive sentence on the original
charge, if the man repeats the same offence. By that I
mean that when he is charged the second time they can
still sentence him on the first offence as well, and there
may be no supervision or probation involved at all. It is
really a case of giving a man a chance, but if he does come
back again he can be sentenced at that time on the first
charge. Some people have the habit of committing the
same type of offence when they get drinking, and this is
the type of case where it is used. They let him go on the
first charge, provided he does not drink, because they
know very well that if he does get drinking he is likely to
be back again.

Mr. Watson: This is no more difficult to supervise than in
the case of a person who is on parole under certain
conditions. They do not follow the person around 24 hours

a day; they trust him, but if he does breach it and if they
become aware of it, then they can take the appropriate
steps. But I imagine there are many, many persons who
breach not only their parole but also their probation
orders, and if they are not caught, then that is their own
good fortune.

The Chairman: We can now go on to probation following
imprisonment.

Mr. Sommerfeld: The type of probation we have been
considering is one that arises on a suspended sentence. It
may also be imposed following a sentence of imprison-
ment, and under section 663(1)(b) of the Code there is a
provision that in addition to fining the accused or sentenc-
ing him to imprisonment, whether in default of payment
of the fine or otherwise, for a term not exceeding two
years, the court may direct that the accused comply with
the conditions prescribed in the probation order. As in the
case of breach of probation order on a suspended sen-
tence, such breach amounts to an offence under section
666 of the Criminal Code. However, where the probation
order follows upon a sentence of imprisonment and the
accused is convicted of an offence, including an offence
under section 666, he may also be required to appear
before the court, which may then alter the conditions of
the probation order or extend its operation for a period
not exceeding one year. There would be no question of
bringing him back to sentence him on the original offence,
as in the case of a suspended sentence, because he has
already been sentenced to a term of imprisonment for
that, and has completed it.

Senator Hastings: But that order only applies to any
sentence less than two years.

Mr. Sommerfeld: Yes.
Mr. Watson: I think the text is “not exceeding two years.”
Senator Hastings: That is provincial term.

Mr. Watson: Not exactly because if you were imprisoned
for two years you would be in the penitentiary.

Mr. Sommerfeld: Yes, two years would be a penitentiary
sentence.

I turn now to the section dealing with absolute and
conditional discharge. Absolute and conditional discharge
may be applied to accused persons other than corpora-
tions and only for offences other than those for which a
minimum punishment is prescribed by law, or punishable
by imprisonment for 14 years, or for life, or by death. If
the accused is discharged absolutely it means he is free to
go without any conditions being attached to his release. If
he is given a conditional discharge he is placed under an
order of probation, but in neither case is he convicted of
the offence for which he has been charged or tried. If he
breaches the probation order this amounts to an offence
in itself, as it does in the case of any breach of probation
order. He may also have his conditional discharge
revoked and be convicted of and sentenced for the
offence with which he was originally charged and given a
conditional discharge. Generally speaking, the conse-
quences of breach of a probation order in the case of a
conditional discharge are the same as those in the case of
any other breach of probation order.
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I have referred to the sections of the statute involved in
the Criminal Code, and of course, the deciding authority
is the court having jurisdiction in the case. As far as
discretion is concerned, the court may order an absolute
or conditional discharge where the accused pleads guilty
or has been found guilty if it considers it to be in the best
interests of the accused and not contrary to the public
interest. This consideration appears in section 662.1.

Senator Hastings: I notice some criticism by the bench
with respect to this section. Can you explain their criti-
cism? What is bothering them?

Mr. Sommerfeld: We can tell you what the criticism is. I
am not entirely sure we understand it.

Senator Hastings: Neither do 1.

Mr. Sommerfeld: Certainly, there is a reluctance on the
part of some judges to apply it at all. Part of this, I think,
stems from the fact that it is very difficult to appreciate
what is really meant by a discharge, either absolute or
conditional. It is a separate animal which Parliament has
created. Prior to this a person could be convicted or
acquitted. Now he can be acquitted, convicted, or he may
be given an absolute or conditional discharge. The only
thing you can say about this is that a discharge is simply
something different from a conviction, notwithstanding
the fact that it has to follow a plea of guilty, or a finding of
guilt; and instead of registering a conviction there is a
discharge. The consequence is that the person has not
been convicted of an offence.

I think judges do have difficulty with this concept, and I
quite understand this because it is a new concept, and it is
complicated too by the fact that even though it is a sepa-
rate and different status, oddly enough it has some of the
same incidents which go with a conviction. For example,
you have certain appeal procedures which make it sound
as though he has been convicted.

Perhaps Mr. Watson has something to add to this as
well.

Mr. Watson: I think you hit the nail on the head. It is a
new concept that is not taught at law school and the law
professors have not yet caught up with it.

Senator Prowse: Neither has anyone else.

Mr. Watson: The lawyers and judges are endeavouring to
fit these concepts into their pre-existing concepts dealing
with conviction and acquittal, guilty and not guilty. I may
point out to the senator from Quebec that the French
wording has not helped because the term for parole is
“libération conditionnelle”; and the term for absolute dis-
charge is “libération inconditionnelle”; and the term for
conditional discharge is “libération sous-condition”. So
you can imagine that when they began to talk about
“libération inconditionnelle” and “libération sous-condi-
tion” in the Province of Quebec, this is just a half step
away from “libération conditionnelle” which is the term
for parole. 2

Many judges from Quebec have asked me whether this
is like parole because the term sounded so similar.
Quebec judges have a more difficult task because of the
wording. They have to sit down and study this and make a
distinction in their own mind between terms which sound

an awful lot alike, such as “libération inconditionnelle”
and “libération sous-condition.”

In a recent newspaper report a lady from Montreal was
given an absolute discharge and the Montreal Gazette
reported it as though she was freed unconditionally; they
translated it “freed unconditionally.” That was in the case
of Carmen Geoffroy who received an absolute discharge.
The newspaper did not report it as an absolute discharge;
they reported it as if she was freed unconditionally. That
was very confusing. Was she placed on parole or what was
her sentence?

The Chairman: Would you explain to another Quebec
senator what the difference is? I must admit I am
confused.

Mr. Watson: If you stick to the English version your
confusion should be relieved.

Senator Prowse: We were told that the beautiful part of
having the laws in both languages would be that if you
could not get a clear concept in one language you could
get one in the other, that the two ere interchangeable.

Mr. Watson: That is why I suggest to the senators from
Quebec that they use the English version.

Senator Mcllraith: As a matter of fact, this section deals
with a new concept and I am not certain that the term
“unconditional discharge” is a happy choice of language
to describe this new concept which we have enacted,
because the word “discharge” has certain significance
and connotations in the application of criminal law, so
does the term “unconditional discharge.” This new con-
cept is not quite related to the usage of those words in the
administration of criminal law.

Mr. Watson: I think you are quite right.

Senator Mcllraith: It may be that we have not found a
happy expression for this new concept. I think the con-
cept is very much welcomed, particularly dealing with
young offenders.

Mr. Watson: I think the term “unconditional discharge”
is probably a more accurate way of describing it because
it comes from the French wording, and yet the English
term is “absolute” discharge, which sounds very final.

Senator Mcllraith: Yes, it is not really an absolute
discharge.

Mr. Watson:
conviction.

No, it means there is no record of

Senator Mcllraith: Yes, no record of conviction.

Mr. Watson: Yet a record is kept of a finding of guilt or a
plea of guilty.

Senator Prowse: It was an old Welsh jury that brought in
the verdict: “We finds the defendant not guilty, but we
advises him not to do it again.” Or the Scottish concept of
“not proven”.

Mr. Watson: I suppose it is very close to that concept.

Senator Denis: The wording in French or in English
means the same thing.



1:16

Legal and Constitutional Affairs

March 6, 1973

Mr. Watson: Oh, yes. Once you bring yourself to exercise
an act of faith in this new concept, and actually believe
there are people who are neither convicted or acquitted
but who are in this middle group of “dischargees”, a
person who is given a conditional discharge, once his
period of probation is up, his discharge becomes, in effect,
absolute. The passage of time turns a conditional dis-
charge into an absolute discharge.

Senator Prowse: Am I correct in assuming that if in the
case of a conditional or absolute discharge a situation
arises in which a person is technically guilty of a breach
of law but it is not sufficiently serious that the court
wishes to convict him but orders him to pay $50, which
would be the conditional discharge, the whole thing is
forgotten?

Mr. Watson: That is correct, with no condition.

Senator Prowse: The other point is when the court says it
cannot find him guilty. You know, theft is an awfully
tough term to define, because you move something which
belongs to someone else and technically you have stolen it.
In another case the accused may be given an absolute
discharge, the court saying it cannot dismiss the case
against him because technically he has broken the law but
the court should really not have been bothered in the frist
place. Is this not what it really amounts to?

Mr. Watson: Not so much not being bothered, because if
the person commits that offence again, even though it is
fairly minor, there is a record of the previous time, so that
the judge on the second occasion is not likely to use the
discharge procedure, certainly not the absolute. He might
grant a conditional discharge the next time, but the judge
would be made aware of the fact that the person did
receive an absolute discharge for the same offence previ-
ously. If he repeated the offence, which might have been
very minor when committed once, it would become a
nuisance and very serious.

Senator Prowse: It seem to me that in 1935 the old Code
contained a provision whereby a person could plead
guilty and make restitution. He would be convicted, but
the magistrate would have the right, if the accused had no
previous record, to discharge him from the conviction. Do
you remember that sentence?

Mr. Sommerfeld: I do not recall it.
Mr. Watson: Neither do 1.

Senator Prowse: I remember it very well. Under the old
Code, prior to the change in 1952, this particular situation
arose in 1935. I have reason to recall it, not because I was
the principal. I was a newspaper reporter at the time, but
I remember reading it in my father’s library when I was
quite young. Two university students were convicted of
stealing such items as a bottle of ketchup and a door
opener. I remember going to the magistrate because I
knew these students and saw them in jail next morning,
where they had been overnight. I was able to refer the
magistrate to this section of the Code. There was complete
restitution and they paid for all damage, and the magis-
trate then discharged them from the conviction and there
was no record kept.

Mr. Watson: A practice existed prior to this legislation
whereby judges in such cases would award the accused a

suspended sentence; in other words, he would not be
punished.

Senator Prowse: But this was better. There was an inter-
regnum period when that power did not exist and a con-
viction had to be registered, but under the old section the
magistrate had the power to hand down a conviction and,
provided there was no damage involved, he could erase it.
I particularly remember a case in which this was done.

Senator Lapointe: Is the word “acquittement” not used in
French?

M. Watson: Non, ce n’est pas un acquittement. C’est
aprés qu’une personne a été trouvée coupable ou a plaidé
coupable.

The “acquittement” is the most for which the accused
could hope. He is found not guilty by the jury or the judge
and is therefore acquitted. This, however occurs after the
person pleads guilty or is found guilty, either by the jury
or by the judge, so it is not an acquittal or an “acquitte-
ment.” On the other hand, it is not a conviction.

Senator Prowse: So it is relatively unimportant?

Mr. Watson: It is something in between acquittal and
conviction.

Senator Lapointe: So a word should be found in French
other than “libération.”

Mr. Watson: I do not know; perhaps we will become used
to employing that term and it will become second nature
to us, in the same way as ‘“acquittement.”

The Chairman: Mr. Sommerfeld, would you proceed
please?

Mr. Sommerfeld: Thank you Mr. Chairman. I have noth-
ing further to say with respect to absolute and conditional
discharges.

The next item in the paper is: “Fines (In Default of
Payment—Imprisonment).”

Particular statutes may provide for imprisonment in
default of payment of fine. In addition there is a general
provision in the Criminal Code that where a fine is
imposed and no provision is made for imprisonment in
default that the court may order in default of payment
that the defendant be imprisoned for a period of not more
than six months. The court may also direct that the fine
be paid forthwith or within such time and on such terms
and conditions as the court may fix. The court may not
direct that the fine be paid forthwith unless it is satisfied
that the convicted person has sufficient means to enable
him to pay the fine at once, upon being asked whether he
desires time to make payment the convicted person does
not request such time, or for any other special reasons the
court deems it expedient that no time be allowed. The
minimum time to be allowed is 14 days. If the time
allowed expires and payment has not been made the court
may issue a warrant for the committal of the accused
unless the person has appeared and applied for an exten-
sion of time. Where there has been part payment of the
fine the term of imprisonment is reduced proportionately. '

There are really no conditions attached to the release of
a person under these circumstances, other than that his
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fine be paid forthwith, if that is the order, or within
whatever time is allowed by the order.

If there are no further questions on that section, I will
proceed to the section respecting intermittent sentences.

Where the court imposes a sentence of 90 days or less it
may order that the sentence be served intermittently at
such times as are specified in the order and direct that the
accused at all times when he is not in confinement comply
with the conditions prescribed in a Probation Order. The
convicted person is, therefore, subject to all the conse-
quences of being under a Probation Order that apply in
the case of anyone else.

This applies in such situations as those in which it may
be ordered that a person serve a sentence, for example, of
30 days on weekends. When he is out he is subject to an
order of probation and if he breaches it or commits anoth-
er offence he is in the same position as anyone else under
a probation order.

Senator Prowse: Would the order be for six successive
weekends, from 5 o’clock on Friday to midnight on
Sunday, for instance, at which time he shall report to
such-and-such a jail and remain in its custody at that
time?

Mr. Sommerfeld: Yes, so that he would really be serving
12 days intermittently.

Senator Prowse: My point is, does the 90 days cover the
total period, or would it be 90 days accumulated three
days at a time?

Mr. Sommerfeld: My understanding is that the 90 days is
the period that would be divided up throughout the week-
ends, or whatever the case would be, rather than requir-
ing 90 days to be served continuously. He is told he can
serve it at certain times so that he can continue to work or
whatever the case may be.

The Chairman: It is entirely within the discretion of the
court.

Mr. Sommerfeld: Yes.

Senator Lapointe: What are the main reasons for this type
of sentencing?

Mr. Sommerfeld: I imagine the main reason would be to
enable a person to continue in his employment and not
lose his job as a result of having to go to jail for 30 days,
or whatever the case may be.

Senator Mcllraith: There may be a large family which
needs the security of a permanent job, plus some help in
the home in looking after the children, and his record in
that respect might be relatively good. It is for that type of
problem.

Mr. Sommerfeld: The next item has to do with pardon
and amnesty. As I mentioned at the beginning of the
paper, although it is covered by the Criminal Code, this is
really under the jurisdiction of the Department of the
Solicitor General. The matter of free and conditional
pardon is governed by section 683 of the Criminal Code. I
do not propose to say anything more than that about it. I
will defer that to my friends from the Department of the
Solicitor General.

25874—2

As far as any other releases are concerned, the only
other situation that I can think of arises very rarely.
Under section 617 of the Criminal Code there is a provi-
sion that the Minister of Justice may order a new trial or a
hearing before the court of appeal in the case of a person
who has been convicted under certain circumstances; and
where such an order is made the person who is in custody
and serving a sentence can apply for release pending the
determination of his new trial and the appeal, and the
usual considerations as to whether or not he should be
released would apply in that case. That is really a sort of
situation involving bail as well. I do not think I have
anything further to add.

Senator Hastings: All of these instances which you have
covered this morning, pertaining to the release of an
accused by police, by the courts, have no connection what-
soever with the National Parole Service or the National
Parole Board?

Mr. Sommerfeld: None whatsoever.

Senator Hastings: None of these accused will ever be
under the supervision of the National Parole Service.

Senator Prowse: Under the circumstances which we have
been discussing.

Senator Hastings: Yes. Under the circumstances which
we have been discussing this morning, none of these
would have anything whatsoever to do with the board or
the service?

Mr. Watson: There is one slight possibility that some-
times a person may, for a short period of time, because of
the operation of the two different acts, be subject to both
parole and supervision by a probation officer. That is an
administrative problem at the moment.

Senator Prowse: That is a provincial officer.

Mr. Watson: The probation officer who is a provincial
officer supervises him because he is on probation. Let us
say he has been sentenced and is paroled. He is then
subject to mandatory supervision, or the parole officer; at
the same time, because of the sentence imposed, he is also
subject to a probation order. It is usually for a short
period of time and it is worked administratively between
the two bodies, the provincial authorities and the parole
officer.

Senator Hastings: There seems to be a great deal of
confusion in the minds of the public and the press that
every time an inmate or an accused is at large it is the
Parole Board that is letting these men out. I think we have
an obligation to clarify this. Police officers, judges—in
fact, a great many people—are releasing men from cus-
tody. The Parole Board are not necessarily the only
people.

The Chairman: And that person on probation is not
subject to supervision by the Parole Service.

Senator Quart: How does the Parole Board come into the
picture? Mr. Watson has said there is one condition. Are
they requested by the judge to come in, to take over?

Mr. Watson: Perhaps I can explain this. Where a person
receives probation in addition to a prison sentence, he
may not serve his full prison sentence; he may be paroled
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before the end of his prison sentence. The probation order
takes effect after the determination of his sentence, so
that he is both out on parole and subject to probation for
a certain period of time.

Senator Quart: It works automatically. I was wondering
if the Parole Board would be requested by somebody to
take over in respect of these cases which have been men-
tioned all morning. Do they come in automatically, or are
they requested by someone?

Mr. Watson: Where a person is subject to both a proba-
tion order and parole, one service would ask the other to
do it on its behalf. Surely, they would not duplicate the
work. The probation officer may ask the parole officer to
look after a person during this period, or vice versa. It is
very rarely that a person could be both on parole and
subject to probation at the same time.

Senator Quart: That was the clarification I wanted.
Mr. Watson: It is not automatic.

Senator Quart: But I still want to know how the Parole
Board gets into the picture.

Senator Mcllraith: Only cases where there have been both
a prison sentence and a probation period have been dealt
with this morning.

Mr. Watson: It is only where there could be possible
overlapping.

Senator Mcllraith: I am wondering whether you have
made it sufficiently clear that in nearly all the cases we
have been talking about this morning only a judge can
order a probation officer to come into the picture. A judge
or magistrate is the only one who can do that. The Parole
Board cannot be brought into the operation directly. The
parole officer has nothing to do with it. The situation
applies to all the cases we have been talking about this
morning, except for that one very narrow group, which
does not occur very often.

The Chairman: It is very exceptional.
Mr. Watson: It is one that is an administrative headache.

Senator Mcllraith: It is only in that particular case. Its

useage has been disappearing more and more over the
years.

Senator Prowse:. Am I understanding Senator McIlraith
correptly? T}}e situation he is referring to would apply
only in Ontario and British Columbia—about one in ten.

Senator Mcllraith: I think that is right, but I would like
one of the officers to answer that.

Mr. Watson: Whex} t'he officers of the Solicitor General’s
Dep?rtment are giving their paper, you might want to
clarify that point, as they are more familiar with parole.

Senator Prowse: Nothing we have been talking about this
morning, as far as you know, concerns parole.

The Chairman: This last question can be put to the repre-
sentative of the Solicitor General’s Department.

Senator Hastings: Mr. Chairman, I have one question
pertaining to the release of inmates, which is pertinent to
the Department of Justice. It pertains to the old section

684(3) of the Criminal Code which ended December 25,
which stated that prisoners serving time for murder could
be released only on the authority of the Governor in
Council. Yet under the Canadian Penitentiary Act the
director of an institution has authority to release inmates
in the interests of rehabilitation. Why is there that con-
flict? I notice that you have placed it also in the new, Bill
C-2.

The Chairman: We have the Deputy Commissioner of
Penitentiaries here as our next witness.

Senator Prowse: This is a legal matter.
Mr. Watson: I do not think that . ..

Mr. Sommerfeld: It may depend to some extent on a legal
opinion which has been asked by the Solicitor General of
the Department of Justice.

Senator Prowse: At the moment you are not prepared to
give one?

Mr. Sommerfeld: I would prefer not to, senator.
Senator Prowse: Fair enough.

Senator Mcllraith: It is really a conflict between section
684(3) of the Criminal Code and section 26 of the Peniten-
tiary Act, there is a difference between the words ‘“re-
lease” and granting “temporary absence”.

Mr. Watson: It is probably not the kind of release we
have been talking about. It may be something that the
officers from the Solicitor General’s Department may
want to get involved in, as it is the Penitentiary Service
that is interpreting it.

Senator Mcllraith: There appears to be conflict in the
wording. The Penitentiary Act gives the officer in the
Penitentiary Service power to grant temporary absence
permits—it is called temporary absence there—to assist in
the rehabilitation of the inmate. The Criminal Code states
that a convicted person shall not be released without the
prior approval of the Governor-in-Council. So you have
an apparent conflict there. There it is; I do not know the
answer.

The Chairman: I think we should leave it at that.
Senator Prowse: We will leave it for now.

Senator Hastings: I think the word “permanent” should
be inserted.

The Chairman: Thank you very much, gentlemen.

Senator Prowse: I should like to move, Mr. Chairman, on
behalf of those of us here, a vote of thanks to both Mr.
Sommerfeld and Mr. Watson for their appearance before
us this morning and for their co-operation and assistance
in helping us to find our way through these rather dif-
ficult mazes.

The Chairman: You mean that we should discharge them
unconditionally!

Senator Mcllraith: With the power to bring them back.

The Chairman: Thank you much, gentlemen.
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Our next witness, Mr. Braithwaite, the Deputy Commis-
sioner of Penitentiaries, will deal with temporary absence
and remission of sentence.

Mr. J. W. Braithwaite, Deputy Commissioner of Penitentiar-
ies: Mr. Chairman, honourable senators, I will try in the
remaining time to deal succinctly but, I hope, satisfactori-
ly with the matter of temporary absence and remission of
sentence, both earned and statutory.

Mr. Braithwaite: If I might be permitted to start with
statutory remission: The legal basis of this is the Peniten-
tiary Act, sections 22 and 23. The most pertinent subsec-
tion is Section 22(1) which states:

Every person who is sentenced or committed to peni-
tentiary for a fixed term shall, upon being received
into a penitentiary, be credited with statutory remis-
sion amounting to one-quarter of the period for which
he has been sentenced or committed as time off sub-
ject to good conduct.

And it goes on to deal with the matter of the authority to
take this statutory remission away from the inmate
should he violate the disciplinary code of the institution in
which he is serving his sentence.

If any portion of that statutory remission is taken away,
there is also provision made under section 23 for the
possible subsequent return of the remission taken away.
That section reads, in part:

The Commissioner or an officer of the Service desig-
nated by him may, where he is satisfied that it is in the
interest of the rehabilitation of an inmate, remit any
forfeiture of statutory remission but shall not remit
more than ninety days of forfeited statutory remission
without the approval of the Minister.

The authority, of course, is the Penitentiary Act. There
is no discretion allowed by law with reference to the
crediting of statutory remission, but there is discretion
permitted by law in relation to the forfeiture of statutory
remission and also for the return of forfeited remission
time.

As for the conditions of release, a record is maintained
in the case of each inmate in relation to any credits or
debits in regard to statutory remission, and the date of
release is based on the number of days of statutory remis-
sion remaining to his credit and deducted from the total
term of the sentence.

There is also provision made for the forfeiture of statu-
tory remission, in whole or in part, if an inmate is convict-
ed by the institution disciplinary board of a disciplinary
offence. The statutory remission may also be forfeited if
an inmate is convicted of escape, attempt to escape or
being unlawfully at large.

Senator Hastings: Would you repeat that, please? How
much is forfeited?

Mr. Braithwaite: It can be forfeited in whole or in part.
Senator Hastings: Thank you.
Mr. Braithwaite: May I proceed to “earned remission”?

The Chairman: Are there any questions on statutory
remission?

25874-2%

Senator Hastings: I wonder if you could explain the dif-
ference between escape and walk-away?

Mr. Braithwaite: That is not necessarily a legally defined
term. This is a term that came into use with the advent of
minimum security institutions—forestry camps, farm
annexes, community correctional centres, and so forth—
and the term came into use in order to distinguish within
our own service and in relation to discussing an individu-
al’s case with other interested parties such as the police,
the courts, and so forth, the difference between an escape
from behind a fenced or walled institution, which may or
may not have involved violence, and the situation where
someone is in a minimum security setting and merely
absents himself by walking or even running away, I
suppose.

Senator Mcllraith: Such as the parklike atmosphere up at
Landry Crossing?

Senator Prowse: Between breaking out of an institution
and leaving the area?

Mr. Braithwaite: Basically, yes.

Senator Hastings: Would he be an escapee, or would he
come under your section dealing with walking-away?

Mr. Braithwaite: Legally, he would be looked upon as an
escapee.

Senator Hastings: Unlawfully at large.
Mr. Braithwaite: Yes.

Senator Lapointe: May we consider this statutory remis-
sion as a discount for good conduct?

Mr. Braithwaite: Not strictly speaking, as I understand it,
senator. My understanding is that it is given to the man
upon being received into the penitentiary ...

The Chairman: It is in anticipation of good conduct.

Senator Mcllraith: Only to be lost if there is bad conduct.
Otherwise, it is given to him. It puts the onus on the other
side.

Mr. Braithwaite: It was looked upon, I believe, as an
additional means of control in relation to the inmates. In
other words, he had something to lose from the moment
he entered the institution.

Senator Prowse: The present is on the tree but he does
not get to the tree unless he is a good boy until Christmas.

Mr. Braithwaite: Basically, yes.

Senator Hastings: With the institution of mandatory
supervision, have you lost the additional means of control
that the earned remission gave you?

Mr. Braithwaite: I do not really think so, no. That is an
opinion, and it is only my opinion. I think people still
appreciate serving their sentences in the community
rather than being in an institution.

Senator Prowse: But it changes it, does it not? Before
mandatory supervision, if I was serving four years I
would get a quarter of that off for earned remission. I
would serve three years, and then I would be out and free.

Mr. Braithwaite: Basically.
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Senator Prowse: Now I would have to serve a year, and
15 months on parole.

Mr. Braithwaite: Yes.

Senator Prowse: So whereas I was free at the end of three
years under the old system, I am now liable to be picked
up at any point during the 15 month probation period and
returned to the institution to serve the rest of my time.

Mr. Braithwaite: That is my understanding. On the other
hand, that has to be considered in the light of additional
protection to the public and the additional resources
available to the individual upon his discharge from the
institution. Under the old system we more or less said to
the fellow, “Well, goodbye and good luck! We will keep
your cell available for you,” or something of this nature.

Senator Prowse: But under the old system you did not
say you would keep the cell available. You just said,
“Goodbye and good luck!” Now you say, “We will keep
your cell available for you.” This worries a good many of
them, by the way.

Mr. Braithwaite: I have heard that some people do say
that. However, I harken back to what one of the previous
witnesses said—I do not know whether it was Mr. Som-
merfeld or Mr. Watson—and that was that people on pro-
bation tend to be somewhat more circumspect in their
behaviour than if they were not on probation. Perhaps
there is a similar effect in relation to a man on mandatory
supervision. However, I am going beyond my area of
competence.

The Chairman: Mandatory supervision will be dealt with
by the next witness.

Senator Prowse: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

The Chairman: Would you go on to “earned remission,”
Mr. Braithwaite.

E Mr. Braithwaite: Earned remission is covered under sec-
tion 24 of the Penitentiary Act, which states:

Every inmate may be credited with three days
remission of his sentence in respect of each calendar
month during which he has applied himself industri-
ously, as determined in accordance with any rules
made by the Commissioner in that behalf, to the pro-
gram of the penitentiary in which he is imprisoned.

Senator Prows.o: This is a positive incentive and not
something that is given and can then be taken away.

Mr. Br'anhwcxlto: That is correct. The deciding authority
in relation to this is the Commissioner of Penitentiaries,
through delegation of his authority to an institutional
board. There is discretion, of course, permitted by the
statute as to the amount of time that any given inmate
may be credited with in relation to any specific month.

The earned remission credits are recorded in the case of
each inmate and added to his statutory remission credits
to be counted towards his date of release. Earned remis-
sion, unlike statutory remission, cannot be forfeited after
it has been earned and credited, and earned remission is
recorded in the case of all inmates.

Senator Hastings: I have one question on your phrase
“cannot be forfeited.” If I were released today with three

months statutory remission and one month earned remis-
sion under mandatory supervision, and two weeks from
today I am brought back in, am I not called upon to serve
a remission?

Mr. Braithwaite: That is not my understanding.

Senator Prowse: Your understanding is that once you
have earned it you have got it?

Mzr. Braithwaite: Once you have earned the remission it is
yours.

Senator Hastings: Perhaps this will arise under mandato-
ry supervision when we discuss it. I think you are called
upon to serve your earned remission.

The Chairman: I do not believe that is correct.
Mr. Braithwaite: That is not my understanding.

The Chairman: We will cover that when we deal with
mandatory supervision.

Mr. Braithwaite: Temporary absence is covered under
section 26 of the Penitentiary Act, which states:

Where, in the opinion of the Commissioner or the
officer in charge of a penitentiary, it is necessary or
desirable that an inmate should be absent, with or
without escort, for medical or humanitarian reasons
or to assist in the rehabilitation of the inmate, the
absence may be authorized from time to time . . .

(a) by the Commissioner, for an unlimited period for
medical reasons and for a period not exceeding
fifteen days for humanitarian reasons or to assist in
the rehabilitation of the inmate, or

(b) by the officer in charge, . ..
That is a director of an institution.

... for a period not exceeding fifteen days for medical
reasons and for a period not exceeding three days for
humanitarian reasons or to assist in the rehabilitation
of the inmate.

As you can see, the deciding authorities are the Com-
missioner of Penitentiaries and the officers of the service
who are in charge of individual units within the service.
Discretion is permitted by the statute to the deciding
authorities in determining the necessity or desirability for
an inmate to be absent, with or without escort, and it also
allows discretion as to the frequency of such temporary
absences.

Senator Lapointe: What do you mean by rehabilitative
reasons for three days?

Senator Mcllraith: Getting a job.
Senator Lapointe: Is it just to boost morale?

Mr. Braithwaite: No, it is more than that. You are asking
specifically about rehabilitative reasons?

Senator Lapointe: Yes.

Mr. Braithwaite: The directive under which the officers
of the service use the authority in section 26 cites as
examples of rehabilitative reasons: the visiting of mems-
bers of the family to help preserve the family unit; to have
prearranged interviews with prospective employers; to
attend lectures, seminars in connection with special stu-
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dies or interests. I do not know whether I should be
facetious at this point, but I recall a visit of a number of
fellows from Drumbheller to this committee. We felt that
that, for example, in relation to them was a rehabilitative
reason.

Senator Prowse: Good for us, too.

Mr. Braithwaite: I would not want to express an opinion
on that.

Senator Quart: It was at our request.

Mr. Braithwaite: Other examples are: to visit within the
immediate community to ease the transition from confine-
ment to freedom, and to seek employment immediately
prior to release date. Those are some examples of
rehabilitative reasons that are given in the divisional
instructions.

The Chairman: Senator Lapointe was particularly inter-
ested in the three days that you mentioned. I understand
that those three days can be extended by the commission-
er. Is that right?

Mr. Braithwaite: The Commissioner of Penitentiaries can
grant up to 15 days for humanitarian and rehabilitative
reasons, and an unlimited period for medical reasons.

The Chairman: But could he grant several 15-day periods
for rehabilitation?

Senator Denis: And several three-day periods?
The Chairman: And a number of three-day periods?

Senator Hastings: This has reference to my question in
the Senate. You indicated that there are 354 men absent
on a regular basis from penitentiaries for employment,
education and other purposes.

Mr. Braithwaite: This was in relation to the question you
raised. There were 373, as I recall, absent on a fairly
regular basis as of November 30, 1972, for pre-release
employment, regular employment, educational purposes,
or other reasons. There were very few in the “other rea-
sons” category, except those on medical grounds. Since
you raised that question we have been moving towards a
more co-ordinated program, in co-operation with the
National Parole Service and the board, so the incidence of
regular temporary absences under section 26 is diminish-
ing somewhat.

Senator Prowse: That has been taken over by day parole.

Senator Mcllraith: I should like to follow that up. This
section says that temporary absence may be granted for
three or 15 days, as the case may be, “from time to time”.
The answer to the question troubled me greatly, because I
think you used the word “regular”. I do not see how in law
“from time to time” can be construed as “regular”. In
other words, you cannot use “from time to time” merely to
extend the time fixed by statute. It is somewhat analagous
to “on another occasion” for another purpose, rather than
mere extension of the statutory limitation of three or 15
days.

Rehabilitation on a long term basis is clearly rehabilita-
tion through absence from the institution. That aspect of
rehabilitation by that method was not given by statute to
those in charge of the institution; it was given to another

body under other legislation. Have you had or requested
any legal opinions on what “from time to time” in section
26 means? Does it authorize the penitentiary authorities to
let the person out for more than the three or 15 days, as
the case may be? That is, for a longer period, virtually
continuously. I do not mean on another occasion a year
later.

Mr. Braithwaite: I would like to answer your question
and also explain my use of the word “regular.” When I
used the word “regular” I did not necessarily mean that it
was synonymous with continuous. I should like to make
that distinction. The word “regular” might mean someone
who, for example, was taking a course at a university or
who requires medical treatment on a regular basis.

Senator Mcllraith: Leaving out the medical ones, because
there you have absolute discretion.

Mr. Braithwaite: For instance, someone may be taking a
course at a university and under normal circumstances
may be required to attend on Monday, Wednesday and
Friday for one hour on each of those days. He would be
included in this category I referred to. In the broad sense,
they are regular, as distinct from continuous.

Senator Mcllraith: I am just dealing with the case of a
person who is being released in order to take a university
course throughout the year. Have you ever had an opinion
as to whether or not clause 26 authorized that man’s
release on two days regularly other than the interview to
go and get registered so as to make his arrangements for
the course? Have you ever had the point where specifical-
ly you would put him under a system where you grant him
this at the first of the year that will enable him to take his
classes throughout the whole year?

Mr. Braithwaite: The department has asked the Depart-
ment of Justice for an opinion in relation to the use of
temporary absences on a rehabilitative basis. We are look-
ing at re drafting some of the divisional instructions in
relation to this, in order to get a further clarification of
this.

Senator Mcllraith: Mr. Chairman, could we ask the wit-
ness about that legal opinion?

Mr. Braithwaite: The final opinion has not been given yet.

Senator Mcllraith: Mr. Chairman, could we pursue that
subject, as to what the law is on that particular point? I
am not certain whether it should be pursued with this
witness or with the Department of Justice?

The Chairman: It cannot be pursued with Mr. Braith-
waite, who is not a lawyer. I suggest we defer that at this
moment.

Senator Prowse: Whenever the final decision comes, it
could be raised.

Senator Hastings: Mr. Braithwaite, I am disturbed to
hear you say that you are going to reduce the number. I
think a year ago it was 160, and you have raised it to 374 in
a year, which impressed me. I know the work that you are
doing there is really good. I think it is necessary for you to
explain candidly to us what is actually being done with
these men who are regularly being released, and why you
are regularly releasing them and not the Parole Board.
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Mr. Braithwaite: I would like to start by clarifying what I
said. I do not believe I said we were reducing the number
of people involved, but that we were moving towards a
use of temporary absence and day parole that is more
co-ordinated in practice than it has been in the past.

Senator Hastings: Why was it not co-ordinated in the
past?

Mr. Braithwaite: It is difficult for me to say with authori-
ty, because I became involved in this, in the consideration
of temporary absence and day parole, prior to assuming
my present position with the Penitentiary Service. Both
the practice of day parole and temporary absence were in
operation prior to my coming to the Penitentiary Service.
One of the things that was done at the time when I
occupied the position which was known as Director of
Correctional Planning was to work with the then Execu-
tive Director of the National Parole Service and the Peni-
tentiary Service, to develop a more co-ordinated approach
to these two programs. The approach that we agreed upon
and that we were trying to implement was basically this,
that in relation to rehabilitative reasons, section 26 of the
Penitentiary Act would be used on a relatively short-term
basis and primarily to take advantage of a resource that
existed in a communtiy, such as a job opportunity, to grab
hold of that resource; and then this would be converted to
day parole for the purpose of the continuing program.
That is basically the approach that we are trying to
implement.

.Sonutor Hastings: And proceeding by day parole takes
six to nine months to get decisions.

Mr. Braithwaite: Well, . . .

Senator Hastings: It takes time; I will not say “six to nine
months:*

Mr. Braithwaite: In fairness, I would not want to set out a
specific time as to how long it takes, but I would have to
admit this, that it takes longer than if you just say to the
director of an institution, “You make the decision.”

Senator Hastings: Agreed.

Mr. Braithwaite: I think we recognize this, that there is a
need for an initial decision to be made to capture some
resource; but I think we also take cognizance of the fact
that we have an obligation to the total community, that
there is a need for careful investigation and some supervi-
sion. That is why we would hope to convert that individu-
al’s program to day parole. So we are trying to meet our
two-fold objective, the protection of society and the
rehabilitation of the individual.

The Chairman: You said that temporary absence could
be with or without escort. Is it without escort in most
cases?

- Senator Denis: How do you decide to have it, with or
without escort?

Mr. Braithwaite: There are two basic means of deciding.
One is in relation to the security risk that the individual
may present. If I could use a very simple example, a man
who requires hospitalization outside the institution, if he
is a security risk then, of course, he goes with an escort,
with an officer of the service, to the hospital. If he is a
man in a minimum security camp, for example, he might

be taken to the hospital with escort, but we would not
have someone standing over his bed 24 hours a day,
because he is not a security risk. That is one considera-
tion, senator.

The other one would depend on the type of activity. For
example, if it is a group activity, it would be different. It
may be for entertainment purposes. Just last Thursday
the Red Deer and District John Howard Society had their
annual dinner, and they asked the orchestra from Drum-
heller institution to come and entertain. Those men went
down there with two staff members as their escort. Anoth-
er example would be the men at our camp at Landry
Crossing. If they go out as a group to do work for the
Department of Lands and Forests, they do so with a
supervising officer. So, in part, it depends on the activity.
On the other hand, if you send a man home for rehabilita-
tive purposes, to maintain ties with his wife and family, it
is not likely we would send him home with an officer as
escort.

The Chairman: Mr. Braithwaite, the Montreal press
reported the other day that two individuals released
under temporary absence, one to attend the funeral of his
mother, the other to attend the funeral of his father, both
disappeared. Were they under escort?

Mr. Braithwaite: Frankly, I am sorry, I am not trying to
be evasive but I am not familiar with this particular
incident.

The Chairman: Those were both announced last week.
Mr. Braithwaite: I am sorry.

Senator Quart: One was Cowansville and the other was
Leclerc.

Mr. Braithwaite: I would be happy to get the details from
you and give you a report on both incidents, but at the
moment I do not know.

Senator Prowse: You had some bad experiences with
people on temporary absences. Could you tell us off-
hand—maybe you can and maybe you cannot—how many
of those involved the only absence or a single absence,
and how many of them concerned people who were
involved in these continual absences? In other words,
have you had the difficulty with the people on continual
absences, or has it been generally with the people you are
experimenting with?

Mr. Braithwaite: I am unable to give you an answer in
precise terms. I am not able to tell you that it was X
number in this category and Y in the other. However, it is
my impression that where we have had problems the
majority of the problems have been in relation to those
who are not on regular temporary absence.

Senator Denis: They are those on their first time out?

Mr. Braithwaite: That is right. I would also have to say
that the majority of temporary absences fall into that
category. So how good an observation it is, I do not know.

Senator Prowse: Would it be possible for you to get that
without too much difficulty? It might be useful for us to
have that information. Would you take a look at it?

Mr. Braithwaite: I will. I will provide you with whatever I
can.
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Senator Prowse: Fine.

Mr. Braithwaite: Say, for the year 1972. Would that be
satisfactory?

Senator Prowse: Yes. (Note: The data referred to above
will be made available to the Committee at a later date.)

Senator Hastings: Mr Braithwaite, there seems to be
some impression that you open the gates every Friday
afternoon and let them all out. I think it is imperative for
you to go through the procedure you use generally in the
granting of a temporary absence, with special emphasis
on the safeguards that you are using to protect society
and the interest you have in protecting society.

Mr. Braithwaite: Well, as I said at the outset, we have two
basic responsibilities: one is the protection of society; the
other is to use every reasonable effort to rehabilitate the
individual offender.

Senator Denis: Which is more important in your opinion,
the first responsibility, protecting society, or the second,
protecting the inmate?

Mr. Braithwaite: Well, our first concern is the protection
of society. Then we are concerned with the rehabilitation
of the offender. I may only confuse you further if I say
that, philosophically, we still look on the inmate as part of
society.

Senator Prowse: And the rehabilitation is part of the
protection.

Mr. Braithwaite: Yes.
Senator Hastings: It is the protection.

Mr. Braithwaite: So the two are interwoven. Now, you are
asking for the safeguards and the procedure.

Senator Hastings: As I say, the impression is that you let
everybody out on Friday afternoon and get them back in
on Monday morning.

Senator Prowse: How do you decide to let them go?

Mr. Braithwaite: No inmate upon entering a penitentiary
is considered for a temporary absence until he has served
six months within the institution. So there is a period of
six months within which the institutional staff have the
opportunity to get to know the individual who may be
under consideration.

Senator Hastings: Would that be the case if I were serv-
ing 15 years?

Mr. Braithwaite: Yes. All I am saying is that no one will
be considered prior to that.

Senator Prowse: Except on humanitarian grounds.

Mr. Braithwaite: Or medical, right. But I think we were
talking primarily about rehabilitative reasons. Then an
application for temporary absence may originate from the
inmate, a member of his family or the.classification offi-
cer or some other authorized person within the institution.

The Inmate Training Board will then consider that
request and they will ask the National Parole Service to
provide them with a community assessment. If the man,
for example, makes a request that he wishes to go home to

visit his wife and children, part of the request for a
community assessment would be to ascertain if he has a
wife and children, if indeed they are in that community,
and if indeed they want to have him for a visit. As part of
that community assessment the Parole Service, or an
appropriate after-care agency such as the John Howard
Society, would contact the local police and obtain their
opinion.

Senator Hastings: In addition to the Parole Service?

Mr. Braithwaite: No, I said the National Parole Service or
an appropriate after-care agency, for example—

Senator Prowse: Somebody would get to speak to the
local police.

Mr. Braithwaite: Just to clarify this, what we do is we ask
the district representative of the Parole Service to do it. It
is my understanding that if he has the staff readily avail-
able they will do the community assessment. If not, they
will ask an authorized organization such as the John
Howard Society to do it on their behalf.

Senator Hastings: You said the police, didn’t you?

Mr. Braithwaite: Yes, as part of the community assess-
ment the National Parole Service or the John Howard
Society, for example, will confer and consult with the
police.

Senator Mcllraith: Is it “may” consult or “will”’ consult?

Mr. Braithwaite: The community assessments are paid
for by the Department of the Solicitor General through a
contractual fee for service arrangements, and the contract
says in it that in relation to community assessments the
police will be consulted. It is part of the guidelines for the
community assessment.

Senator Quart: The investigation conducted by the asso-
ciation or group responsible for the investigation of the
“children” in the Geoffroy case, was certainly very
unsatisfactory.

Mr. Braithwaite: I am sorry. Was that a question?
The Chairman: I think it was a comment.

Senator Quart: Well, to rephrase it, would you consider
that it was satisfactory?

Senator Prowse: That is not a fair question.

Senator Quart: The
nonetheless.

temptation was too great,

Senator Mcllraith: Well, it may very well be relevant to
know whether that was done before the contracts of
which you speak were in operation and these grants were
provided. I am not clear whether that was done before the
contracts or not, and that is a point that might well be
cleared up.

Mr. Braithwaite: I would ask Mr. Therrien to correct me,
if I am wrong, but it is my recollection that that assess-
ment was done after the contracts.

Senator Mcllraith: Is it a fair question to ask you if the
terms of the contract were complied with in that case?

Mr. Braithwaite: I am not a lawyer.
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The Chairman: I don’t think you should boast.

Senator Prowse: Mr. Chairman, what we are asking for
here is an opinion on a matter that the witness may or
may not be competent to speak to.

Senator Mcllraith: That is all very well, but these reports
are in the Penitentiary Service and someone has custody
of them.

Senator Prowse: Yes, he should be able to get them.

Senator Mcllraith: It is very relevant to know whether or
not the police were consulted about those children.

Senator Quart: Yes.

Senator Mcllraith: And where they were, and whether or
not the safeguard put under this contract on the use of the
taxpayers’ money for this purpose was being observed. It
is a relevant point. The money is not just voted to be
handed out, you know. The contract represented a lot of
work and thought.

Senator Quart: If I may further pursue the point that I
raised about these children, I believe that it was the tes-
timony of this so-called Mrs. Geoffroy as regards where
the children were and how she was going to be good to
them, it was her testimony that was taken and accepted, if
I remember correctly. But the point is some group was
requested to do it, did it and was paid for doing it.

Senator Mcllraith: Yes, they were paid.

Senator Quart: And they questioned the so-called wife of
Geoffroy. She was not his wife then.

Mr. Braithwaite: My hesitancy to speak with authority on
this point, Senator McIlraith, relates to the fact that the
agency involved did comply, I believe, with the specific
terms of the contract in the sense that, yes, they did
interview the lady in question, and they did make inqui-
ries regarding the children. Whether they did do it to the
degree that we in retrospect might have liked them to do it
is the question that is in my mind now.

Senator Mcllraith: Or whether they did, in fact, meet the
clause in the contract dealing with the requirement for
!‘.hem to go to the police. That would be important, would
it not, because the money was provided under that con-
tract? I am not interested in the case as such, but I am
very much interested to know that our funds are being
used in accordance with the safeguards that were careful-
ly wox"ke.d out, or whether it is being used carelessly by
agencies in rather a slipshod way, for whatever purpose.

Mr. Brglthwaito: 1 §hould be happy, if it would be helpful
to you in your deliberations, to review the guidelines of
community assessment, especially in relation to consulta-
tion with the police, and subsequently to report to you
through Mr. Jubinville. 3 e

Senator Mcllraith: I would be very glad of that, and 1
would have been very glad if the point in the particular
case, the Geoffroy case, which got some considerable
publicity, had been clarified for us.

Senator Hastings: Mr. Chairman, the commissioner has
issued the directive with respect to procedure. Can we
have that as part of the minutes of this meeting?

The Chairman: Do you have any objection, Mr.
Braithwaite?

Mr. Braithwaite: I do not have any objection.

Senator Hastings: I think it would be very useful to the
committee.

My second question is this: Is it not true that this direc-
tive was issued as a result of the Geoffroy affair, which
considerably tightened your regulations?

Mr. Braithwaite: The directive is actually a divisional
instruction. It was revised following that situation.

The Chairman: Is it agreed that it be made part of the
record?

Hon. Senators: Agreed.

Senator Mcllraith: That may take care of the points I was
raising with respect to the Geoffroy affair. It may be that
they are not relevant now under the new instructions.

Mr. Braithwaite: Actually, this is something that would be
obtained from the Parole Service—guidelines for com-
munity assessments—and if Mr. Therrien has no objec-
tion, I think these could be made available to you, because
I think it has to be read in conjunction with the instruec-
tions issued by the Commissioner of Penitentiaries.

The Chairman: What you are saying is that the commis-
sioner uses the same guidelines as the National Parole
Board for community assessment.

Mr. Braithwaite: That is right.

The Chairman: But the Parole Board is not in any way
responsible for the final decision on the question of
whether temporary absence should be granted.

Mr. Braithwaite: That is correct. But the Parole Service
provides us with the information relative to the man’s
situation and his family situation in the community.

Senator Mcllraith: The Parole Service provides that
information to you without direct compensation. But the
agency who provided the service, let us say in a city where
there is a John Howard Society, do you make the provi-
sion for compensation to them for that service, or is it
done also by the Parole Service, or are they compensated
by the department, as such? Who does the actual contract-
ing and payment to agencies?

Mr. Braithwaite: I think the funds are available through
the Parole Service.

The Chairman: I think we can put that as a question to
Mr. Therrien this afternoon.

Senator Prowse: Perhaps it could be answered after
lunch, and perhaps we could be told how much was paid.

Mr. Braithwaite: For community assessment, at the
present time I believe it is $41.

Senator Mcllraith: Well, perhaps we could be told about it
this afternoon, whatever jurisdiction it is in.

Senator Hastings: I wonder if I could go on to deal with
the question of procedure. It is considered by the Inmate '
Training Board in the light of the community
assessment. ..
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Mr. Braithwaite: And the criteria they have, and this is all
covered, by the way, in the divisional instruction which
you will receive.

Senator Hastings: One further question. If I go on a
temporary absence this month. ..

The Chairman: You are always thinking of yourself,
senator!

Senator Hastings: Well, I am simply putting it in the first
person. Do you use the same procedure for each tempo-
rary absence, or does the performance on the first one
cover subsequent ones?

Mr. Braithwaite: When considering subsequent tempo-
rary absences, the performance on the preceding one or
ones would be taken into account, and if some consider-
able time had elapsed, we would ask for an updating of
the community assessment. It is not the practice to say,
“Well, he had a successful temporary absence a year ago;
therefore, there is no problem and we will turn him loose
again.”

Senator Prowse: Whereas if it was last week, it would be
different.

Senator Hastings: Would it be permitted to discuss Mr.
Head’s temporary absence from B.C.P., or is this consid-
ered sub judice?

Senator Mcllraith: The crime might be so considered but
not the absence.

Mr. Braithwaite: Mr. Chairman, if I may say so, the
understanding was that I was to give what I understood to
be the legal basis for these matters—temporary absence,
earned remission and statutory remission; and I am in no
way prepared this morning to discuss any particular case.
I would have to say that I would be prepared to come
back at some other time, or something of that nature,
because I do not have this information at the present time.
There has been a great deal of speculation in regard to
that case, and I certainly would not want to add to it.

The Chairman: It was not the purpose of this session to
discuss particular cases; the purpose was to clarify the
various release methods and procedures, and I think we
should adhere to that.

Senator Prowse: Do you have any other ways of letting
people out?

Mr. Braithwaite: There are other ways that people get
out, but there are no other ways that we let them out.

The Chairman: You have told us of escapes and walking
away.

Senator Hastings: Well, Mr. Chairman, I think it is essen-
tial that Mr. Braithwaite should be given the opportunity
to explain to this committee with respect to Kulley, Head
and Anderson. There is so much misunderstanding in the
press and so forth that I think you have-a duty to put it
before us, even if it is in camera.

Senator Prowse: Perhaps, Mr. Chairman, Senator Hast-
ings might make a formal request. Perhaps arrangements
could be made to have somebody come and discuss with
us these cases in complete detail, to show us what steps

were taken leading up to the release and to show how the
person happened to be released under the circumstances.

The Chairman: I suggest that we submit this to the steer-
ing committee for decision.

Senator Hastings: It could be given to us in camera if
necessary, Mr. Chairman.

The Chairman: We were going to meet in camera this
afternoon, but since we have not been able to receive the
evidence of the three witnesses this morning, and since
Mr. Therrien is here as vice-chairman of the National
Parole Board, I am going to ask that we adjourn and
continue in open session after lunch. °

Mr. Braithwaite: Mr. Chairman, there is just one other
aspect of my responsibility that I have not discharged as
outlined in Mr. Jubinville’s letter. That deals with provin-
cial authority or any relevance to provincial jurisdiction.

I would just point out that in regard to temporary
absence the same provisions that are available within the
Penitentiary Service are available to provincial correc-
tional services under section 36 of the Prisons and Refor-
matories Act.

The Chairman: Thank you.

We will adjourn now until two o’clock when we will hear
Mr. Therrien. On behalf of the committee, I want to thank
Mr. Braithwaite for appearing before us.

The hearing resumed at 2 p.m.

The Chairman: Mr. Therrien, the Vice-chairman of the
National Parole Board will now examine the parole
system in Canada for us. Copies of his submission have
already been distributed.

Mr. A. Therrien, Vice-chairman, National Parole Board: Hon-
ourable senators, as you can see, this document is rather
technical. I thought it would be a good idea to examine in
concrete terms the situation of an inmate entering an
institution and possible actions by the Parole Board.

Let us take the example of an inmate who has received
a three-year sentence. This means he goes into the institu-
tion and the first time his case is reviewed by the board is
at the end of the first year he serves in the institution. At
that time he is either granted or denied parole. If he is
granted parole he will be on parole for two years. On a
three-year sentence, he will have served one-third of his
time in the institution and two-thirds on parole in the
community under supervision. If he is not granted parole
he will continue serving his sentence in the institution.

The term ‘“remission” was explained to us this morning
by Mr. Braithwaite. He will serve, through the effect of
remission, about two-thirds of the sentence handed down
by the judge in the first place. Then he will be released on
what we call mandatory supervision. So, in effect, he will
have served two-thirds of his time inside the institution
and one-third outside.

The Parole Board has no jurisdiction over the length of
time we will have control over this man. It has been set
once and for all in the sentence imposed by the judge in
the first place.
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Ordinary parole is defined in the act as ‘“authority
granted under the Parole Act to an inmate to be at large
during his term of imprisonment.” Of course, the statute
is the Parole Act and the authority is the National Parole
Board.

As far as discretion is concerned, the act says that the
National Parole Board has exclusive jurisdiction and
absolute discretion in granting parole. That discretion is
exercised within limits which are set out in the Parole Act
and the Parole Regulations. The most important limits are
the legal criteria and the time rules pertaining to parole
eligibility. The legal criteria are set out in section 10(1)(a)
of the act. They provide that the board may grant parole
if it considers that: the inmate has derived the maximum
benefit from imprisonment; the reform and rehabilitation
of the inmate will be aided by the grant of parole; the
release of the inmate would not constitute an undue risk
to society.

The eligibility rules are found in section 2 of the Parole
Regulations. This section establishes the portion of the
term of imprisonment that an inmate ordinarily serves
before parole may be granted. The general rule is one-
third of the sentence or four years, whichever is the lesser.
Eligibility is at 10 years for a commuted death sentence,
or a sentence of life imposed as a minimum punishment;
and at seven years for all other life sentences.

Section 2(2) of the Parole Regulations provides that the
Board may waive these rules if special circumstances
exist.

In cases of preventive detention—people who have been
found by the courts to be habitual criminals or dangerous
sexual offenders—there is a yearly review made by the
board under section 694 of the Criminal Code.

Concerning the conditions of parole under section
10(1)(a) of the act, the board can impose any terms or
conditions when it grants parole. In practice, the condi-
tions imposed by the board are listed on the copy of a
parole certificate. I do not know if the parole certificate
has been annexed to the document which has been
distributed.

Senator Prowse: They were distributed.

Senator Hastings: I wonder if we could stop here for a
xpoment. With respect to the section dealing with preven-
tive detention, as you say, the Criminal Code provides for
an annual review. If the eligibility date of an inmate is
January 1, and through a series of decisions by the board
you reserve a decision and render it in September, your
next review then becomes September of the following
year which, in effect, is not an annual review am I
correct?

Mr. Therrien: Yes, you mean if a board has reserved a
decision for two, or three, or five months . . .

Senator Hastings: Or nine months, and then renders a
decision.

Mr. Therrien: A decision to defer for one year, according
to the law the man has not had two reviews in two years.

Senator Hastings: He ends up with two reviews in three
years, or three reviews in five years.

Mr. Therrien: Yes, that is possible.

Senator Prowse: You do not consider that it must be
looked at in each calendar year?

Mr. Therrien: Let us suppose we set the date at one year,
in the example which you have given. This would mean
that after obtaining all the information which may have
taken five, six, seven or eight months, then you set anoth-
er date at four months from the date of the last decision.
We feel that having a yearly review creates a situation
where the man is in a perpetual state of unrest. His case is
always under some kind of consideration. It would be a
worse situation were we to say to a man, “We defer you
for four months,” and it starts all over again.

Senator Hastings: He is under a great strain during the
nine months he awaits your decision. But I think parlia-
ment intended that he be reviewed every year under the
terms of the Criminal Code. Could it not happen that a
great change could take place during this nine-month
period while he is awaiting your decision?

Mr. Therrien: When a man’s case was reviewed in the
first instance and the board decided it was not prepared
to put this man on parole at this time but it would go on
investigating, and then after nine months, or six months,
or five months, it makes another decision that the man is
not ready, or that the Board wants something more to
happen and sets another date, you could also say the case
has been reviewed three times by these three decisions.

Senator Prowse: Having reviewed a case and decided
that you are not going to let a man out, can more than a
12-month period go by before you look at his case again?

Mr. Therrien: No, that would be strictly illegal. We cannot
say, “We will defer your case for a year and half.”

Senator Prowse: In other words, if you review a man in
September of this year, you will have to look at his case
before the end of September of the following year, is that
correct?

Mr. Therrien: That is correct.

Senator Denis:
automatic?

Does he apply for parole or is it

Mr. Therrien: In these cases, the Criminal Code provides
an obligation that the board review these cases every
year.

Senator Denis: That is in these particular cases. But
generally speaking, is there a review of every case?

Mr. Therrien: This would depend on the sentence, sena-
tor. If a man is serving two years or more, there is an
obligation under the Parole Act for the Parole Board to
review his case automatically at the date set in the
regulations.

Senator Denis: After one-third of his time?

Mr. Therrien: Yes, or four years, seven years, or ten
years. Now if you are dealing with a sentence of less than
two years, the man has to apply for parole; otherwise we
do not know he is in jail.

Senator Prowse: That is if he is in a provincial
institution? ;

Mr. Therrien: Yes.
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Senator Prowse: In provincial institutions you only see
them on application of the individual himself?

Senator Hastings: They do not see him.
Mr. Therrien: Yes, we review the case.

Senator Prowse: You do not look at each case. You do not
know he is even there unless he lets you know.

Mr. Therrien: When we receive an application this is an
indication that the man is serving so many months. And
we have a rule which says that within four months we
have to make a decision in the case.

Senator Mcllraith: Reverting to cases under section 694 of
the Code, where persons convicted are kept in custody
under the sentence of preventive detention, do you know
how many of these cases there are in the whole penitentia-
ry system?

Mr. Therrien: I believe at this time, while I would not like
to be quoted on the exact figures, I can give you a fair
approximation. There are somewhere between 160 and
170 under the habitual criminals provisions and between
80 and 90 under the dangerous sexual offenders
provisions.

Senator Thompson: May we return to your eligibility
rules? By law it is one-third of a sentence, or four years.
Eligibility is at 10 years for a death commuted sentence or
a sentence of life imposed as a minimum punishment, and
at seven years for all other life sentences. Would you
know the reasons for these particular numbers of years?
Is it on the basis that the public would feel that it is a
safeguard—that he is in for 10 years, or is it that after 10
years you can carry out an assessment of a man to decide
on rehabilitation? Could you give me any reason for
deciding on those numbers of years?

Mr. Therrien: I was not in the organization when these
regulations were made and I did not have anything to do
with it. However, I suppose that this figure of 10 years
must have come about by considering the experience of
what had occurred in the past with respect to lifers. I
think there was an internal rule before 1959 under which
a man would be considered at approximately 15 years, but
the experience indicated that a large number of these
inmates could safely be released at around 10 years.

Senator Thompson: Are there actual facts with respect to
that? Has any research been carried out that would indi-
cate that?

Mr. Therrien: We have facts on the time of release of all
lifers. If the committee would like statistics in this regard,
I could provide them quite readily. We also have figures
respecting the situation since 1959, when the board took
over. Figures are also available as to what has happened
to lifers during the five-year trial period of the new sec-
tions in the Code.

Senator Thompson: It would be interesting, Mr. Chair-
man, because, as we all know, there are some who suggest
a lifer should be in for 25 years before this consideration
is given. I would like to see whether your statistics indi-
cate a 10-year period. You may even feel that it should be
less than 10 years.

Mr. Therrien: We must remember that when we refer to
an eligibility rule we are not discussing the moment of a
lifer’s release. There is some confusion in this connection.
First of all, people seem to think that life is 20 years, for
which I cannot find any basis in law. Life is life, unless a
parole is granted. The second point is that when speaking
of eligibility as 10 years people tend to think that all these
inmates are released at 10 years, which is not the case.

I can provide the figures for this class of inmate. During
the five years during which this change in the Criminal
Code with respect to capital punishment was in force the
average time at which inmates were released from this
kind of life sentence was 13.8 years. Obviously, some have
been released later than that, so when we refer to 10 years
we are not saying that all these are released after 10 years.

Senator Prowse: You are saying they can be released
before 10 years.

Mr. Therrien: That is right.
Senator Mcllraith: Some are refused.
Mr. Therrien: Oh, yes.

Senator Hastings: Can you indicate how many are
refused during one year? What percentage of murderers
are refused? I think it is important that the public know
that not all inmates are released after 10 years, but remain
for 15 or 20, and some for life.

Mr. Therrien: The best approach I could make to this
would be to provide you with statistics as to the numbers
released during the last 10 years and the precise times at
which they were released. For example, we have a table
which indicates that so many were released between 10
and 12, or 12 and 13 years, and so on, up to some who
spend 20 to 25 years. There are cases such as that.

Senator Hastings: I believe it is important that the public
should know this.

Mr. Therrien: One must be careful when referring to
refusing. Actually, we cannot just deny parole in a life
sentence. The regulations provide that once a review is
started and parole not granted, the case must be reviewed
at least every two years after the first deferral. Therefore,
in the case of a lifer, if at 10 years the board feels that any
one of the three criteria is not met, it can only defer for
two years or any intervening period.

Senator Hastings: Between 1961 and 1965 you could
invoke section 2(2) with respect to murders and parole by
exception under seven years.

Mr. Therrien: You mean section 2(2) of the Parole Regula-
tions; this section was inserted in January, 1968.

Senator Hastings: I believe it was 1967.
Mr. Therrien: 1964.

Senator Hastings: In any event, at one time over that
short period of five years you could parole a murderer by
exception; that is, he did not have to serve seven or 10
years. Is that correct?

Mr. Therrien: Yes. Before this section was added to our
regulations, the general power of exception applied to
these cases.
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Senator Hastings: How many were released by exception
during that period?

Mr. Therrien: That would be before that regulation came
into force?

Senator Hastings: Yes.

Mr. Therrien: I would not dare guess the number. I know
there were a few released before they actually served the
seven or 10 years.

Senator Hastings: What was the shortest sentence?

Mr. Therrien: I think it was 3} years. I would have to
check that.

Senator Hastings: And he has been a successful parolee?

Mr. Therrien: Frankly, I do not remember the case that
well. I know the figure of 3} years; I could not connect it
with a specific parolee now.

Senator Hastings: He is very successful.
Mr. Therrien: Well, we did not hear about it.

Senator Thompson: Could you provide the figures as to
the numbers released and their success? I am still trying
to understand why it was raised to 10 years and the
exception removed. Was this because of public opinion
which pushed for a longer term for such offenders, or was
it the fact that those who were released under the section
were achieving success?

Mr. Therrien: I do not think it was ever raised to 10 years;
this is how it started.

[ Senator Thompson: But that exception rule was included
in 1968 and then removed.

Senator Mcllraith: Was the problem not a little different?
The 10-year rule came in with an applicability, or when
we were beginning to deal with persons convicted of
murder and the other persons sentenced to life imprison-
ment on other charges, which formerly had been nearly
all the types of cases they had to deal with. It became only
a section or group of the life imprisonment cases. Is that
not where the difference in practice arose?

Mr. Therrien: It is true that during the years the same
categories of offenders have not always been dealt with in
the ‘same manner. The law regarding capital punishment
or }1fers has changed through the years. If there is at some
point capital murder and non-capital, as it was defined in

the last five years, this is quite different from what it was
before that five-year period.

Senator Mcllraith: The statistics you mentioned you
would endeavour to obtain were referred to in terms of
the statistics respecting persons who had been convicted
and sentenced to life imprisonment. Do the statistics
include all life imprisonment, or are they separate as to
those convicted of murder and sentenced to life
imprisonment?

Mr. Therrien: They give two classes; death commuted
sentences and life as minimum punishment and the other
type of life sentences.

Senator Mcllraith: Including the sentence of life for
murder?

Mr. Therrien: Yes.

Senator Denis: If you parole an inmate, let us say after
one-third of his sentence, and if he has earned some
remission because of good behaviour, is it possible that
such an inmate could be released much sooner after serv-
ing one-third of his sentence?

Mr. Therrien:
correctly.

I hope I understand your question

Senator Denis: Every month he earns three or four days
for good behaviour, or for something that was explained
this morning. Supposing he earned six months for good
behaviour or for other reasons. When you parole a man
after one-third of his sentence, is time added to that or
taken away? Can a man get out of jail much earlier than
after serving one-third of his sentence?

Mr. Therrien: Remission, either statutory or earned
remission, is not taken into account in the computation of
the date of eligibility. It means that it is not possible,
through the effect of remission, to be released before
one-third of the sentence is served. One-third is straight
time. Remission is applied only at the time the man is
released, either at that time or at the end of his sentence.

Senator Hastings: During the existence of the present
National Parole Board, with respect to the parole of mur-
derers, you have not had one repetition covering the fur-
ther loss of life?

Mr. Therrien: I want to be clear here, you are talking
about a man who would have—

Senator Prowse: Who was convicted of murder.

Mr. Therrien: Who was sentenced to death and his sen-
tence was commuted. I think there has been only one
example of that in the history of this country.

Senator Hastings: Which was in 1944. So you have not
released one man who has killed again?

Mr. Therrien: There have been cases of parolees who
have killed, but they were not in for that offence.

Senator Denis:

recidivists?

Do you parole inmates who are

Mr. Therrien: You heard this morning of the types of
intervention that can apply in a case. I would say that a lot
of the cases with which we deal have been before us
under some kind of suspended sentence or they have been
on probation. They have served a very short period of
time before, or they have received a fine at some point in
their life, they are doing time in a provincial institution or
a federal institution, and we have to deal with them. This
would depend on the way you define a recidivist.

Senator Denis: A recidivist is a man who has been in jail
twice, or three, four or five times. Can you give us a list or
the number of those who have been paroled after being in
jail three, four or five times? I want to know if, in order to
rehabilitate an inmate who has been in jail two or three
times, he is freed the same as are other persons.

Mr. Therrien: We do this, but I would not say that he
becomes free. We exercise a kind of control over him
other than the kind that says, “You must stay in the
institution!” We believe that it takes longer for some
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people to learn. We always think that it is all right to give
a chance to the 18-year old boy who stole a car, that you
can take a chance with him, but that a man who is 40, and
who has been in jail two, three, four or five times, should
be dealt with. Personally, I have always found it easier to
make up my mind when dealing with a man who is 40
than with a man who is 18. A man who is 18, I find, is
sometimes unpredictable. It may be the right thing to say,
“We will give him a chance and see how he operates under
our rules outside, in the community,” but a man who is 40
is more predictable, I think. I find that you can make up
your mind that this guy has had enough. His record may
show that he has been in institutions or before the courts
two or three times, but he has finally realized that this is
not the way he wants to spend the rest of his life, and so
he turns his coat.

Senator Denis: Has it happened that you have paroled an
inmate two or three times?

Mr. Therrien: Yes. This also has happened.

Senator Denis: What is the real reason for that? You gave
him two chances and he came back to prison for almost
the same crime—it could be for violence—and yet you put
him back into society. If you have given him a chance, if
you have paroled him once or twice and he commits
another crime of violence, or commits a hold-up, why is he
paroled again?

Mr. Therrien: I suppose the reason is that we never lose
hope of eventually sort of forcing this man to put a stop to
his criminal ways. One has to consider that when a man
ends up in a penitentiary, it means that his family life has
failed to make an honest citizen out of him, the church has
failed, and perhaps everything that has been done with
him at the juvenile court level has failed. So we are
starting from scratch, actually, and if you want to make
an honest citizen out of him, he has an awful lot to learn
about how to live honestly in society. It would be quite
natural, I suppose, to think that the first time you put him
out in society he has so much to learn that he might still
make some mistakes. So, at some point he becomes a
failure of the system and goes back to the institution. Well,
maybe he has learned so much. The next time around he
is going to learn more, up to the day when he is finally no
longer a threat to us. This is not, I think, being helpful to
him all the time. This is trying to provide some long-last-
ing protection for society.

Senator Denis: If you have paroled a man twice or three
times, does it mean that you must parole every inmate,
that you never refuse parole to anyone? If you have
paroled a man who has been accused of a crime two or
three times, is there ever a case where you do not grant
parole?

Mr. Therrien: Last year we paroled about 45 per cent of
the people who applied for parole, which means that 55
per cent of inmates who applied to us were denied parole.
This, frankly, may seem to be the thing to do, or an easy
decision, but I find it is not the easiest decision to make.
For example, if we deal with a man who, say, is doing two
years, we look at him in nine months. It may seem to be
very easy to say, “Okay, we will not parole you. You stay
in,” but the sentence is two years, and included in the
moment when a man is told it is two years is the fact that
he will be coming back into society. So it must become a

question of: Do we want him to come back after having
been told “No” a few times about parole, after having
built up more anger towards society in general; or do we
want to try to have some kind of control over him when he
comes out, and try to provide him with some assistance at
the time he comes out?

Senator Denis: Before you parole an inmate, do you get
in touch with the judge who sentenced him?

Mr. Therrien: We used to have a procedure, in the first
years of operation of the board, where in each case we
would send a form to every judge who had given a sen-
tence. We were asking the judge, “Please tell us what you
had in mind when you said three years” or “15 years,” so
that we would not defeat the purpose of the sentence. We
would try to get as much information as possible from the
judge who gave the sentence.

Senator Denis: But this is done by a form letter. You do
not get in touch with him personally or by telephone, or
anything like that?

Mr. Therrien: At that time the return rate for these
reports reached about 15 per cent.

Senator Prowse: Only about 15 per cent of the judges
answered?

Mr. Therrien: Yes. So at that point we wrote to all of the
judges in the country and explained to them that we felt
we were losing money and time going through this exer-
cise, and that we would welcome their opinions and the
reasons for judgment, and that type of thing. We also told
them that they were free to write us regarding any par-
ticular sentence.

Those who were reporting prior to the sending out of
that letter are still doing so; also, the new judges who have
been appointed since then do report to us.

Senator Prowse: Has the percentage remained about the
same?

Mr. Therrien: Approximately.

Senator Denis: Don’t you think that the judge who pre-
sides over the trial is aware of every fact and every reason
for his imposing the sentence he does? Do you not think
the judge is in a better position to judge than the Parole
Board as to whether or not a certain individual should be
given a chance? Do you not think that the judge takes into
consideration every fact before handing down sentence?
Do you not think that he is better qualified than the
Parole Board? After all, you people are strangers to the
case; you were not at the trial. Do you not think that the
judges are well qualified to decide whether or not a man
who has been sentenced to two or three years in prison
should get parole?

I am not referring to this being done through a form
letter. The judge has a great deal to do every day and
perhaps does not have time to fill out this letter and
return it. Instead of getting in touch with a community
agency to determine whether or not a man should get
parole, should you not send someone to the judge to
discuss the matter with him? Do you not think that that
would be better than the present situation of getting in
touch with him by a form letter to be filled out by him and
returned?
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Mr. Therrien: I do feel the judges are well qualified, and I
feel they take every factor that is before them into consid-
eration when they hand down their sentence. However, I
do not think they are better qualified to make the decision
with respect to parole. That decision is made at another
moment. The parole decision is made, perhaps, nine
months after the judge has dealt with the matter, or four
years after, or whatever. So I do not believe that the
judges are better qualified to make the decision respect-
ing parole.

If the country wants to have a system whereby the
judge sets the sentence and also makes the decision with
respect to whether or not parole should be granted, then
we will have to change the law. The law at this moment
says that the judge sets the sentence, and then there is a
parole authority that will interfere with that to the point
where it will change the manner in which that sentence is
to be served. It seems to me that the system we have at
this time is that the judge actually is deciding that the
state will have control over an individual for a period of
three years, ten years, or whatever, with the type of con-
trol being left in the hands of the Parole Board. Mind you,
other systems could be devised. All these things could be
decided by the judge. However, that is not our system at
this time.

As far as getting in touch with the judges on specific
cases by telephone or some other type of consultation is
concerned, this is done in some instances. I myself on a
few occasions have done this. However, some judges do
not like it. I know a number of judges in this country
whose attitude is, “Now look, in the total process of the
administration of justice we all have our bit to do. I have
done my work and the parole decision is yours. I can tell
you what I had in mind, but I am not going to tell you how
you should make your parole decision.”

Senator Hastings: Does that not lead to a breakdown?

Senator Denis: How do you explain the fact that the
citizen, the police and the judges criticize the Parole
Board? This is a constant criticism. If it is not the judge, it
is the police; if it is not the police, it is the citizens or the
press. You seem to be the one agency that is held respon-
sible when these cases fail. You must have received writ-

ten criticism from the police or from judges, or from the
general population.

Senator Hastings: From the inmates.
Senator Denis: Do you receive criticism in that respect?

Mr. Therrien: We receive critism from both sides. A cer-
tain segment of the population is saying, “Do not release
these inmates; do not release them early”; and another
segment is saying, “You are not doing enough. You are
not providing control and assistance to these people in the
community in as many cases as you could.” So I get the
notion, from the fact that we are critized from both sides,
that we in the Parole Board must have a middle of the
road attitude.

It is true that we are critized as to the time that we
release people, and we are also blamed, as was pointed
out this morning, for a good many things over which the
board has no authority—such things as failures when a
man is serving a suspended sentence, or is on probation,
or out on bail. It seems that people say that because he

was out, he was on parole. I suppose we are the most
visible organization—

Senator Denis: You mean you are both responsible.
Senator Hastings: We are all responsible.

Mr. Therrien: I think it shows that the system is complex.
It is difficult to understand all of the measures under
which a man can be out in the community. The Parole
Board is the first organization that people think about,
and they say, “Oh, he was out, so he was on parole.” It
may be that the board has not been doing enough as far as
selling what it is doing and explaining what it is doing.
People do not make the distinction between such things as
probation, suspended sentence, bail and parole.

There may also be another reason, and that is this: In
this country we have newspaper specialists on police
work and court work, but we have very few who are
specialists on corrections. We do not have people in the
newspaper field who know all of the fine print and all the
sections of the Penitentiary Act, or those of the Parole
Act, and who are aware of what is going on and can give
accurate information. I have had the experience a number
of times where someone from the press will come to see
me to get information for a story resulting from the fail-
ure in some manner of one of our parolees. In other
words, a parolee has committed a further crime so they
want to write an article on paroler. In talking to these
people I have found that they do not know what remission
is or how parole work is related to the sentence, or any-
thing about the time at which it is possible for us to
release a man on parole. As a result of this, we are always
spending our time giving basic facts. There seems to be a
lack of this knowledge in the newspaper field. I suppose
the finger is pointed at us right away because we are the
most visible organization.

Senator Denis: If a man has been released on parole two,
three, or four times, and each time he has committed
another crime, do you not feel that these criticisms are
well founded?

Mr. Therrien: There is one thing that has always sur-
prised me about this type of thing and that is this: We are
criticized if we release a man on parole who has been
sentenced to two years, and during the parole period he
fails. Supposing that same man got two years and served
the full two years in the institution and upon his release
he goes back to crime, in that case no one asks any
questions; no one says, “Well, the sentence was wrong or
the penitentiary did not rehabilitate this man.” It seems
that society accepts the fact that this individual will go
back to crime. So what is the thing do do?

Senator Denis: But at least society was protected during
that time.

Mr. Therrien: That is the only effect of it. In the case of a
two-year sentence, society was protected for 16 months.

Senator Denis: Don’t you think that that is enough?

Mr. Therrien: The chances are that he going to commit a
more serious offence.

The Chairman: Isn’t a lot of this criticism, Mr. Therrien,
due to the confusion in people’s minds? People regard
parole as an act of clemency. It is not an act of clemency;
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it is intended to rehabilitate the criminal as far as possible
in order to protect the public when he is finally released.

Senator Denis: That is fine for the first offence.

Senator Prowse: It does not interfere with the length of
his sentence; it merely determines where he will serve his
sentence.

Senator Denis: That is fine for the first offence, but when
it is two, three or four it is more dangerous than helpful.

Mr. Therrien: I think there is a basis for some people
considering this as mercy. As you know, it flowed out of
mercy. At one point our organization was called the
Remission Service. In French it was even worse; it was
called Le Service des Pardons, which was not when a man
was put on pardon; it was not what “pardon” means; he
was still under control. It was not like when you forgive
someone, unless you say, “I am giving you a conditional
forgiveness,” which is not what you are doing.

Senator Williams: A little while ago you referred to let-
ters of request or demands not to release a prisoner on
parole. When these letters arrive and are considered by
the board, perhaps a dozen or more of them, do they
influence the board to say the inmate shall not be given
parole?

Mr. Therrien: I do not believe we talked about letters of
request asking that there be no parole.

Senator Williams: I may have used the wrong phrase.

Mr. Therrien: It does happen and, of course, it is taken
into consideration. It could be said that when a parole
decision is made two things are considered: first, is the
man ready for the community; and secondly, is the com-
munity ready for the man?

Senator Williams: These requests come from the public,
who have no knowledge of the penal system within the
institution. On what do they base their request that, in
their opinion, an inmate should not be paroled or
released, which may influence the Parole Board?

Mr. Therrien: I do not want to give the impression that
this is something that happens all the time.

Senator Williams: I realize that.

Mr. Therrien: I could think of two or three cases in ten
years. If a crime is so serious that the people of the
community sign a petition saying, “We don’t want this
man back in our community,” the board will have to
consider that. On what they base this kind of thing, I do
not know.

Senator Williams: Maybe this has some relationship to
the criticism the board gets. After a justice imposes his
sentence, I, for one, cannot see what further responsibility
he has in influencing the board on whether to parole or
not to parole that inmate who is serving time; his respon-
sibilities end when he pounds his gavel and says, “I sen-
tence you to...” whatever it is. It is then in the hands of
the penal system or those in authority on the Parole
Board. This is the way it should be.

Mr. Therrien: This is the way most of the judges see this.

Senator Hastings: Is this not leading to a breakdown of
the whole system? There are the police who arrest the
man, the judges who sentence, the penal institution that
keeps him, and then the board. The man has to go through
that whole system, and one jurisdiction does not know
what the other is doing with the man; the judges misun-
derstand your work, and so on.

Mr. Therrien: I think it is a basic defect in the administra-
tion of justice. It seems that all those in these different
sectors are so busy playing their part that there is not
enough time for them to find out what is done with the
same man after they are through with him. The people at
the end of the line do not have enough time to find out
what those who dealt with the man at the beginning of the
line had in mind. The board is trying to solve this prob-
lem, but there are several hundred judges who send
people to jail in this country, and we are only nine making
these decisions.

Senator Prowse: I should like to get something clear,
which I think it is important to get clear in everybody’s
mind. When reference is made to the judges who send
people to jail now, we are including what used to be called
the police magistrates and are now provincial judges, the
district court or county court judges, supreme court
judges, and the appelate judges. Would 85 per cent of
those now in penitentiaries have been dealt with only by
those we used to call police magistrates and who are now
called provincial court judges?

Mr. Therrien: About 85 per cent, I think, or more.

Senator Prowse: In other words, when we refer to judges
we are talking about the stratum of judges who sit in the
criminal courts as provincial judges, not judges of the
Supreme Court of Canada, or the supreme courts of the
provinces—is that correct?

Mr. Therrien: That is right.

Senator Hastings: A man sentenced to six years’ impris-
onment, who bounces from place to place along this road
to the Parole Board, is in the institution two years before
you see him; you have had no knowledge of what he has
been doing, the programs he has undertaken in the insti-
tution, or what he has undertaken in the institution, or
what he has been doing at all. After serving two years in
the institution he comes before you as a stranger for a
decision. Am I correct?

Mr. Therrien: Yes. I think two things have to be consid-
ered here. First, there will be contact with the parole
organization at the time the man enters the institution.
Our staff are undertaking introduction courses, which are
conducted in most institutions, where parole is discussed,
to show that there is such a thing as parole.

Senator Hastings: You say “in most”’; how many is that?

Mr. Therrien: Most institutions. Our people give a brief-
ing on parole to new arrivals at the institution. Even that
is not enough. What you are getting at, I suppose, is some
kind of early involvement of the board in programs, so
that an inmate has an indication of what is expected of
him to improve himself in order to gain parole, and at the
same time become a better citizen. We have plans in this
respect. For example, in your province we have started—
and are extending throughout the country—to conduct
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what we call a community investigation; that is, to go to
the community from which the inmate comes to get some
information about what kind of man he is outside, what
are the factors that made a criminal out of him. This
information is given to the Penitentiary Service right
from the start.

Up to the present we have done this sort of thing but
just before the parole decision, so that the information in
the hands of the penitentiary people came mostly from
the inmate himself. They will now have something about
his lifestyle outside from the very beginning of his sen-
tence, so that they can use it all through the sentence; they
can make a better diagnosis of the problem and know
what they have to deal with. These are defects we have to
try to correct. We are now trying to get involved in the
process much earlier than we have been up to the present.
I agree it is not a very good situation when a man is
sentenced to 12 years’ imprisonment and spends the first
four years without any word from the Parole Board.

Senator Hastings: Or anyone.
Mr. Therrien: Yes.

Senator Hastings: Many men go to prison, reach grade 10,
11, 12, and even university, but nobody has ever stopped
them somewhere along the line and said, “What are you
doing about this?” until he gets to you at the end of the
line. He may have behaved himself, worked industriously
at his education or trade, but no one has sat down with the
man and taken the time to ask, “What about this?”

Mr. Therrien: The idea of the new system of getting more
information about the inmate right from the start is also
in order to get some kind of prescription program at the
start of the sentence. When he goes into a reception
centre, he may stay there for a month or so. At the end of
that stage, the people from the penitentiary and also the
people from Parole can sit together with the inmate and
say’ “The way we look at this, there are two or three
things that you should be doing.”

Senator Hastings: Early in the sentence?

/ Mr. T.herrion: Yes, early in the sentence, or right after the
induction period or when he is still in the reception centre.

Senator Prowse: If we were able to keep our prison
populations within limits that permit us to use the living
unit concept of treatment, do you see yourself as having a
representative in each one of these living units, with these
people, who would see the inmate all the time he is in
there, so that he is operating with someone who is his key

:ﬁ_tge outside, you might say? Do you see something like
is?

. Mr. Therrien: Yes, this would be part of it. Once you start
doing something at the very beginning, I believe that what
will flow from that is that you will not be able to go for the
first month and then go back to your office and not do
anything for four years; you will have to get some kind of
involvement.

Senator Prowse: Day by day.

Mr. Therrien: And you will be a link between the com-
munity and this inmate.

Senator Prowse: In other words, in a living unit you
would have a representative of the parole board, although
that individual might change from time to time as he was
rotated around in other places; but there would always be
in the living unit, from the time the fellow got into the
penitentiary, a representative from the parole board, who
would be there working with this group and passing on
the information? Would this be a useful thing or would it
not?

Mr. Therrien: The parole representative could be there.
You see, that is the crux of the thing. If you take the
parole man and you put him in an institution all the time,
he becomes an institutional man.

Senator Mcllraith: It is a method of liaison and review
continuously from the date of induction, and as you work
that out it becomes a little more complex.

Senator Prowse: It is not as easy to do it as it is to say it.

Mr. Therrien: If you want the man to bring to the institu-
tion or to the inmate the point of view of the outside, if
you want to force the inmate to think always about the
outside, he has to be from outside. The way I see this is
that if you discuss the general program at the start of his
sentence, then a parole representative has to go back and
review this man’s progress at periodic intervals; but not
stay in, because he then becomes a classification officer.

Senator Hastings: Are any of your Parole Service offic-
ers members of inmate training boards in any of these
institutions, or do they sit in on them?

Mr. Therrien: They have started to assist, to be present at
some of these meetings; but this is time consuming and we
will have to get much more staff than we had in order to
be present at all times. As far as the beginning of the
living unit community therapy is concerned, as in the case
of Springhill, our people go there regularly to meet at
night or during the day with the people in authority there.

Senator Quart: Have you a dossier on such persons—I am
sure the warden has a dossier—with monthly or quarterly
reports or progress reports that the Parole Board would
be able to consult?

Mr. Therrien: I would say we work from two dossiers.
When one of our parole officers will go and interview an
inmate, he brings with him his own file. In that file he has
information about the man’s criminal record, his life his-
tory, a police report on the circumstances of the offence;
he has pre-parole reports from all the people in the insti-
tution; but at the same time he has also access to the
penitentiary file where you will find this kind of report,
more regular reports, on what has happened to him in the
institution. As Mr. Braithwaite was explaining, the man is
assessed at monthly intervals, to decide whether or not he
should get three days. All these are in the penitentiary file,
so we have access to those two files in order to make that
decision.

Senator Quart: Do you find, Mr. Therrien, the new
system of panels going to the various institutions and
penitentiaries better than eyeball-to-eyeball consultation,
better than reading reports, as you used to do before? Do
you find it is an advantage to the board as well as to the
person applying for parole?
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Mr. Therrien: It is difficult to talk in the name of inmates,
I suppose. I would say that, in general, the reaction from
inmates has been good. They like to be able to talk to the
people who actually make that decision, even though it is
not always the decision that they want. I have had a large
number of cases where, after a hearing and after telling a
man no, he is still happy about it, as at least he had his
day in court, he had his chance of explaining his own case
to the people who make the decisions. Of course, those
who get paroled do not care that much, I suppose, as long
as they go out, whether they get a letter from Ottawa or
they have someone tell them. He goes out and that is what
he wants. As far as board members are concerned, it is a
much more time-consuming process, of course. When we
talk about a hearing, you just cannot go to make an
important decision in a man’s life without some kind of
preparation. So you have to read his file beforehand. In
the previous system, after reading that file, I was ready to
make a decision, but now that is only one step in the
process. I have read that file and I have taken a few notes
with me, and I bring it to the region where I am going.
After that I get the latest information from the parole
officer or the classsification officer, and then I hear the
inmate. After that I am going to discuss it with my col-
league on the panel and then the inmate will be brought
back and will be told the decision. It is surely time
consuming.

When you ask, “Is it more effective?” I think it is too
early to find out. I do not think that decisions will be
better if they are done here than if they are done on the
spot.

I would say that in a few cases in the previous system, it
would have been no parole; but now, once you see the
man, and he has had a better chance to explain his case
and you have had a better chance to ask the right ques-
tions, he gets a parole, whereas before he would not have
got a parole. But it works in reverse, too. Take some who
might have received parole in the previous system. Once
you pry into the thing you find that he is an undue risk
and you do not give him the parole. So, in so far as the
effectiveness of the decision in terms of recidivism is
concerned, I do not think we can say anything very much.

Senator Quart: Just thinking of myself and what I would
do if I had to decide—certainly I am not qualified to do
anything of this kind—meeting an inmate with personal-
ity, let us say, good looks, charm, call it what you like, and
another person who was not able to explain his case so
well and was perhaps dumb or bad tempered or some-
thing else, or one who would show a little bad temper,
would that influence—the question I am asking is very
unjust—in any way the members of the Parole Board who
are judging the case?

Mr. Therrien: I do not think it is unjust. I think it is the
fabric of a hearing, that is what we live with. We know, we
have to know, that there are people who find it very easy
to sell their case; we know that others are not very good at
this. Of course, we take this into consideration. If you are
facing a man who finds it very difficult to talk about
himself, you try to take all kinds of means to make him
more at ease.

I remember one hearing where the man did not talk for
five minutes. He just could not talk about himself. It was a
case where the man was doing seven years. He had done
two years and three months in the institution, and this
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was a moment when an important decision was going to
be made about four or five years of his life. He had been
thinking about it, he had been preparing for it, and it
became so important in hiw own mind that he just froze
there. So, you have to take this into consideration and do
somthing to bring the right atmosphere into the hearing,
so that you get the information you want. Now, it does not
mean that, because the man refuses to talk, we are going
to accept that. At times there are cases when he wants to
refuse or actually refuses to talk, but we will not accept
that. If there are things that we want to know about him
before we make a decision, well, he has to answer.

Now, as far as those who are pretty good at deception
are concerned that is another question. Say you are talk-
ing about a fraud artist. Well, again I suppose this comes
with experience. Once you have dealt with a large number
of these people you begin to see through them and you get
to know what kind of questions to ask. You also get to put
a proper interpretation on what they say to you.

I suppose when you start up in the parole business you
want to rehabilitate all of them; they are all “good”. It is
only through the years that you learn that a few of them
are not so good.

Senator Lapointe: Some people have complained that the
members of the National Parole Board are not close
enough to the inmates of certain regions and, therefore,
these people would favour regional boards, with perhaps
one member of the National Board sitting with them.
What do you think of that idea?

Mr. Therrien: That is something that is being discussed at
the present time. It is very much a topic of discussion
within the organization now. I suppose that there are
some good points about having people in the regions, but
there are some bad points as well. Frankly, it is a matter I
have been thinking about a great deal in the last few
months. I have not made up my mind as to the final
conclusion I will come to about whether regional boards
would be a better system.

Senator Lapointe: They say that you do not have time to
review them thoroughly and to look at this man, that man
and the other man individually.

Mr. Therrien: Well, that does not necessarily relate to
being or not being in a region. If it is a matter of time, you
can operate from here and still have the time if you have
the number of people who can spend the time.

At the moment there are only nine of us, which means
that within one month, for example, there might be four
panels going out—that is, eight members of the Board
going out during that month covering four regions—and
the next month there might be three panels going out. So
we do not have the facilities to spend all the time that we
would want to, but that is not connected with whether you
have a national board or a regional board; it could be
done with a national board.

The Chairman: But the regional board would not have to
do as much travelling. It would be much less time con-
suming, would it not?

Senator Quart: Aren’t there some provinces with provin-
cial boards? Ontario?
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The Chairman:
Lapointe.

I am afraid I interrupted Senator

Senator Lapointe: I just wanted to know whether it would
be better if you had 20 members.

Senator Mcllraith: You get into another problem when
you are talking regional boards, and that is the desire to
get relatively equal justice administered across the coun-
try on a comparable basis. I can see some grave difficul-
ties with regional boards, just as we have had very wide
regional discrepancies in the whole prison system. For
example, some of the institutions that were in existence in
some parts of the country and seemed to be reasonably
tolerable there were not tolerable in the other parts of the
country at all. I think you would have to discuss and come
to a conclusion on that whole point about the uniformity
of standards.

Mr. Therrien: In fact, that is the most serious problem
connected with regional boards. The time that you save in
travelling by having regional boards is offset anyway. It
can be organized, of course, but you would still have to
have fairly regular meetings of all these people, and then
they would still be travelling because they would have to
meet at some point in order that some uniform practice
would actually be the case in all regions of the country.

Senator Prowse: Could you work a system like this: Sup-
pose we had, for the sake of argument, five districts
across Canada in which you would have a board of, say,
three members in each district. The chairmen of those
various districts would then be the members of a national
parole board which would act as an appeal board from
the district boards. The chairmen would maintain contact
with the local boards and would know what the others
were doing. With that system, would you not be able to
maintain some degree of equality between the boards?

Mr. Therrien: There are so many schemes that one can
think of. In your proposition the chairman of regional
boards are members of a national board, but actually they
are in the regions, if I understood you well.

Senator Prowse: The chairmen would be the chairmen of
the regional boards, but they would be members of the
national board. Presumably, they would spend a certain
amount of time in both places. I am just thinking now, but
that is a suggestion that was kicked around when some of
us were talking about this whole matter. In that way you
would 'Fhen have a regional board on the spot to deal with
things immediately. It would be available for contact with
the peqple who needed it and would be in contact with the
local situation. On the regional boards, as well as profes-
sionals, you could have lay people who would be available
to the local boards, and from the local boards there would
then lie an appeal, at the instance, I would think, only of
the person who felt that he was unjustly denied his parole.
Perhaps you would want the appeal to be available to the
government as well. That would be all right, too.

So the central board would always consist of, say, three
of the five members of the central board plus two from
the other areas. In that way each board’s decisions would
be subject to appeal to the central board, which could
then work as an equalizing agency.

Would something like that be too cumbersome or would
it be possible? Is it fair to ask you that question?

Mr. Therrien: As I say, I have not made up my mind yet,
but in my opinion it is preferable to have a system in
which all the board members are at the same level and
can talk to each other on the same level. Once you get into
the kind of system where you have regional as opposed to
central, then you find one member saying, “Oh, he is a
national member and this one is a regional member.” You
also get the type of discussion where the regional mem-
bers says, “We are closer to the situation,” and that is the
end of it. “You are from Ottawa. You don’t know the
situation here; so that is the way it should go.” But it can
go the other way too. It can be, “Look! I'm on the national
board. My voice is more important. You are just local
people.”

I do not object in principle to regional boards, but I can
say that there are these problems and they have to be
settled first. You have to find the way to avoid this type of
situation I have mentioned, because it would be a bad
situation.

Senator Thompson: What is the average time that the
panel spends with each inmate applying for parole?

Mr. Therrien: I think it is about 40 minutes now. That
includes a discussion of the case with a representative
from the Penitentiary Service and a representative from
the Parole Service; it includes the hearing itself; then the
discussion and decision-making; and then the oral notifi-
cation to the inmate.

This means that there are cases on which we spend an
hour or an hour and a half, and I have even known them
to go to two hours. On the other hand, there are cases on
which we spend only 20 minutes. The average is about 40
minutes, though.

Senator Thompson: Or you might spend as little as about
two minutes in some cases, I understand.

Mr. Therrien: Not in my experience.

Senator Thompson: I am thinking of a previous discus-
sion we had with a representative of the board. We asked
him this question: “What is the largest number of inmates
you have ever seen?” And he gave us a rather extraordi-
nary figure, I thought, which worked out to a very short
amount of time that he had spent with each inmate.

My concern is: Do you think such a short amount of
time is a sufficient length of time to spend with the
inmates? You fellows must be very much harried, in my
opinion. Certainly, if you were going to employ a man in a
business you would spend a lot more time with him than
20 minutes, if it was an important job. Surely, it is a key
decision for the inmate. Do you feel that you give him
enough time?

Mr. Therrien: I do not think that 40 minutes is enough as
an average; I would very much like the average to be an
hour, but, frankly, 40 minutes is the best we can do under
the present circumstances. It means that you see approxi-
mately from 10 to 15 inmates a day. There are only so
many hours that you can be of service to an inmate. There
are too many times, I feel, when board members are still
hearing cases at 7 or 8 o’clock in the evening. I disagree
with that. I do not think we should be forced to do this,
but we are because of the circumstances and because of
the large number of cases that have to be reviewed. How-
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ever, I do not think that after five I am less of a board
member to this man.

Senator Thompson: Do you think the solution to this is to
have more members on the Parole Board? Am I right in
that, or is there another solution?

Mr. Therrien: Well, once you have started on the system
of conducting hearings, I think it is very difficult to get
out of it. One solution, perhaps, would be to go back to the
old system, but I do not agree with that. It is quite clear
that we would save time because, as te chairman was
saying, there is a lot of travelling time involved, but this is
frequently taken care of by travelling on Saturdays, on
Sundays or at night.

Senator Prowse: Did you have experience, Mr. Therrien,
in the years back when you did not see the prisoner and
when your decisions were made on the basis of files
prepared for you here?

Mr. Therrien: Yes, I was a member of the board using
that procedure from April, 1969 to January or February,
1970. Frankly, I was not too happy with it because I had
been a parole officer before, so I was used to making
recommendations and trying to make up my mind about
inmates by seeing them and talking to them. I found it
rather difficult to make these decisions just on the basis
of 10 or even 200 pieces of paper.

Senator Prowse: Do you feel that you are now able to give
better decisions, meeting the applicant face to face, than
you were able to give when you were simply dealing with
paper?

Mr. Therrien: Well, it depends on what one means by that.

Senator Prowse: Well, are you more comfortable with the
decisions you make now than you were with the decisions
you made before?

Mr. Therrien: Yes, I am; but, again, it depends on what
you mean by a “better” decision. If you mean by that,
“Does it lead to a reduction in the rate of recidivism?” I do
not think we can say that. But I am satisfied that the
decision-making process is better; I am more at ease with
my decision, and I have an opportunity to explain to the
man, especially in cases where the answer is no or where
parole is deferred for one year or for two years, just what
the situation is. I can discuss things with him and I can
say to him, “The reason the decision is no is that, as I see
your case, your problem is this, and you have not been
doing anything about it.” I feel that he should leave that
room saying, “At least they considered my case, and that
is how they see it.” He may not see it that way himself, but
he knows on what I have based my decision and he is free
to do something about it. But under the previous system
he would simply get a piece of paper saying, “Parole
denied.”

Senator Prowse: I do not know if you can answer this
question, but I shall ask it anyway. Do you think the men
themselves who now meet the Parole Board are generally
happier with the decisions for or against than they were
before, when they were merely dealing with some imper-
sonal thing covered by letter?

Mr. Therrien: This indeed was a criticism—the imperson-
ality of the decision-making process, and not knowing
who these people were who were making the decisions;
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but as to knowing how these people react when they get a
referral or a denial, I suppose your committee could ask a
few of these inmates to come along and testify.

Senator Prowse: We will.

Senator Lapointe: Do you allow the inmate to hear every-
thing said about him by the other persons during the
hearing? By this I mean the social worker or people like
that.

Mr. Therrien: Do you mean the social worker in the
prison or our own parole officer?

Senator Lapointe: Every one who testifies. Is the inmate
allowed to hear everything?

Mr. Therrien: No. We feel that the hearing is an oppor-
tunity for the man to explain his own case, and we want to
give him as much time as possible to do so. The informa-
tion from the classification officer and the parole officer
comes to us before the hearing, and usually at the hearing
itself it is a question of the man and the board member
talking—there is a dialogue—but he does not hear what
the other people are saying.

Senator Lapointe: So he does not know what these people
have reported about him?

Mr. Therrien: He does not know that, but he will know
that after the hearing. I say that because in the hearing
these things will come out, not directly in terms such as,
“Your instructor feels that you should not get parole,” or
something like that, because this is not the way it is done.
But if there is something about his lack of initiative or his
bad behaviour in the shop where he is working, then he
will know about that indirectly.

The Chairman: Or if there are psychiatric problems.

Mr. Therrien: This is another tricky thing to start discuss-
ing. We do not talk in terms of people having been either
for or against parole; but if this is to be a meaningful
process, one has to talk about the problem, and we do that
without pointing a finger at anyone. Actually, the tech-
nique is to present this as a conclusion that the board is
coming to from the reports it gets. That is how it is. When
I say to a man, “I feel you have not been doing enough on
that score,” that is my conclusion after reading the
reports on it, and this is the way I present it. They can
draw all kinds of conclusions from that, and they do,
because you cannot prevent anyone from drawing conclu-
sions, no matter what system you are using.

The Chairman: That brings me back to a matter which
you mentioned earlier. You said that you considered it
wise and helpful that the inmate should be able to express
himself and that he should be able to talk to you. You
have also said that there are inmates who can talk for
themselves, and that some are good fraud artists, but
there are others who cannot. Have you considered the
desirability of allowing some one to talk for the inmates—
and I am not thinking of counsel?

I will just follow through on that by saying that Senator
Williams impressed on us the other day the particular
problems of Indians as inmates. They may not understand
the law; their culture is different; they may not under-
stand parole. So how can an Indian, for example, in those
circumstances express himself on his own behalf?
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Mr. Therrien: I think that in the present system that role
which is important for this type of person is played by
these classification officers or the social workers in the
institution. These are the only cases where they will actu-
ally intervene in the hearing, when everyone in the room
realizes the inmate has a block of some kind and is not
able to explain his case. Sometimes you ask a question
and the answer will not be too good, or it will not address
itself at all to the question. The classification officer will
then say, “Now, look, he may be shy because he doesn’t
know you, but I have known him for a year and what he
means is this...,” or, “what he has done is this ...” Then
the inmate has a chance to say, “Well, yes, that is what I
wanted to say.” I think that role is played by the classifi-
cation officer.

Senator Hastings: But he does not know him. We have
had the evidence of a Parole Board member here who has
said that there are classification officers who do not know
the inmates. How can one classification officer with a
caseload of 100 men be prepared to make a representation
to you?

Mr. Therrien: I know what the situation is and it is not
quite as bad as that in all institutions; but at least the
classification officer, before the parole consideration, has
had to prepare a report on this man so he has met him at
least on that one occasion, but in a large number of
institutions these days they see them more often than that.

§onutor Thompson: But the classification officer may
wish to make a negative report and he is not going to be
an advocate for the parolee if such is the case.

Mr. Therrien: At the beginning of the hearing you are not
asking for opinions. You are asking for facts. What you
want to find out from the inmate are facts about his
lifestyle before he entered the penitentiary, and what he
has been doing in the institution. Surely, a professional
classification officer will remain objective on that score
and tell you what the situation is.

Senator Thompson: I am thinking of the case of an
Indian, again, who impressed me as having difficulty with
communications. He feels the classification officer does
not understand his cultural background and customs, and
perl.laps he does not. Is there any consideration given to
having a representative of a particular cultural group,
fand I am thinking of the Indians, who has an understand-
ing of Indians, who enjoys their confidence and who
might act as a cultural interpreter for you?

Mr. Therrien: I suppose that is something we might con-
sider. I do not like to talk about criminals in a general
way, and I do not think we should talk about Indians in a
general way either. As we see them, we find some of them
are pretty good at representing their cases. But I agree,
they are a class of people for whom it is very difficult. It
may be difficult for them to explain their case to a clas-
sification officer, or to a Parole Board member; but it
may also be difficult for them to explain their case to
another Indian.

During the last few years we have endeavoured to hire
some Indians as parole officers in penitentiaries. We have
four or five of them on staff now. Of course, in a regional
office where we have these people at our disposal we will
send them to interview Indians.

As far as allowing some degree of representation for an
inmate is concerned, frankly, we are very leery about
getting into this situation because once we open the door,
God only knows what kind of situation we will be forced
into. Are we going to end up having representation for
everyone? Then there are two or three people who want to
speak on his behalf and there are five people who love
him and want to talk to Board members, and there is no
end to it.

Senator Williams: There are many problems among the
Indian people in Canada. I think the greatest problem,
particularly for those in the northern parts of the prov-
inces, concerns isolation in freedom. Once they are
brought into a penal institution they have forced isolation
where they are no longer persons who can decide and
think for themselves; that is taken away from them; they
just become numbers.

What I am getting at is this: Take the inmate who has
had isolation in freedom and then becomes imprisoned
for some considerable time and has no real communica-
tion with those in authority. It may be for more than one
reason, such as a language barrier, and the isolation in
freedom of his environment. He may be a craftsman or a
fisherman. The outside world is very vague to him in his
particular area, or in his isolation in freedom. Then he
goes into an institution where there is forced isolation. He
is no longer an individual who thinks for himself. He is
told to get up at a certain time, to do certain things at
certain hours, and this is very foreign to him.

There is a barrier between his way of life and that of
society because the approach of your people were formed,
for one thing, in Europe and elsewhere. This was to put
criminals away to protect the public, not to rehabilitate
them; and it has not changed much. I have visited one of
your prisons in British Columbia three times, and there is
no form of rehabilitation whatsoever. This Indian in the
North, or elsewhere, due to poor communications with
society, does not fully understand why he is in. What did
he do wrong? This is not a wrong with my people.

Then, how can we have him apply for parole and under-
stand the system and why he is in, with people who will
stand up and speak on his behalf? Our present system
treats all as equal; that is what it is and what it was set up
for. A man may have 10 degrees behind his name, but he
is no better than the chap who has been in the woods of
British Columbia with no education whatsoever. He is
equal in this prison-type institution in which he finds
himself serving and paying society for the criminal act he
may have committed. However, with respect to the Indian,
we, you and this country cannot speak on his behalf in
generalities as a prisoner. He is treated in a very foreign
society.

What is the answer to this? All right, he may finally be
granted parole and returns to his own environment,
where he lives as he did in the past. He is told, however,
that he must report to the parole officer once a week, or
every 10 days. That parole officer may live 500 miles away
and the parolee has no means of transportation, so what
will happen to him?

I am informed that the number of Indian inmates is still
increasing. I do not know whether that is true, but there
are times when the inmate population is 50 per cent
Indian.
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Mr. Therrien: I am not too sure of your question. I would
like to say something with respect to the fate of an Indian
in an institution and what happens to him when he is on
parole. I think it is important to know how we endeavour
to treat them once they are on parole. First, a number of
the things that you say happen to Indians in institutions
are true of all inmates. This is the basis and essence of the
institution; you sort of become a number.

Senator Williams: My point is that he is not equal with
his fellow men in the way in which he is treated.

Mr. Therrien: The end result, no matter what handicaps
he has in the institution, so far as presenting his case to us
is concerned, for example, is not discrimination in the
sense that the percentage of your people who receive
parole would be less than that for whites. We have had a
number of questions in this connection during the last few
years and have researched our statistics for British
Columbia and the Prairie provinces. It always results in
approximately the same percentage making or not
making parole, whether white or Indian.

The manner in which we deal with these people once
they are released is a problem for us. We have been
endeavouring to find supervisors who are not located 500
miles from the parolee. We try to employ some of the
Indian people in communities. In some localities we have
employed Indians who work with the RCMP. We have
tried to employ numerous native organizations as supervi-
sors so that there would be a degree of communication
between the supervisor and the paroled Indian.

We would agree that to set up this list of 10 conditions
applying to any parolee in this country may not be the
best approach, but, of course, to have a set of conditions
and a practice under which they are applied may be two
different things. We attempt to take this into considera-
tion with respect to Indian parolees.

I am sure I do not have the solutions to this rather
serious problem, but I do wish to indicate that we know
there is a problem and are attempting to take steps to
correct it.

Senator Quart: Are there many cases where you require
the services of the classification officer to help out the
inmates in presenting their case? Are there many across
Canada? Maybe the classification officers could help out
very well in the case of the Indians.

Mr. Therrien: I would not say there are many people who
come to us and are unable to make a decent presentation
of their case. There is just a minority of people who
cannot present a case. I suppose use is made of “prison
lawyers.” If you know that you are going to come before
the board next month, you will try to get information on
the type of questions to be asked. What are they interested
in? What seem to be the right answers to the questions?
This goes on, I am sure.

Senator Quart: We heard testimony from three inmates
from Drumbheller. They carried on a sort of small commit-
tee for the inmates, giving them guidelines on what ques-
tions to expect from the parole officers.

Mr. Therrien: That is why personally I try to change my
questions each time.

Senator Prowse: I presume you are familiar, Mr. Therri-
en, with the practice in the Canadian Pension Commis-
sion of having pension advocates who are available to
veterans who want a pension. This man is on the staff of
each branch headquarters of Veterans Affairs across the
country. Anyone who wishes to apply for a pension can go
to this person, who prepares the case and presents it. If
the person concerned wished to get other advice, he could.
These men are highly skilled; they take real pride in the
number of their successful cases, and in the appeals they
win from the board. They take the appeals and follow
them through. Could something similar be arranged to
help men present their cases to your board or boards?

Mr. Therrien: We could initiate any kind of assistance
regarding representation, I suppose, but I really think that
in practice a lot of this goes on. Mothers are good advo-
cates. Some inmates ask a lawyer to make representations
to us; they have friends; their previous employer is a good
advocate in some cases, and he will tell us, “Look, this
man is not all bad. He worked for me for five years and he
was a very good employee.” A lot of people are making
favourable representation on behalf of most of the
inmates. It is not very frequently that we will go to an
institution and have only the application from the man
himself. In most cases we have comments from a number
of people.

Senator Prowse: You do not feel that they are suffering
any disadvantage by lack of representation in presenting
cases to you?

Mr. Therrien: Frankly, I could live with a system where
there is some kind of expert representation, maybe, but I
do not think we could do it at this time. In a number of the
American states, the practice has reached the point where
the due process is the right to have a lawyer, and if you do
not have a lawyer you are provided with one. I asked a
number of board members in some of the states about
their experience of a system where there was no legal
representation compared with the arrangement they have
now. They seemed to feel, frankly, that it does not change
the percentage of people who do or do not get parole. It
takes more time; that is the main effect of it.

Senator Prowse: I cannot see throwing the thing wide
open by having lawyers come in. I am not prejudiced
against lawyers, but I am not prejudiced for them either. I
do know from my own experience with veterans’ groups
that these men who did nothing but this became very
skilled and very competent and were able to handle things
very quickly. They could listen to a fellow and tell him
exactly what was missing in his application or what he
had to get, and there were never any difficulties because
they could handle them so well. A lawyer would be a fool
to get into this area because it would cost him money. He
could not begin to charge for the amount of time it would
take him to acquire the expertise which these men have.

Those people are still operating. There are a devil of a
lot more veterans in this country than there are criminals
and a lot more pensioners than there are criminals, and
every one of those pensioners has probably been repre-
sented at some stage by a pensions advocate.

Do you think this would make it easier for you people?
Your staff could prepare the case for presentation before-
hand. I should think it might be worthwhile to have the
department take a look at that system as it operates in the
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Pension Commission, to determine if it could not be
implemented in your area. I should think this could be
done very cheaply and that it would be very effective. You
could have one advocate for, say, each area. This would
give a good man a good job; it would keep him busy and
he would be of value to everyone and save the board a
good deal of time.

Mr. Therrien: Of course, the matter of having complete
information before the board at the time of the decision is
something that is the responsibility of our staff.

Senator Prowse: But the documentation is not always
complete.

Mr. Therrien: It is one of their responsibilities to see that
the documents required for the decision are there. If they
are not there, it is their role to get them. Your suggestion
might be useful in the representation aspect of it. I do not
know exactly what the complexities of the Pension Act
are. We like it to be done on a form which we provide, but
we will accept it in any form. Some inmates simply write
on a sheet of paper that they want to apply for parole, and
that is a valid application. There are not too many com-
plexities about that. It is strictly a matter of speaking for
the individual.

The Chairman: That is what I was thinking of.

Mr. Therrien: But at the hearing we like the individual
himself to speak to us. It is not that we do not see other
people who come to us on behalf of the individual. Our
offices across the country receive visitors every day who
wish to talk to us on behalf of some inmate. So there is
that degree of representation.

Soncxtor Hastings: It seems to me that a continuation of
this representation would just be a perpetuation of this
“v&ge/they.” This is what bothers me about it. If there is one
thing we have to break down it is the fact that the Parole
Board is rendering a decision on his behalf. To bring
counsel and other representation to a board hearing, the
hearing is liable to become just another court and any
effect that you now have you will lose.

Mr. Therrien: I am not saying it is a bad idea, but as a
matter of priority I would prefer to have more time to give
to the study of a case and to give to the inmate himself. If
we get into a nice system where we have all the time we
want and all the time that the inmate requires to talk with
the board member, then we may start thinking about it.

Senator Prowse: To put it another way, in your opinion it
would be a good deal more useful for everyone concerned
if you had five more board members than you have now,
rather than five advocates such as I was discussing. I
suppose you could get them for about the same amount of
money, too.

Mr.Therrien: I should like to have 7 additional board
members, sir!

Senator Th.omp-on: To come back to the different
paroles—ordinary parole, day parole, parole for deporta-
tion or voluntary departure, and mandatory supervision—

Senator Prowse: How did we get away down there?

The Chairman: We will be getting to those three items,
Senator Thompson. If your question is not on ordinary
parole, I would ask Mr. Therrien to go on to day parole.

Senator Hastings: Could I just ask one quick question?
The Chairman: A very quick one.

Senator Hastings: What do you mean by “parole in
principle”?

Mr. Therrien: A parole in principle is a judgment made
by the board, saying, “We have assessed the whole criteria
and find that there is no undue risk. We want this man on
parole.” Before he is actually put on parole we want one
or two things to happen, and once they have happened he
goes out. Mostly this relates to a job. The man is looking
for a job; there is a chance he may get a job two or three
weeks hence, and as soon as this is confirmed he goes on
parole.

Senator Hastings: Whose duty is it to assist him through
that period, the institution’s or the Parole Service’s?

Mr. Thgrrien: They both do it.
Senator Prowse: They are both supposed to.
Senator Hastings: What is “parole with gradual”?

Mr. Therrien: Parole with gradual is a decision when the
board says the man goes on parole at a definite date in,
say, two months; that in the meantime we want him to go
back to society, but gradually. There are two documents
that go with a parole with gradual. There is a document of
temporary parole, which is a day parole, so that he is
allowed to go out a few days a week in the first week, and
maybe the second week for the whole week, coming back
at the weekend, for a month, two months or three months,
up to the time his parole date arrives, when he goes out
with the real parole certificate.

Senator Hastings: In the interval is he under the Peniten-
tiary Service or the Parole Service?

Mr. Therrien: He is on day parole.
Senator Hastings: He is under the Parole Service?
Mr. Therrien: Yes.

The Chairman: Would you now talk to us about day
parole?

Senator Williams: Mr. Chairman, Before that I have one
question. I have in mind an Indian with no skills that
would qualify him for certain umployment, in particular
those that I have referred to as ‘“isolation in freedom.” If a
man is a trapper no one employs him; he employs himself.
If it is off-season for trapping, who employs him? Who
recommends his application for parole, when so much
depends on job availability?

The Chairman: You mean: How can he satisfy the condi-
tion which reads, “To endeavour to maintain steady
employment.”

Mr. Therrien: There are two things, before the decision
and after. If the season is one in which the man’s main
way of earning a living can be pursued, he can go to what
he usually does. If not, there are a great many who go on
some Manpower courses these days, for example.
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Senator Williams: How can manpower train a 35-year old
Indian in isolation who can neither read nor write?

Mr. Therrien: That is something the man will present to
us. We never force a plan on a man.

Senator Williams: That was your answer.
Mr. Therrien: I am giving some examples.

Senator Williams: I am referring to the problem of the
Indian inmate in getting parole.

Mr. Therrien: In getting parole?

Senator Williams: Yes. Job availability seems to control
much of the parole as it now works. If an inmate has a job
to go to his parole becomes a little easier, his application
gets a little more consideration.

Mr. Therrien: I would not say that. First, the board will
make up its mind about the man’s parolability, whether
we think he is the type of man we want out on parole.
After that we consider the conditions, what kind of job he
is going to. First, we make the decision about parole, and
after that we consider employment. It is not the case that
he does not get parole because he does not have employ-
ment. In some cases, because of what a man has done in
the past, his way of earning a living, he may not be able to
find a job from the institution where he is; he may be
going 600 miles from the institution, and we know that his
way of getting a job and earning a living is to be on the
spot and to be able to talk to the people there. If we decide
we want a man on parole, that we think he is not an undue
risk, that he has derived maximum benefit from imprison-
ment and so on, we will parole him.

Senator Williams: Suppose in the past the trapping facili-
ties have been very limited and the man has been on
welfare for four or five years, what consideration does the
Parole Board give him?

Mr. Therrien: He will get the same consideration as any
other parole applicant.

Senator Williams: There is no parole then, is that your
answer, because he has been on welfare for five or six
years?

Mr. Therrien: We do not see that as a crime.

Senator Williams: This is the problem with the Indian
people.

Mr. Therrien: It is the problem with very many white
people in some of our cities too.

Senator Williams: They choose welfare rather than work,
in most cases.

Mr. Therrien: I could not agree with that. I think there is
a percentage of people who may, consciously or uncon-
sciously, make that choice, but I think there are very
many people who are on welfare and’ it is not of their
choosing.

Senator Williams: We do not differ in our thinking on the
matter of welfare, but there is a great number of these
young people in British Columbia who are not prepared
to work and who do not want to work.

Senator Thompson: I think the point is that if this Indian
has no work, if the trapping is closed up, he has to go on
welfare; all he has to do is go on welfare.

Mr. Therrien:; No, the purpose is to decide whether he can
be allowed on parole to be sort of half free in the com-
munity, subject to certain conditions, that he will not go
back to committing crimes, and if we are satisfied that
this is the case, then he goes out. If he is going back in a
few months to the situation he was in before, we cannot
create the job for him if there is no job there.

Senator Thompson: Might I ask you about another area
from that of the Indians? I am thinking of the mentally
retarded. Do you know the proportion of those who are in
penitentiaries, or is there any way of assessing the
proportion.

Mr. Therrien: I would not like to guess any percentage. I
suppose people from penitentiaries may have this infor-
mation, when they assess the 1.Q. of these people when
they come in. I know we see a certain number of these
people who apply for parole, and it is a problem in those
cases, especially on the matter of finding employment at
times. When you review the case of such a person, he has
not been in jail for thirty years, he was out at some time
and he knows a few people, so you can go back to these
people and you can find out what he actually can do. You
try to help him find something that he can achieve out-
side. I am not saying it is easy but there are some organi-
zations that try to help these people. We try to establish a
relationship with this kind of an organization, where pos-
sible. We may refer him to a specialized agency that deals
with this kind of people and tries to find jobs for them.

Senator Thompson: I am not thinking just of mentally
retarded; I am also thinking of marginal cases who would
have difficulty in learning some of the accepted skills, and
so on. I am wondering how many of the unfortunate
population make up the penitentiary population, and I am
thinking of the difficulty of getting them readjusted.

Mr. Therrien: Yes. There is a certain number of so-called
marginal people. The first thing the board has to assess is:
What are the dangers of this man going back to crime?
Because he is marginal, it does not follow that he is going
to be a criminal. There are a number of marginal people
who actually never get to an institution. They live the
marginal life outside without getting to the system at all.
But sometimes you have a man who has been out ten
years of his life. He may have been marginal all along;
then he comes into an institution. He may be a good risk
for parole; it may be the last time he is in the hands of the
police, or the courts, or the institution, or in our hands.
You do not start to make a judgment and say, “We will
release him if we can find a job for this kind of man as a
teacher in a university”. You have to adjust your ideals to
what he can do. It may be he is going to be marginal, but
this does not mean he is going to be criminal. So you have
to satisfy yourself that this is the situation, and he stands
an equal chance of getting parole.

Senator Thompson: It has been suggested that the
requirements of parole are really middle-class values, and
that we are imposing our middle-class criteria on the
people coming out of the penitentiary. Do you think there
is any justification in that?
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Mr. Therrien: This has to be an opinion or a judgment
that one makes after so many years’ working in this, I
suppose. I do not see how you can measure that. I think it
is becoming an issue mostly because there are more of the
so-called middle-class people in the institutions than there
were ten years ago. Frankly, it is not my experience that
the so-called middle-class man has a better chance before
the Parole Board than the lower-class man, but I suppose
you have to take my word for it. I cannot prove it, any
more than I can prove the contrary.

The main aspect is that you have to consider the risk,
and you have some people from the middle class who
could be great risks as far as parole is concerned, and
they do not get parole. The same may be true of any class,
I suppose.

Senator Thompson: It seems to me that you go for refer-
ences to the church, to school teachers, and so on. These
are the people you go to, and they will say, “This fellow
has held a good job. He attended the church in the com-
munity,” and so on. So that the people who are reflecting
whether they are good bets or not are people who reflect
middle-class values.

Mr. Therrien: If people could prove this to me, I would be
very concerned about it, but the fact is that each time you
release a middle-class man because you think he is a good
parole bet, witnesses of that release will say, “Oh, you see,
it is easy for middle-class people to get parole.” I do not
see how you can fight that. That is just the way people will
react each time you do it.

At the same time, you have to think in terms of not
going to the adverse position of saying, “Because they are
middle-class they have to stay in, because we don’t want
to be accused of discrimination or preferential
treatment.”

Senator Williams: In these penal institutions, who are
considered middle-class men?

Mr. Therrien: I have been saying all along “so-called
middle class”. There may be a number of definitions. You
are dealing with the white-collar type of criminal, for
example, the man who may be a lawyer or a druggist.

Senator Williams: I have no idea what a white-collar
criminal is.

Mr. Therrien: Again, these are all labels. They represent
the rga]ity behind the label, some in a better way and
some in a worse way, but at times labels seem to be useful
as a means of talking about certain classes of people. If
you are talking about a lawyer who is doing time for some

fraud or other, most people would say, “Oh, he is middle
class.”

The Chairman: Would you now clarify day parole for us,
Mr. Therrien? And, for my personal information, would
you differentiate between day parole and temporary
absence, and tell us whether you consider it a satisfactory
system that two different bodies are involved—that is, the
Parole Board in respect of day parole, and the Penitentia-
ry Commission in respect of temporary absence?

Mr. Therrien: One thing I tried to do in this document
was to say a few words about the term “day parole” itself.
First, I think it is a misnomer. It may create confusion in
the sense that people think of day parole as implying a

return to the institution each night—the man goes out
every day but comes back every night. That is the situa-
tion in day parole some of the time, but it is not always the
situation; it may be something else. Actually, it should be
called “temporary parole,” because it can be the situation
where the man goes out during the week and comes back
during the weekend. That is all included in what they
refer to as “day parole” in the act, and which, in my
opinion, should actually be called “temporary parole.” So
it is a parole, the terms and conditions of which require
the inmate to whom it is granted to return to prison from
time to time during the duration of such parole, or to
return to prison after a specified period.

Now, you have asked the question: What is the differ-
ence between day parole and temporary absence? Some
of the words that are used are the same, like “from time to
time,” but at some point we have tried to define this
difference, and this is what we came up with. We have
always seen day parole as part of an organized program,
planned mutually by the penitentiaries and parole staff,
designed to involve the offender in a community, educa-
tional, employment or other program which is anticipated
to extend beyond 15 days. While temporary absence is
something less continuous than this, it will be relatively
short, except for medical reasons, of course, and involve
the offender being in the community for specific short-
term periods, with or without supervision.

In day parole, of course, we always provide for supervi-
sion, either by one of our parole officers or a parole
supervisor from a private after-care agency. We use day
parole in the way that I explained when answering one of
your questions; that is, as a preparation for full parole, in
the sense that the man has been in the institution for so
long that it would be unreasonable one day to take him
out of the institution and put him out on the street where
he finds himself on full parole in amatter of one day or
one hour, which is the way it was done 15 or 20 years ago.
At that time a man would do 12 or 15 years, and then one
day notification would arrive at the institution and he got
a parole. At 9 o’clock in the morning they put a suit on
him and they put him out on the street. So now we have
devised this gradual system, and this is one way in which
day parole is used.

It may also be used in a case where it is felt that the man
is really not a very good bet for full parole, but it is felt
that he should be worked with in the community, at the
same time having some kind of stricter control over him,
with the result that each night or each weekend he goes
back to the institution. At the same time you want to teach
him to work because perhaps his problem is that he has
never held a good job outside; or, on the other hand, he
may be pretty good at getting a job but has never succeed-
ed in keeping one. So you want to teach him that when he
gets a job he must try to keep it. Therefore, you want to
give him the opportunity and at the same time have some
control over him, and you have more contact with him on
day parole than you would have with him if he were on
full parole.

You have these two elements: it can be a kind of testing
period bebore he comes to full parole; or, as I have said,
he may be a person you may not want to put on full
parole, but you would still try to bring him back to the
community gradually.
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The Chairman: Is he released on day parole for a fixed
period?

Mr. Therrien: As an internal policy, the board has decid-
ed to make these decisions three months at a time. For
example, we may have a case where we will say to our-
selves, “Well, we need to know more about him before we
make a decision on full parole, and obviously we will not
learn more about him by having him remain in the institu-
tion, so we will try and get that information by letting him
out on day parole for three months.” Now, this will be the
stricter kind of day parole; he comes back to the institu-
tion every night. After three months we make an assess-
ment of what has happened during the three months, and
if we find he is progressing, we can extend these condi-
tions and we can decide that he need only go back, say,
four or five times a week. Then we may decide that he
need only go back at weekends. You can do this for up to
a year, and there is no law which forces us to do this, but
it is a decision which the board has come to by experi-
ence. We have found that after a man is on such a pro-
gram for a full year, you have to make a decision one way
or the other: either you want him outside or you do not
want him outside, and you have to make up your mind.
You cannot stretch a period like that for two years. The
inmates say that this is more difficult to abide with than
full parole. They say you become schizophrenic, because
at the same time you have to abide by the laws of a free
society. But then you are not really that free because you
have to return to the institution.

The type of practical situation is that you hold a job
during the day, you begin socializing and you make
friends with some of your co-workers. After a few weeks
they say to you, “Tonight my wife and I are going to have
two or three friends in. Will you come?” but he has to
refuse because he is going back to the institution. This is
very rough on inmates. They find this situation very dif-
ficult, more difficult than with full parole.

Senator Hastings: With respect to day parole to a convict-
ed murderer, you consider yourself governed by section
684(3) in granting day parole?

Mr. Therrien: Yes, we would also be governed by a sec-
tion in our regulations which says we have to go to the
Governor in Council.

Senator Hastings: That is the section to which I am
referring.

Mr. Therrien: Well, these are two different matters. We
have had section 684(3) for five years; but at the same time
there is also a section in our regulations which deals with
this situation.

Senator Thompson: I suppose day care implies that the
institution is near to cities where there are opportunities
to work, or to go to university.

Mr. Therrien: As you know, there are more institutions
now than we had five or ten years ago, so it is now easier
to conduct day parole programs than it was five years
ago. If an institution is near a city where there is a pool of
jobs available, usually we use one of the minimum securi-
ty institutions for day parolees. For example, in Quebec
there is a dormitory which accommodates 25 people, and
it is only for day parolees who go out during the day and
return at night, or who go out during the week and return

for the weekend. We can also use community correctional
centres which are springing up across the country, such
as those in Montreal, Toronto, Winnipeg, Saint John, Van-
couver. We use these for day parolees.

Senator Thompson: It would be more advantageous for
the Indian if there was an institution near his type of job
opportunity in the North, so he could trap by day and
return to the institution at night. Job opportunities for
him are very limited in the city, in view of his past experi-
ence, so it is unfair to him.

Mr. Therrien: Well, I do not know what the proportion is,
but some of these people are quite prepared to hold jobs
near the jail where they are incarcerated, obviously
because it is not possible for them to obtain parole in the
region where they usually live. But this is also true for
people in Montreal. For example, in Quebec most of the
institutions are situated near Montreal. The situation is
exactly the same for people who come from the Lac
St-Jean district, the Gaspé, or Three Rivers, where we do
not have federal institutions. They are all centred around
Montreal, so they are in exactly the same situation. If they
are going to get day parole, they will have to work around
these institutions.

Senator Thompson: Do you think it would be advanta-
geous? I am reading this article which appeared in
Maclean’s magazine with the suggestion of mobile prison
units such as on a freight car travelling to a camp. Do you
see any advantage for this particular category of inmates
in providing a lock-up for them near a centre of work to
which they are used?

Mr. Therrien: I have never run a penitentiary or jail
system, but my offhand view would be that I would not
like to have too many of this type of institution. I would be
very much afraid of getting into the business of road
gangs, with too much authority in the hands of too many
supervisors with whom I would not have much contact. I
would be very leery of going into this type of program.
Also, you can never solve all of the problems. How many
of this type of mobile institution would be required?

Senator Thompson: I wish to clarify this point. I do not
mean a work gang such as those that exist in Arizona or
somewhere such as that.

The Chairman: Georgia.

Senator Thompson: I mean facilities for someone who
might be adapted to trapping. We might ask the RCMP to
provide a lock-up where he can serve some of his time, or
a facility such as a boarding house where he can return
and sleep.

Mr. Therrien: How many such institutions would be
necessary to cover the northern areas of the four prov-
inces, or nothern Ontario? I do not know.

Senator Thompson: My point is there are none, but I think
that with imagination we could acquire accommodation
and arrange that it be used as institutions.

Mr. Therrien: But I would still hold to my idea that there
are risks involved in this. I do not think that when these
programs such as road gangs were started in the United
States it was done in order that it would allow brutality.
There is always the risk that these conditions will arise in
this type of program.
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Senator Thompson: I am not speaking of places where
prisoners go to work for contractors, but of a fellow who
is trained, for instance, in trapping, a solitary figure. If
there were flexibility for this, he might go for a month on
his trap line and when he comes back stay in a place
stipulated by the board, which would be designated as a
penitentiary. In actual fact, however, it may be the quar-
ters of the RCMP officer and his wife. This would give
such inmates an opportunity to move outside, but under
supervision.

Mr. Therrien: Such programs are in effect from provin-
cial institutions which are not situated so near the larger
centres in the southern parts of the provinces. There is
nothing to prevent us doing this with the day parole
legislation in existence now. It does not force us to insist
that the men return each night, but from time to time.
They can also be allowed to go out and return to prison
after a specified period. There is nothing to prevent such
an inmate going on his trap line for a month and
returning.

Senator Hastings: I was interested in your reasons for
day parole; you said education and employment, which
are practically the same as the reasons for the temporary
absences which were granted. The general complaint is
that decisions are hard to come by. When the local com-
munity needs help or labour it needs it immediately and
cannot await a decision of your board. You realize that I
am not criticizing you; I know how overworked you are
and how difficult these decisions are to make. What would
you think, however, of giving the day parole decision to
the director and your district representative?

Mr. Therrien: First, I think this could not be done under
the existing law. Secondly, there are certain principles
that must be applied to this. We are discussing releasing
inmates. I do not believe that such decisions to release are
made just because a job becomes available. This is a
decision which is arrived at after making a proper assess-
ment of the case. I do not believe that availability of
employment should exert too great an influence over an
asessment of whether we wish to release an individual,
and I do not believe in making such decisions quickly.
They should be made as quickly as possible, as long as the
proper assessment is made. I believe that the solution to
this will be reached through the program I was explain-

ing, under which we start to work with the man right from
the start.

Actually, I can envisage a system where at some point
you could go to a man rather early in the sentence and tell
hu"a, “Now look_, this is the direction in which you are
going, and we will be prepared to entertain an application
for day parole, for employment or for education, at
approximately that time in your sentence.” There is a
program that he knows about, and it is not a decision that
is made just because some local contractor wants a man
to work on a forklift, or something. I am not going to
change my mind.

Senator Hastings: You do not believe that type of labour
contributes to his rehabilitation?

Mr. Therrien: If there has been an assessment of what the
program is for this man, what the problems are, whether
it will form part of a plan to make a decent or honest
citizen out of him. If it is only a matter of, “Well, it’s too

bad. He has been in prison for three years. There is a job,
and we are going to send him to the job” That is not the
way parole decisions are made.

Senator Hastings: I do not believe in that, either; but
don’t you believe that a director of an institution or a
district representative can make an accurate decision, or
just as accurate a decision as the board, which takes six
or nine months?

Mr. Therrien: Well, it does not take six or nine months: in
most cases the time is four months; in some cases it is less
than that, even for day parole. What has happened in
practice in a number of cases is that the board has been
approached regarding some of these requests when the
job was there. The board has never liked to be asked
today, “Will you release this man tomorrow because there
is a job waiting for him at 9?” The board does not want to
work that way. It has been a problem. Personally I am
going to fight against that. I want to make a proper
assessment. Even with day parole you have first to make
up your mind that the man is not an undue risk for
society. You have to have reports on what assessment was
made of him when he came in, and what he has done in
the right direction since then. You then make a decision
about parole, or even day parole, because the same crite-
ria apply. When you are making a decision about day
parole, you are not thinking in terms of whether or not he
has done enough time. You think in terms of whether it is
going to help his rehabilitation, and whether he consti-
tutes an undue risk for society. Once you satisfy yourself
on these two criteria, you can then start talking about
planning.

The Chairman: Would you say that those criteria are not
applicable to temporary absence for purposes of
rehabilitation?

Mr. Therrien: I think the risk criterion is embodied in
section 26. I am not familiar with it, but I think the risk is
embodied there.

Senator Hastings: If I am a director of an institution
which has had a man for three or four years, along with a
district representative I could make just as accurate a
decision as the Parole Board in Ottawa with respect to
day parole.

Mr. Therrien: I am not saying that it is not possible; I
think it is possible. But to me the facts are that you have
to have at some point one authority that is responsible for
the people in the community. My own feeling on this is
that since we are blamed for all these things, we might as
well be responsible for the decisions.

Senator Thompson: But you are not responsible for the
fellow on temporary leave.

Mr. Therrien: What we were saying about regional boards
might be a partial answer to this.

Senator Thompson: From listening to what has been said,
it seems that economically day parole is a good thing. It
seems a good thing from a rehabilitation aspect, but I am
wondering about the eligibility clause. You may have
someone within that category, and with the rigidity of it
he cannot go out on day parole until he has completed
four years, or wherever it is, of the 10 year sentence. Am I
right in that understanding?
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Mr. Therrien: Except that the Board has an internal rule
which is set out here, which states:

As an internal policy, the Board has decided that it
would not entertain applications for day parole earlier
than one year prior to the eligibility for ordinary
parole.

So, actually, in the case of a man doing three years, for
example, technically he could be released on day parole
from the first day. However, if a man is doing 12 years, he
is eligible for parole at four years. We will not look at a
day parole application unless he has served three years.
We are prepared to try him on day parole for one year,
and then he is eligible for full parole.

Senator Thompson: But an individual serving ten years
would have to be in for nine years before he is eligible for
day parole?

Mr. Therrien: In this case we could not do anything
because of section 2, paragraph 3 of our regulations which
states:

A person who is serving a sentence of imprisonment
to which a sentence of death has been commuted,
either before or after the coming into force of this
subsection, or a person upon whom the sentence of
imprisonment for life has been imposed as a mini-
mum punishment after the coming into force of this
subsection, shall serve the entire term of the sentence
unless, upon the recommendation of the Board, the
Governor-in-Council otherwise directs.

Since we have had this rule there has been no case where
a man has been released on day parole before the 10
years.

Senator Thompson: I understood that in the Truscott case
that boy was allowed out—

Mr. Therrien: He served more than 10 years.
Senator Mcllraith: After 10 years.

Senator Thompson: I thought he was allowed to go to an
outside institution, to some school outside the institution.

Mr. Therrien: That is at the beginning of the sentence. He
was in an institution.

Senator Thompson: I thought he was allowed to go to
school outside the institution.

Mr. Therrien: No, he was inside all the time.

Senator Prowse: But they do go out on temporary
absence permits for educational purposes within the 10-
year period?

Mr. Therrien: Yes.

Senator Thompson: So you can get around it for a fellow
who has to wait for 10 years by calling it temporary
absence as opposed to day parole.

Senator Prowse: No, they do not.
Mr. Therrien: We do not do anything or call it anything.

Senator Mcllraith: There was a legal point raised. The
provision in the Code says, “. .. shall not be released . ..”
and, of course, a temporary absence is a release.

Senator Hastings: That means permanently.
Senator Mcllraith: There was a big argument on that.

The Chairman: there is one more item on parole which I
do not think will take very much time.

Do you just want to read what you have there, Mr.
Therrien?

Mr. Therrien: We were asked to say a few things about
parole for deportation or volumtary departure. The same
things apply to this as to full parole, except that on the
parole certificate the only condition is that the man agrees
not to return to Canada for the duration of his parole. If
he does come back, the penalty is parole revocation.

Senator Prowse: Which means he goes back to jail.
Mr. Therrien: Yes, to serve the balance of his sentence.
The Chairman: The final item is mandatory supervision.

Mr. Therrien: Mandatory supervision applies to all
inmates who are released as a result of 60 or more days of
remission. This, as I said earlier, takes place at about the
two-third mark of the sentence, namely, one quarter of
statutory remission plus three days per month. This
amounts to about one-third of the sentence. The statute is
the Parole Act; The authority is the Parole Act, not the
Parole Board.

The only discretion invested in the Parole Board as far
as mandatory supervision is concerned has to do with the
imposition of conditions. There is a section which says
that we can impose any condition we want on the manda-
tory supervision, notwithstanding that we are not the
authority who decides to release the man. It is the law that
says he is to be released. The conditions are the same as
those for full parole.

If I may, Mr. Chairman, there was a technical point
raised this morning concerning earned remission. The
question was asked as to whether or not it is possible to
lose earned remission. the example that was given was
that if you go out on parole on mandatory supervision,
earned remission is included in your parole time, so you
actully do it on parole. What happen if you commit a
crime and there is a parole forfeiture or a parole revoca-
tion so that you go back to the institution? Earned remis-
sion that was to your credit at the time you were released
on parole is given back to you at that time.

Senator Prowse: When you go back in.
Mr. Therrien: Yes.

Senator Prowse: You get the earned remission but lose
the statutory remission.

Mr. Therrien: You lose about three-quarters of it, because
once you go back for the rest of the time you get a quarter
of the rest.

Senator Hastings: So you are credited with your earned
remission when you return?

Mr. Therrien: That is it.

Senator Hastings: Which applies to mandatory supervi-
sion too.
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Senator Lapointe: Are there any cases of inmates want-
ing to remain in the institution, not wanting to come out?

Mr. Therrien: We have not experienced this yet.
Senator Hastings: There is one in Prince Albers.
Senator Mcllraith: Yes, there is one.

Mr. Therrien: Is he still in, even though his time is up?

Senator Hastings: There is one eligible for parole who
wants to stay; he does not want parole.

Mr. Therrien: That is for parole. There is a fair propor-
tion of people who say they do not want parole at the time
of parole eligibility. Are you talking about mandatory
supervision?

Senator Lapointe: Yes.

Mr. Therrien: I do not know of anyone who has refused to
go. I know of a number who say they do not want to abide
by the conditions or that they will not abide by the
instructions, which then becomes a case for suspending
the mandatory supervision or revocation. I do not know of
anyone who has actually refused. I do not know how this
can be done. The law says you go, so you go.

Senator Prowse: Suppose I am an inmate doing ten years;
I have been a very good boy while in there, but I do not
want any part of parole. What would I get off altogether?
On the statutory, a quarter of it would be two and a half
years; then I would have three years coming to me at that
point, and I would be out after about six and three-quar-
ter years.

Mr. Therrien: Six years and eight months approximately.

Senator Prowse: I go to the end of the time. Under the old
system I would then come out and that would be it. Now
what happens? I come to that point, I go on to this system
and I am now on parole. If I get into any kind of trouble in
the next three years I am brought back to do the rest of
my three years over again.

Mr. Therrien: Yes, the situation you describe is exactly
what is happening.

Senator Prowse: This upsets a lot of prisoners, does it
not? Do you know? I do not suppose I should ask you that
question. I have had some letters on this subject, and I
know Senator Hastings has had a lot of people talk to him,
and also a great many letters, showing that this has really
upset people, because they feel that with this mandatory
supervision the government suddenly took away from
them by this legislation something that had been theirs at
the time they were sentenced; in other words, this does

not apply to people sentenced after mandatory supervi-
sion came into effect.

Mr. Therrien: Oh yes.

Senator Prowse: It applies to everybody in jail at the time
it came into effect.

Mr. Therrien: No.
Senator Hastings: Only those after.

Senator Prowse: It applies only to people sentenced after
this?

Mr. Therrien: August 1, 1970, is the cut-off date. This does
not apply to anyone sentenced in July, 1970. It applies to
those sentenced after August 1, 1970. It means that the
first people who were released were released around
December, 1971, under that scheme.

Senator Hastings: How many were returned in 1972 for
violation of mandatory supervision?

Mr. Therrien: In 1972 there were 58. I know we have
started to look at the situation, and this is not a true rate. I
do not know the exact number of those who have been
released on mandatory supervision since December, 1971,
but I do know that 17 per cent of those who have been
released have been returned since then.

Senator Prowse: That is on mandatory supervision?

Mr. Therrien: Curiously enough, it would be the same
percentage as on full parole.

Senator Hastings: How many of those are revocations
and how many forfeitures?

Mr. Therrien: I do not have these figures here but I could
provide you with these figures.

Senator Lapointe: What is the difference between proba-
tion after imprisonment and mandatory supervision?

Mr. Therrien: That is a good question. I guess that the
authority for mandatory is in the Parole Act; probation
after imprisonment is a decision that a judge has taken.
There is a difference in the sense that if probation is
included in your sentence you are going to be supervised
by a probation officer, who is a provincial employee. If
you are on mandatory supervision, you are going to be
under a parole officer or an after-care agency working for
the Parole Service. About the same conditions will apply,
because in general the conditions that are asked of a
probationer are about the same as those that are asked of
a parolee.

Senator Prowse: The effect is approximately the same; it
is the way in which it happens that is different.

Mr. Therrien: I think it is really a confusion of roles. All
along, probation has been defined as something that you
do instead of imprisonment, and parole is something that
follows imprisonment. But now we have probation
instead of imprisonment and after imprisonment, and
parole after imprisonment, so I do not see the logic of it,
but we live with it.

Senator Lapointe: In some of the briefs it is recommend-
ed that probation after imprisonment be abolished. What
do you think of that?

Mr. Therrien: I am not making the laws. If a man is going
to get a parole during his sentence and at the same time
there will be a probation period, it allows for a longer
period of control by the state. If he gets two and two—two
years in jail and two years probation—and suppose he
gets parole after one year, it means he will be on parole
for one year and then probation starts, so he is going to be
on some kind of control outside for some three years. This
can be achieved through parole laws, too, in many ways.
It may ensure that a man who is not going to get a parole
is going to get some kind of supervision after the sentence.
If you think in terms that only 45 per cent of those who
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apply actually get parole, it means that 55 per cent get out,
and then some are on mandatory; and then the jail case,
for example, some do not get mandatory. For even a short
term, three months, plus two years’ probation, you may
not get parole, but the two years’ probation ensures that
there is some control and assistance for you after you
have finished your jail sentence.

Senator Hastings: You had 5,000 men out on parole on
December 31. How many of those were under mandatory
supervision?

Mr. Therrien: Frankly, I am not very good at figures; I
think it must be just a few hundred.

Senator Prowse: I think it was 94.
Mr. Therrien: I may have something here.

Senator Hastings: You released about a thousand this
year from penitentiaries. Are we not using the Parole
Service to enforce this mandatory supervision over men
who do not want it and who will not benefit from it?

Mr. Therrien: As you know, parole is often defined—and
this is the way I see it—as control and assistance. They
may not want assistance; they may not want control. It
may be a way that society does exercise some kind of
control over these people, and it may be they represent a
greater risk to society. The experience up to this point,
from talking with the parole officers who have been deal-
ing with people on mandatory, is not so bad. They say that
in general the first interview is bad, the second one, too;
the man is not happy about being forced to go by these
conditions. Then he realizes he has to live with it, and he
starts working. It may be he is the type who does not like
to ask for assistance, but since the guy is there and he has
to come, they are going to talk about something, and they
talk about some of his problems. He finds, “These parole
officers, I thought they were all bad, but they are not so
bad.” It is said that after a few weeks some kind of
relationship is established. I would suspect that after five
years we will find that the percentage of those who break
mandatory is not going to be so much greater than those
who break parole, even though we consider them to be
good risks and so on.

Senator Prowse: As a matter of fact, they should be on
parole.

Mr. Therrien: I have the figures for you here, Senator
Hastings. It is 549 at the end of December, 1972.

Senator Hastings: Do you consider parole an extension of
custody or an extension of freedom, Mr. Therrien?

Mr. Therrien: I think it is a mixture of both, sir.

Senator Prowse: You phrased your question wrongly,
Senator Hastings.

Senator Hastings: Well, you phrase it.

Senator Prowse: All right, I will try. Do you consider
parole an interference with the sentence of the court or an
administrative decision as to how the court sentence is to
be carried out? That is a double-barrelled question which
is probably leading, but let us leave it at that.

Mr. Therrien: I do not consider it an interference with the
court. I would hope that it would be seen as just another

step in the continuum of the administration of justice. I
think we will never get anywhere in the administration of
justice as long as the situation which Senator Hastings
was describing continues to be our life story—the separa-
tion between all the interventions that are made with
respect to an inmate. We are a long way from that. The
different sectors have to meet and talk and realize that
they are all trying to achieve the same end, and that they
are all dealing with the same people; and we have to
arrive at a day when there is some kind of consensus as to
what we want to achieve when we send a man to jail or
put him on probation, or when we keep him in jail or
when we parole him. All these people have to have one
aim in mind, it seems to me.

Senator Hastings: The protection of society.
Mr. Therrien: The protection of society, yes.

Senator Prowse: The other day I was looking at some
figures in the Solicitor General’s report for the last year. I
have not the figures with me, but that does not matter.
They gave the average earnings of parolees, and some of
them were distressingly low.

Do you have any facilities at all? Are there any funds
into which your parole servicemen can reach in order to
give these men financial assistance to get them over dif-
ficult times when they are trying to find a job, other than
directing them to civilian agencies?

Mr. Therrien: I am not too sure if you are talking about
financial assistance.

Senator Prowse: Financial, yes—dollars, money.

Mr. Therrien: There is what we call a parolee fund or
parole fund, where we can make a loan. We do not like to
give money. Frankly, I would not like to be giving money
to these people. I believe in entering into some kind of
contract with them, saying, “Now, look, you are in a bad
spot. It is Friday night. It is five o’clock. There is no way
you can get help or financial assistance. We will make a
loan to you.” So we will lend him $10, $15 or $20, and he
signs a paper agreeing to give it back to us, and then itis a
revolving fund.

Senator Prowse: But you do have a fund of that type?

Mr. Therrien: Yes. But we do not have $2 million per
office.

Senator Prowse: What I am wondering about is this—
various figures have been loosely thrown around, and I do
not wish to argue about what they actually are; but we are
told that it costs roughly $10,000 a year to keep a man in
prison while it costs $500 a year to keep him on parole.
Now, if a man is out of prison and he is unable to live,
might it not be useful for us to take some of that $9,500
that is being saved and make it available to help him over
that first period when he is trying to get established, so
that he will not be readily available to be enticed back into
crime? Do you think some device of this kind might be
useful?

Mr. Therrien: I am not too sure that my own thinking—
and I am going to be very personal here—goes with what
we usually do. I do not believe in setting up specialized
agencies to give money to these people. Our purpose is to
have them become law-abiding, or at any rate like the rest
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of us, and therefore I think that as soon as possible you
should make them use the agencies available and that
they would use if they were not criminals. The other thing
I do not like is to say, “Parole is a good thing because we
save money through it.” If this is going to be a considera-
tion in the measures we take regarding criminals, then I
can find you some very economical measures.

Senator Prowse: Then, let me put it this way: Would we
be doing something useful if we suggested that men in a
penitentiary, whether we pay them wages or not, should
be enabled to build up what they would be doing in
industry—that is, unemployment insurance benefits, and
things of that sort—on which they would be able to draw
from the time they left the penitentiary until they could
get a job? What would your feeling be about that?

Mr. Therrien: I feel great about it. That is what we try to
do through day parole. We send a man out to work, and
we actually try to have some degree of control over his
finances. You set up rules for him, and you say to him,
“Now, you are going to send so much to your wife, and so
much is going to stay there so that when you come out on
full parole you will be able to see ahead of you for a week
or two or three”. We try to do this.

Senator Prowse: If, while they are in jail, we give them
credit for X dollars a day, and then we subtract from that
so many dollars for their cost of living and various other
things like that—contributions to welfare and unemploy-
ment insurance—then, when they came out, they would
have some kind of a balance, perhaps a very small one,
and they would have the same kind of credits as every
other man coming off a job. Would this, in your opinion,
help these people to reintegrate themselves into society in
a useful way?

Mr. Therrien: I think it would counteract some of the bad
feelings you get in an institution where, in some cases,
people really do work hard and at the end of the day there
is $1.25 or 85 cents or something like that to their credit.
Anything that would seem to attach importance to the
work that they do would be useful. It is all right to say,
“You work because you have been sentenced to work, but
there is a value attached to work too on the outside.”
Some of these people have been working only when in
institutions, and if we leave them with the impression that
they work only because they are forced to, and if they do
not get too much pay for it, then when the man is outside,
work is associated with something that he is forced to do
and it is not something he does because he wants to do it.

In France they have a system somewhat along these
lines. In some institutions they pay the kind of salary they
would get on the outside, but then certain rules are
imposed as to how they may use it. If I remember correct-
ly, one-third of it will go for restitution, for example, if
that has been ordered by the judge; one-third of it can be
sent out to his wife or his family; and the remaining
one-third has to stay there as, what they call, un pécule. I
do not know what the word is in English, but that
becomes his going-out money.

Senator Lapointe: Is it true that judges are imposing
longer sentences now because they know that parole will
have the effect of shortening the sentence?

Mr. Therrien: Frankly, I could not say on what the judges
base their sentences. I do not know that they do this. I
know it would be illegal.

The Chairman: But it has been suggested.

Senator Quart: And it has been reported in the newspa-
pers, too.

Senator Prowse: It has been admitted.

Senator Quart: Mr. Therrien, have women committed
more crimes within the last year or two than they did
previously?

Mr. Therrien: Well, it does not seem to show in the popu-
lation. I do not think the population of women in institu-
tions has increased to any degree. I know that just like the
boys, a number of girls are in institutions for a new type
of offence, drug offences. But it does not seem to have
increased the population very significantly.

Senator Quart: Do you have as many women as men
return on a second offence after being paroled?

Mr. Therrien: They seem to return at about the same rate.

Senator Quart: I may be very unpopular among members
of my sex in saying this, but I read a report last week—
and I wish I had kept it—that in the United States
research indicates that as a result of the women’s libera-
tion movement crimes committed by women have
increased with all this permissiveness.

Senator Prowse: No, no, the convictions of women.

Senator Quart: Well, they have to commit something to
be convicted.

Senator Prowse: They used to be chivalrous to women,
but women do not want chivalry any more.

Senator Quart: We do, too. Certain types of women may
not want chivalry, but I do. That article was in the paper
last week. I am serious about this.

The Chairman: Your complaint is that the women’s lib.
movement has not been as successful in Canadal!

Senator Prowse: Mr. Chairman, I submit this is not really
our business. We have troubles enough. I think the
women’s lib. movement has been very successful in
Canada.

Senator Quart: I don’t.

During the war and after World War II various service
clubs, such as the Kiwanis and Rotary, used to offer to
take up to six or ten men for their weekly meetings. Could
we not ask these service clubs to co-operate and help in
the rehabilitation of prisoners? At the end of the war
many of these men found positions by chatting with some
of these businessmen.

Mr. Therrien: This is being done. We are moving more
and more into situations such as this under the general
heading of ‘“community involvement,” where we are
trying to involve not only the so-called experts, but people
gn_lthe outside who can help a man when he comes out of
jail.

I can cite you one example where we conducted a day
parole program out of Dorchester. The Junior Chamber
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of Commerce supplied cars for a whole year. A man from
the Junior Chamber of Commerce would come to the
institution in the morning and take a few of our people
into Moncton to work; and another man would round
them up at night and take them back to Dorchester. This
kind of situation is very useful. Some of the people in the
institutions do not believe this before they see it, but some
people in the community are interested. We hear a lot of
criticism from people who say, “Don’t release them,” but
there are people who do things to help others. Usually
they are not too vocal about it; they prefer to do things
rather than talk about it.

Senator Prowse: People are shy rather than reluctant.

Senator Quart: But if they attended some of these service
club meetings it would give them a friendly feeling and
they would see how stupid some of these clubs are for

fining the men for not calling each other by their first
names! I do not know, it is just an idea.

May I ask to delete the word “stupid” with regard to
service clubs? I am all for them. I spoke too quickly. I
think they are wonderful. The camaraderie and informal-
ity of these clubs would help them to adjust to society
again.

Senator Hastings: May I express our thanks to Mr. Ther-
rien for a very informative afternoon?

I move we now adjourn.

The Chairman: The committee stands adjourned until
tomorrow, March 7, at 2 o’clock.

The committee adjourned.
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APPENDIX “A”

Statement for Senate Committee on
Legal and Constitutional Affairs

March 6, 1973

Legal Provisions for the "Conditional' Release
of "Offenders"

In accordance with Mr. Jubinville's memorandum
of February 27th to Mr. Cuthbertson the following matters
are dealt with in this statement.

1% Bail - Pre-trial, Awaiting Appeal

When a person is accused of committing an offence
he may be compelled to appear in court either by summons,
police process or warrant of arrest. The peace officer may
also arrest without warrant a person whom he has reasonable

and probable grounds to believe has committed an indictable
offence.

When the accused is required to appear in court
by means of a summons, he is not taken into custody and remains
free until the completion of his trial. A person who is
arrested and detained before his trial has the right to
pre-trial release in certain circumstances. The onus of
showing that an accused person should continue in custody
until completion of his trial is on the prosecutor. The
justice or judge may order the detention of the accused on
two grounds only. These are as follows:

(a) on the primary ground that his detention is
necessary to ensure his attendance in court
in order to be dealt with according to law;
and

(b) on the secondary ground that his detention
is necessary in the public interest or for
the protection or safety of the gublic, having
regard to all the circumstances including any
substantial likelihood that the accused will,
if he is released from custody, commit a
criminal offence involving serious harm or an
interferénce with the administration of justice.
The secondary ground applies only after it
has been determined that his detention is not
justified on the primary ground.

258744
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If the prosecutor does not show cause why the
detention of the accused in custody is justified or why
conditions and sureties should be given in addition to a
recognizance, the justice must release the accused on his
simple undertaking to appear for his trial unless it is an
offence of murder or punishable by death.

Attached is Appendix "A", a more detailed
explanation in relation to pre-trial release and detention
of accused persons.

2. Remand

To remand an accused means to order some type of
temporary postponement of the proceedings against him. For
example, on his first appearance an accused may be remanded
to a particular date to plead to the offence, he may be
remanded to another date to fix a date for his trial and then
remanded again to the date fixed for his trial. He may be
remanded in or out of custody depending upon whether or not
in the pre-trial release procedure described above he has
been permitted to be at large. In the case of a remand for
a mental examination he is always remanded in custody and
for a period not exceeding thirty days, or sixty days if
there is supporting evidence from a doctor. This can occur
either at the preliminary inquiry, on the trial of either an
indictable offence or a summary conviction offence, or on
an appeal.

(a) Section of Statute Involved

Sections 465, 471, 608.2, 738(5),(6), 457.1,
457.3 of the Criminal Code.

(b) Deciding Authority
The deciding authority is the judge or justice
having jurisdiction over the case at the time
of the remand.

(c) Degree of Discretion

In the case of remands other than for a mental
examination there is a wide degree of discretion
except that generally speaking a remand may not
be for more than eight days unless the accused

1s not in custody and he and the prosecutor
consent to the proposed adjournment. In the case
of a remand for a mental examination there must
be supporting evidence of at least one duly
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(d)

3.

qualified medical practitioner unless there
are special circumstances.

Conditions of the Release

These are determined in the case of remands
prior to and during trial by the release
procedure already outlined. In the case of
remands for mental examination the person is
not released.

Suspended Sentence

The court may suspend the passing of sentence for

a specified period of time during which the person convicted

is free subject to an Order of Probation. If, during that
period of time, he commits an offence or breaches the Order

of Probation, in addition to any punishment that may be imposed
for that act, he may also be required to appear before the
court again to be sentenced for the original offence.

(a)

(b)

(<)

(d)

25874—-4"

Section of Statute Involved

Section 663(1)(a), section 664(4) Criminal
Code.

Deciding Authority

The deciding authority is the court having
jurisdiction in the particular case.

Degree of Discretion

Section 663 requires the court to have '"regard
to the age and character of the accused, the
nature of the offence and the circumstances
surrounding its commission".

Conditions of Release

Section 663(2) sets out the conditions of
release in a Probation Order and is as follows:

"(2) The following conditions shall be
deemed to be prescribed in a probation order,
namely, that the accused shall keep the peace
and be of good behaviour and shall appear
before the court when required to do so by the
court, and, in addition, the court may prescribe
as conditions in a probation order that the
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accused shall do any one or more of the
following things specified in the order,
namely,

(a) report to and be under the super-
vision of a probation officer or other
person designated by the court;

(b) provide for the support of his spouse
or any other dependants who he is liable
to support;

(c) abstain from the consumption of alcohol
either absolutely or on such terms as the
court may specify;

(d) abstain from owning,possessing or
carrying a weapon;

(e) make restitution or reparation to any
person aggrieved or injured by the commission
of the offence for the actual loss or damage
sustained by that person as a result thereof;

(f) remain within the jurisdiction of the
court and notify the court or the probation
officer or other person designated under
paragraph (a) of any change in his address or
his employment or occupation;

(g) make reasonable efforts to find and
maintain suitable employment; and

(h) comply with such other reasonable
conditions as the court considers desirable
for securing the good conduct of the accused
and for preventing a repetition by him of the
same offence or the commission of other
offences".

4. Probation

(a) Ordinary - the statement concerning probation
on suspended sentence applies in this case.

) (b) Following imprisonment. Section 663(1)(b)
provides that in addition to fining the accused or sentencing
him to imprisonment, whether in default of payment of the
fine or otherwise, for a term not exceeding two years, the
court may direct that the accused comply with the conditions
prescribed in the Probation Order. As in the case of breach
of Probation Order on a suspended sentence such breach
amounts to an offence under section 666 of the Criminal Code.
However where the Probation Order follows upon a sentence of
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imprisonment and the accused is convicted of an offence
including an offence under section 666 he may also be
required to appear before the court which may alter the
conditions of the Probation Order or extend its operation
for a period not exceeding one year.

S& W 0. Absolute and Conditional Discharge

Absolute and conditional discharge may be applied
to accused persons other than corporations and only for
offences other than those for which a minimum punishment
is prescribed by law, punishable by imprisonment for 14
years, or for life, or by death. If the accused is discharged
absolutely it means he is free to go without any conditions
attached to his release. If he is given a conditional
discharge he is placed under a Probation Order. In neither
case is he convicted of tke offence. Should he breach the
Probation Order this amounts to an offence in itself, and
he may also have his conditional discharge revoked and be
convicted of and sentenced for the offence with which he
was originally charged. Generally speaking the consequences
of breach of a Probation Order in the case of a conditional
discharge are the same as those in the case of any other
breach of Probation Order.

(a) Section of Statute Involved

Section 662 and 662.1 Criminal Code.

(b) Deciding Authority

The court having jurisdiction in the case.

(c) Degree of Discretion

The court may order an absolute or conditional
discharge where the accused pleads guilty or
has been found guilty "if it considers it to be
in the best interests of the accused and not
contrary to the public interest".

(d) Conditions of Release

There are no conditions attached to an absolute
discharge. In the case of a conditional discharge
the conditions are those specified in the Order

of Probation and thke breach of that order has

the usual consequences.
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y i Fines (In Default of Payment - Imprisonment)

Particular statutes may provide for imprisonment
in default of payment of fine. 1In addition there is a general
provision in the Criminal Code that where a fine is imposed
and no provision is made for imprisonment in default that
the court may order in default of payment that the defendant
be imprisoned for a period of not more than six months. The
court may also direct that the fine be paid forthwith or
within such time and on such terms and conditions as the
court may fix. The court may not direct that the fine be
paid forthwith unless it is satisfied that the convicted
person has sufficient means to enable him to pay the fine at
once, upon being asked whether he desires time to make
payment the convicted person does not request such time, or
for any other special reasons the court deems it expedient
that no time be allowed. The minimum time to be allowed is
14 days. If the time allowed expires and payment has not
been made the court may issue a warrant for the committal
of the accused unless the person has appeared and applied for
an extension of time. Where there has been part payment of
the fine the term of imprisonment is reduced proportionately.

(a) Section of Statute Involved

Section 722, section 646, section 650
Criminal Code.

(b) Deciding Authority
The court imposing the sentence has the
authority.

(c) Degree of Discretion

The discretion has been described above and
is found in section 722(4) and section 646(5)
of the Criminal Code.

(d) Conditions of Release

Tbere are no conditions other than that the
fine be paid forthwith or within such time
as is allowed.

8. Intermittent Sentences

Where the court imposes a sentence of 90 days or
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